
 
 

 

 
 

AGENDAS & STAFF REPORTS ONLINE: https://rossvalleyfire.org/about/board/board-meetings 
Email: mgonzalez@rossvalleyfire.org  

 
ROSS VALLEY FIRE DEPARTMENT  

BOARD OF DIRECTORS AGENDA 
Wednesday, April 13, 2022 

This meeting will be held via teleconference only in order to reduce the risk of spreading 
COVID-19 and pursuant to Governor Newsom's Executive Orders N-25-20 and N-29-20.  

How to View or Listen to the Meeting: The Department will not offer a physical location from which 
members of the public may observe the meeting and offer public comment. Please view the meeting, 

which will be available at 
https://us06web.zoom.us/j/87099798156 

Or Telephone: +1 669 900 6833 | Webinar ID: 870 9979 8156 
For callers *9 to raise your hand *6 to mute/unmute  

6:30 pm RVFD Board Meeting 
 
Zoom Disclaimer: Zoom regularly provides updates to their software, as do internet browsers such as 
Chrome.  For proper remote viewing of Ross Valley Fire Department's Board meetings, we recommend 
you upgrade to the latest version of the software that you are using. 
 
 
1.  Call to order – 6:30 pm.  
 
2.  Announce action in closed session, if any.   
 

3. Open time for public expression. The public is welcome to address the Board at this time on 
matters, not on the agenda. However, please be advised that pursuant to Government Code 
Section 54954.2, the Board is not permitted to take action on any matter not on the agenda unless 
it determines that an emergency exists or that the need to take action arose following the posting 
of the agenda. 

 
4. Board requests for future agenda items, questions, and comments to staff, staff miscellaneous 

items. 
 
5. Chief Report – Verbal update by Chief Weber 
 
6. Consent Agenda:  Items on the consent agenda may be removed and discussed separately. 

Discussion may take place at the end of the agenda. Otherwise, all items may be approved with 
one action. 

 
a) Acknowledge check register issued during February 

 
Item 6a – Check Register  
 
 

https://rossvalleyfire.org/about/board/board-meetings
mailto:mgonzalez@rossvalleyfire.org
https://us06web.zoom.us/j/87099798156
https://rossvalleyfire.org/attachments/article/50460/Item%206a%20-%20Check%20Report_March%202022.pdf
https://rossvalleyfire.org/attachments/article/50460/Item%206a%20-%20Check%20Report_March%202022.pdf


 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 

b) Receive call report and out of jurisdiction report for January 
 
Item 6b – Call & Out of Jurisdiction Reports  
 

c) Receive current budget report 
 
Item 6c – Budget Report 
 

d) Approve Minutes of the March 9, 2022, Board meeting 
 
Item 6d – Minutes March 9, 2022 
 

e) Approve Resolution 22-08 Allowing Virtual RVFD Board Meetings in Compliance with 
AB 361 
 

Item 6e – Staff Report for Resolution 22-08  
Item 6e – Resolution 22-08 Attachment #1 
 

 
7. Receive Presentation on Fuel Projects and Defensible Space Program – Chief Weber & 

Defensible Space Lead Kathleen Cutter 
 

Item 7 – Staff Report for Fuel Projects and Defensible Space Program   
 

 
  8. Review RFP for a Study to Develop Policy Options for the Board surrounding Future 

Leadership/Governance, and Authorize the Fire Chief to Release the RFP and Provide 
Responses to the Board – Chief Weber 

 
Item 8 – Staff Report for RFP   
Item 8 – Attachment #1  

           Item 8 – Attachment #2  
           Item 8 – Attachment #3 
           Item 8 – Attachment #4   
 

9. Discuss and Provide Direction to Staff related to transitioning from only teleconference meetings 
– Chief Weber 

  
Item 9 – Staff Report for Teleconferencing Meetings 

 
 
 
 

https://rossvalleyfire.org/attachments/article/50460/Item%206b%20-%20Call%20and%20Out%20of%20Jurisdiction%20Report.pdf
https://rossvalleyfire.org/attachments/article/50460/Item%206b%20-%20Call%20and%20Out%20of%20Jurisdiction%20Report.pdf
https://rossvalleyfire.org/attachments/article/50460/Item%206c%20-%20Budget%20Report_March%202022.pdf
https://rossvalleyfire.org/attachments/article/50460/Item%206c%20-%20Budget%20Report_March%202022.pdf
https://rossvalleyfire.org/attachments/article/50460/Item%206d%20-%20RVFD%20Board%20Meeting%20Minutes%20030922.pdf
https://rossvalleyfire.org/attachments/article/50460/Item%206d%20-%20RVFD%20Board%20Meeting%20Minutes%20030922.pdf
https://rossvalleyfire.org/attachments/article/50460/Item%206e%20-%20Staff%20Report%20Teleconferenced%20Meetings.pdf
https://rossvalleyfire.org/attachments/article/50460/Item%206e%20-%20Staff%20Report%20Teleconferenced%20Meetings.pdf
https://rossvalleyfire.org/attachments/article/50460/Itme%206e%20-%20Resolution%2022-08%20Teleconferenced%20Meetings.pdf
https://rossvalleyfire.org/attachments/article/50460/Itme%206e%20-%20Resolution%2022-08%20Teleconferenced%20Meetings.pdf
https://rossvalleyfire.org/attachments/article/50460/Item%207%20-%20Staff%20Report%20Defensible%20Space%20Program%20Update.pdf
https://rossvalleyfire.org/attachments/article/50460/Item%208%20-%20Staff%20Report%20%20for%20RVFD%20Governance%20and%20Leadership%20(amended).pdf
https://rossvalleyfire.org/attachments/article/50460/Item%208%20-%20Staff%20Report%20%20for%20RVFD%20Governance%20and%20Leadership%20(amended).pdf
https://rossvalleyfire.org/attachments/article/50460/Item%208%20-%20Attachement%201.pdf
https://rossvalleyfire.org/attachments/article/50460/Item%208%20-%20Attachement%201.pdf
https://rossvalleyfire.org/attachments/article/50460/Item%208%20-%20Attachment%202.pdf
https://rossvalleyfire.org/attachments/article/50460/Item%208%20-%20Attachment%203.pdf
https://rossvalleyfire.org/attachments/article/50460/RVFD%20Governance%20Leadership%20RFP0%2004.13.22.pdf
https://rossvalleyfire.org/attachments/article/50460/Item%209%20-%20Staff%20Report%20%20for%20Continuance%20of%20Teleconferenced%20Meetings.pdf
https://rossvalleyfire.org/attachments/article/50460/Item%209%20-%20Staff%20Report%20%20for%20Continuance%20of%20Teleconferenced%20Meetings.pdf


 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
10. Announce adjournment to Closed Session:  

Convene in Closed Session 
 Conference with labor negotiators (Cal. Gov. Code §54957.6.)  Agency designated 

representatives:  Chief Weber, Deputy Director Yeager, Executive Officer Dave Donery: 
Employee Organizations: International Association of Firefighters Local 1775 and Ross Valley 
Fire Chief Officers Association. 

 
 Announcement of Closed Session Action 
 Reporting on any action taken at this meeting will be done in open session at the beginning of 

the next RVFD Board of Directors' regular meeting. 
 
 
 
 11.  Adjourn 

 
The next meeting is scheduled for Wednesday, May 11, 2022, Location TBD.  
 
 
 
_______________________________ 
s/Mariana Gonzalez, Administrative Assistant 
 
This agenda was posted in accordance with #54954.2 and #54954.3 of the Government Code. Any writings or documents provided to a majority of the Board regarding any item 
on this agenda after the distribution of the original packet will be made available for public inspection at the public counter at the Fire Station located at 777 San Anselmo Ave., 
San Anselmo. AMERICAN SIGN LANGUAGE INTERPRETERS AND ASSISTIVE LISTENING DEVICES MAY BE REQUESTED BY CALLING (415) 258-4686 AT LEAST 72 HOURS IN ADVANCE. 
COPIES OF DOCUMENTS ARE AVAIBLE IN ACCESSIBLE FORMATS UPON REQUEST. 



4/7/2022 12:33:51 PM Page 1 of 9

Check Report
Ross Valley Fire, CA By Check Number

Date Range: 03/01/2022 - 03/31/2022

Vendor Number Vendor Name Payment Amount NumberPayment TypePayment Date Discount Amount

Bank Code: AP-Accounts Payable

01000 American Messaging 03/03/2022 2231075.78Regular 0.00

Account Number Account Name Item Description Distribution Amount

Payable # Post Date Payable Description Payable AmountPayable Type Discount Amount

W4106073WC Invoice 03/03/2022 03.01.2022 - MESSAGING SERVICE - MARCH 75.780.00

COMMUNICATIONS EQUI… 75.7803.01.2022 - MESSAGING SERVICE…01.10.63150.00

01059 AT&T Mobility 03/03/2022 2231117.90Regular 0.00

Account Number Account Name Item Description Distribution Amount

Payable # Post Date Payable Description Payable AmountPayable Type Discount Amount

287016675128X0… Invoice 03/03/2022 02.15.2022 - WIRELESS SRVC - 01.16.22 - 02.… 17.900.00

TELEPHONE 17.9002.15.2022 - WIRELESS SRVC - 01.…01.14.61705.00

01272 Diesel Direct West Inc 03/03/2022 223122,709.27Regular 0.00

Account Number Account Name Item Description Distribution Amount

Payable # Post Date Payable Description Payable AmountPayable Type Discount Amount

84428016 Invoice 03/03/2022 02.18.2022 - GASOLINE UNL - 68.5 GALLONS 367.110.00

FUEL 367.1102.18.2022 - GASOLINE UNL - 68.5…01.25.62988.00

84428017 Invoice 03/03/2022 02.18.2022 - ULSD CLEAR - 425.6 GALLONS 2,342.160.00

FUEL 2,342.1602.18.2022 - ULSD CLEAR - 425.6 …01.25.62988.00

01002 FAIRA 03/03/2022 22313182.00Regular 0.00

Account Number Account Name Item Description Distribution Amount

Payable # Post Date Payable Description Payable AmountPayable Type Discount Amount

2021-16D Invoice 03/03/2022 02.22.2022 - BA-COLL IV - HIT POWERPOLE 182.000.00

LIABILITY INSURANCE 182.0002.22.2022 - BA-COLL IV - HIT PO…01.00.61115.00

01262 MacLeod Watts Inc 03/03/2022 223147,600.00Regular 0.00

Account Number Account Name Item Description Distribution Amount

Payable # Post Date Payable Description Payable AmountPayable Type Discount Amount

022822RVFD Invoice 03/03/2022 02.28.2022 - POST EMPLOYMENT BENEFIT P… 7,600.000.00

AUDIT & BOOKEEPING SER… 7,600.0002.28.2022 - POST EMPLOYMENT …01.05.61103.00

01413 Mariana Gonzalez 03/03/2022 2231599.00Regular 0.00

Account Number Account Name Item Description Distribution Amount

Payable # Post Date Payable Description Payable AmountPayable Type Discount Amount

OXW597290D822… Invoice 03/03/2022 02.04.2022 - REIMBURSEMENT - SOCIAL ME… 99.000.00

TRAINING AND EDUCATION 99.0002.04.2022 - REIMBURSEMENT - …01.10.61000.00

01097 MidAmerica 03/03/2022 22316630.00Regular 0.00

Account Number Account Name Item Description Distribution Amount

Payable # Post Date Payable Description Payable AmountPayable Type Discount Amount

MAR0000018930 Invoice 03/03/2022 02.03.2022 - ADMIN FEE - ER - 4Q21 630.000.00

RETIREES' HEALTH INSURA… 630.0002.03.2022 - ADMIN FEE - ER - 4Q…01.00.60231.00

01415 Miranda Miller 03/03/2022 2231738.49Regular 0.00

Account Number Account Name Item Description Distribution Amount

Payable # Post Date Payable Description Payable AmountPayable Type Discount Amount

INV0004224 Invoice 03/03/2022 03.02.2022 - MILEAGE REIMBURSEMENT - T… 38.490.00

COMMUNITY EDUCATION … 38.4903.02.2022 - MILEAGE REIMBURS…01.15.62220.00

01181 Royce Wintermute 03/03/2022 22318250.00Regular 0.00

Item 6a 
Page 1 of 9

1



Check Report Date Range: 03/01/2022 - 03/31/2022

4/7/2022 12:33:51 PM Page 2 of 9

Vendor Number Vendor Name Payment Amount NumberPayment TypePayment Date Discount Amount

Account Number Account Name Item Description Distribution Amount

Payable # Post Date Payable Description Payable AmountPayable Type Discount Amount

INV0004219 Invoice 03/03/2022 02.24.2022 - REIMBURSEMENT FOR EMSA C… 250.000.00

TRAINING AND EDUCATION 250.0002.24.2022 - REIMBURSEMENT F…01.10.61000.00

01188 Staples Credit Plan 03/03/2022 2231951.65Regular 0.00

Account Number Account Name Item Description Distribution Amount

Payable # Post Date Payable Description Payable AmountPayable Type Discount Amount

3012244681 Invoice 03/03/2022 02.21.2022 - NOTEBOOKS - OFFICE SUPPLIES … 51.650.00

OFFICE SUPPLIES 51.6502.21.2022 - NOTEBOOKS - OFFICE…01.05.62000.00

01073 U.S. Bank (CalCARD) 03/08/2022 223209,709.63Regular 0.00

Account Number Account Name Item Description Distribution Amount

Payable # Post Date Payable Description Payable AmountPayable Type Discount Amount

INV0004252 Invoice 02/22/2022 01.27.2022 - GRASSER - STRATUS INFORMAT… 910.000.00

COMPUTER SOFTWARE/SU… 910.0001.27.2022 - GRASSER - STRATUS …01.05.61121.00

INV0004253 Invoice 02/22/2022 02.10.2022 - ILLINGWORTH - HARBOR FREIG… 2,411.130.00

TRAINING AND EDUCATION 2,411.1302.10.2022 - ILLINGWORTH - HAR…01.10.61000.00

INV0004254 Invoice 02/22/2022 01.24.2022 - GONZALEZ - STAMPS.COM - PO… 17.990.00

MWPA DEFENDSIBLE SPACE 17.9901.24.2022 - GONZALEZ - STAMPS…01.10.61902.00

INV0004255 Invoice 02/22/2022 01.31.2022 - GONZALEZ - ADOBE INC - ACRO… 179.880.00

TECHNOLOGY PURCHASES 179.8801.31.2022 - GONZALEZ - ADOBE …01.14.63044.00

INV0004256 Invoice 02/22/2022 02.03.2022 - GONZALEZ - ADOBE - ACROBAT… 179.880.00

TECHNOLOGY PURCHASES 179.8802.03.2022 - GONZALEZ - ADOBE -…01.14.63044.00

INV0004257 Invoice 02/22/2022 02.02.2022 - GONZALEZ - DAILY DISPATCH - … 280.000.00

HIRING EXPENSES 280.0002.02.2022 - GONZALEZ - DAILY DI…01.05.61129.00

INV0004258 Invoice 02/22/2022 02.08.2022 - GONZALEZ - MARIN COUNTY - … 50.000.00

TRAINING AND EDUCATION 50.0002.08.2022 - GONZALEZ - MARIN …01.10.61000.00

INV0004259 Invoice 02/22/2022 02.09.2022 - GONZALEZ - THE COPY SHOP - … 103.790.00

GENERAL DEPARTMENT S… 103.7902.09.2022 - GONZALEZ - THE CO…01.05.62200.00

INV0004260 Invoice 02/22/2022 02.09.2022 - GONZALEZ - THE COPY SHOP - … 311.370.00

GENERAL DEPARTMENT S… 311.3702.09.2022 - GONZALEZ - THE CO…01.05.62200.00

INV0004261 Invoice 02/22/2022 01.31.2022 - GALLI - BAY AREA QUALITY MA… 155.000.00

TRAINING AND EDUCATION 155.0001.31.2022 - GALLI - BAY AREA Q…01.10.61000.00

INV0004262 Invoice 02/22/2022 02.09.2022 - GALLI - AMAZON - KEY SAFE 31.550.00

PARAMEDIC RESPONSE SU… 31.5502.09.2022 - GALLI - AMAZON - K…01.10.62204.00

INV0004263 Invoice 02/22/2022 02.09.2022 - GALLI - GOLDENSTATE LUMBER … 3,098.880.00

TRAINING AND EDUCATION 3,098.8802.09.2022 - GALLI - GOLDENSTAT…01.10.61000.00

INV0004264 Invoice 02/22/2022 02.17.2022 - POPPE - COSTCO - SUPPLIES 113.060.00

JANITORIAL MAINTENANCE… 113.0602.17.2022 - POPPE - COSTCO - S…01.14.62206.00

INV0004265 Invoice 02/22/2022 02.17.2022 - POPPE - COSTCO - SUPPLIES 234.840.00

JANITORIAL MAINTENANCE… 234.8402.17.2022 - POPPE - COSTCO - S…01.14.62206.00

INV0004266 Invoice 02/22/2022 02.18.2022 - POPPE - COSTCO -SUPPLIES 97.680.00

JANITORIAL MAINTENANCE… 97.6802.18.2022 - POPPE - COSTCO -SU…01.14.62206.00

INV0004267 Invoice 02/22/2022 02.18.20222 - POPPE - COSTCO -SUPPLIES 442.500.00

JANITORIAL MAINTENANCE… 442.5002.18.20222 - POPPE - COSTCO -S…01.14.62206.00

INV0004268 Invoice 02/22/2022 02.18.2022 - POPPE - COSTCO - SUPPLIES 105.630.00

JANITORIAL MAINTENANCE… 105.6302.18.2022 - POPPE - COSTCO - S…01.14.62206.00

INV0004269 Invoice 02/22/2022 02.18.2022 - POPPE - COSTCO - SUPPLIES 102.220.00

JANITORIAL MAINTENANCE… 102.2202.18.2022 - POPPE - COSTCO - S…01.14.62206.00

INV0004270 Invoice 02/22/2022 02.17.2022 - CUTTER - GLOBAL INDUSTRIAL -… 735.710.00

MWPA DEFENDSIBLE SPACE 735.7102.17.2022 - CUTTER - GLOBAL IN…01.10.61902.00

INV0004271 Invoice 02/22/2022 01.272022 - GUTIERREZ - ARCO - FUEL 100.000.00

FUEL 100.0001.272022 - GUTIERREZ - ARCO - …01.25.62988.00

Item 6a 
Page 2 of 9

2



Check Report Date Range: 03/01/2022 - 03/31/2022

4/7/2022 12:33:51 PM Page 3 of 9

Vendor Number Vendor Name Payment Amount NumberPayment TypePayment Date Discount Amount

INV0004272 Invoice 02/22/2022 02.14.2022 - GUTIERREZ - PACK, SHIP & MO… 48.520.00

POSTAGE 48.5202.14.2022 - GUTIERREZ - PACK, S…01.05.62003.00

**Void** 03/08/2022 223210.00Regular 0.00

01326 AMAZON.COM SERVICES LLC 03/10/2022 22322314.80Regular 0.00

Account Number Account Name Item Description Distribution Amount

Payable # Post Date Payable Description Payable AmountPayable Type Discount Amount

1F1W-K1JH-YJDH Invoice 03/10/2022 03.09.2022 - REMOVEABLE TOILET SEAT 120.660.00

BUILDING MAINTENANCE … 120.6603.09.2022 - REMOVEABLE TOILET…01.14.61500.19

1GWQ-P1VL-VLNY Invoice 03/10/2022 03.03.2022 - FRAMELESS SHOWER DOOR H… 76.060.00

BUILDING MAINTENANCE … 76.0603.03.2022 - FRAMELESS SHOWER…01.14.61500.18

1M3X-FD99-MDRT Invoice 03/10/2022 03.03.2022 - PLYMOUTH KEYPAD 118.080.00

BUILDING MAINTENANCE … 118.0803.03.2022 - PLYMOUTH KEYPAD01.14.61500.21

01054 BoundTree Medical 03/10/2022 22323210.98Regular 0.00

Account Number Account Name Item Description Distribution Amount

Payable # Post Date Payable Description Payable AmountPayable Type Discount Amount

84418719 Invoice 03/10/2022 02.24.2022 - MIDAZOLAM 5MG VIALS - MED… 129.750.00

PARAMEDIC RESPONSE SU… 129.7502.24.2022 - MIDAZOLAM 5MG V…01.10.62204.00

84422998 Invoice 03/10/2022 02.28.2022 - IV SOLUTION 100ML - MEDICAL… 81.230.00

PARAMEDIC RESPONSE SU… 81.2302.28.2022 - IV SOLUTION 100ML -…01.10.62204.00

01313 Comcast 03/10/2022 22324833.78Regular 0.00

Account Number Account Name Item Description Distribution Amount

Payable # Post Date Payable Description Payable AmountPayable Type Discount Amount

632-02232022 Invoice 03/10/2022 632 - CABLE SRVC - 02.28.2022 - 03.27.2022 833.780.00

TELEPHONE 833.78632 - CABLE SRVC - 02.28.2022 - 0…01.14.61705.00

01125 Daniel J. Mahoney 03/10/2022 2232599.00Regular 0.00

Account Number Account Name Item Description Distribution Amount

Payable # Post Date Payable Description Payable AmountPayable Type Discount Amount

1BX16326007707… Invoice 03/10/2022 02.03.2022 - SOCIAL MEDIA  COURSE - REIM… 99.000.00

TRAINING AND EDUCATION 99.0002.03.2022 - SOCIAL MEDIA  COU…01.10.61000.00

01167 DCS Testing & Equipment Inc 03/10/2022 223263,964.72Regular 0.00

Account Number Account Name Item Description Distribution Amount

Payable # Post Date Payable Description Payable AmountPayable Type Discount Amount

19220 Invoice 03/10/2022 03.08.2022 - FIRE HOSE TESTING - EQUIPME… 3,964.720.00

EQUIPMENT MAINTENANCE 3,964.7203.08.2022 - FIRE HOSE TESTING -…01.10.61410.00

01017 Fairfax Lumber 03/10/2022 2232743.59Regular 0.00

Account Number Account Name Item Description Distribution Amount

Payable # Post Date Payable Description Payable AmountPayable Type Discount Amount

242808 Invoice 03/10/2022 03.08.2022 - TOILET SEAT - BUILDING MAIN… 43.590.00

BUILDING MAINTENANCE … 43.5903.08.2022 - TOILET SEAT - BUILD…01.14.61500.19

01150 Fire Safety Supply Inc 03/10/2022 22328495.00Regular 0.00

Account Number Account Name Item Description Distribution Amount

Payable # Post Date Payable Description Payable AmountPayable Type Discount Amount

117056 Invoice 03/10/2022 03.03.2022 - DRY CHEMICAL FIRE EXTINGUI… 495.000.00

EQUIPMENT MAINTENANCE 495.0003.03.2022 - DRY CHEMICAL FIRE …01.10.61410.00

01371 Forest Investments Group, Inc 03/10/2022 22329641.19Regular 0.00

Account Number Account Name Item Description Distribution Amount

Payable # Post Date Payable Description Payable AmountPayable Type Discount Amount

39507 Invoice 03/10/2022 03.07.2022 - LETTERHEAD, ENVELOPES - PRI… 641.190.00

OTHER CONTRACT SERVICES 641.1903.07.2022 - LETTERHEAD, ENVEL…01.05.61105.00

01179 Postal Services Plus 03/10/2022 2233072.58Regular 0.00

Item 6a 
Page 3 of 9

3



Check Report Date Range: 03/01/2022 - 03/31/2022

4/7/2022 12:33:51 PM Page 4 of 9

Vendor Number Vendor Name Payment Amount NumberPayment TypePayment Date Discount Amount

Account Number Account Name Item Description Distribution Amount

Payable # Post Date Payable Description Payable AmountPayable Type Discount Amount

22010 Invoice 03/10/2022 01.07.2022 - DHL,FEDEX,UPS -SHIPPING FEES 28.890.00

POSTAGE 28.8901.07.2022 -01.05.62003.00

22117 Invoice 03/10/2022 02.25.2022 - DHL, FEDEX, UPS - SHIPPING FE… 43.690.00

PARAMEDIC RESPONSE SU… 43.6902.25.2022 - DHL, FEDEX, UPS - SH…01.10.62204.00

01095 Richards Watson Gershon 03/10/2022 22331135.53Regular 0.00

Account Number Account Name Item Description Distribution Amount

Payable # Post Date Payable Description Payable AmountPayable Type Discount Amount

235861 Invoice 03/10/2022 02.28.2022 - LEGAL FEES - CASE # 12609-0001 135.530.00

ATTORNEY/LEGAL FEES 135.5302.28.2022 - LEGAL FEES - CASE # …01.05.61107.00

01098 Verizon Wireless 03/10/2022 22332731.19Regular 0.00

Account Number Account Name Item Description Distribution Amount

Payable # Post Date Payable Description Payable AmountPayable Type Discount Amount

9900305747 Invoice 03/10/2022 02.23.2022 - WIRELESS SRVC - 01.24.22 - 02.… 731.190.00

TELEPHONE 731.1902.23.2022 - WIRELESS SRVC - 01.…01.14.61705.00

01326 AMAZON.COM SERVICES LLC 03/16/2022 22333119.33Regular 0.00

Account Number Account Name Item Description Distribution Amount

Payable # Post Date Payable Description Payable AmountPayable Type Discount Amount

17CF-3JKX-YG6X Invoice 03/16/2022 03.13.2022 - TRAILER HITCH PIN 87.810.00

EQUIPMENT 87.8103.13.2022 - TRAILER HITCH PIN01.10.63131.00

1NRN-XQ9P-TYT4T Invoice 03/16/2022 03.11.2022 - DATE STAMP - SELF INKING 31.520.00

FIRE PREVENTION 31.5203.11.2022 - DATE STAMP - SELF I…01.15.61131.00

01026 AT&T Calnet 03/16/2022 22334775.19Regular 0.00

Account Number Account Name Item Description Distribution Amount

Payable # Post Date Payable Description Payable AmountPayable Type Discount Amount

000017872780 Invoice 03/16/2022 03.10.2022 - WIRELESS SRVC - 02.10.22 - 03.… 775.190.00

TELEPHONE 775.1903.10.2022 - WIRELESS SRVC - 02.…01.14.61705.00

01059 AT&T Mobility 03/16/2022 223351,034.01Regular 0.00

Account Number Account Name Item Description Distribution Amount

Payable # Post Date Payable Description Payable AmountPayable Type Discount Amount

287301083016X0… Invoice 03/16/2022 03.02.2022 - WIRELESS SRVC - 02.03.22 - 03.… 1,034.010.00

TELEPHONE 1,034.0103.02.2022 - WIRELESS SRVC - 02.…01.14.61705.00

01304 B.W.S. DISTRIBUTORS, Inc. 03/16/2022 2233615.70Regular 0.00

Account Number Account Name Item Description Distribution Amount

Payable # Post Date Payable Description Payable AmountPayable Type Discount Amount

273778 Invoice 03/16/2022 02.17.2022 - MEDICAL SUPPLIES 15.700.00

EQUIPMENT 15.7002.17.2022 - MEDICAL SUPPLIES01.10.63131.00

01054 BoundTree Medical 03/16/2022 223371,650.40Regular 0.00

Account Number Account Name Item Description Distribution Amount

Payable # Post Date Payable Description Payable AmountPayable Type Discount Amount

84430942 Invoice 03/16/2022 03.04.2022 - EMERGENCY SUPPLIES - ELECT… 115.790.00

PARAMEDIC RESPONSE SU… 115.7903.04.2022 - EMERGENCY SUPPLI…01.10.62204.00

84430943 Invoice 03/16/2022 03.04.2022 - EMERGENCY SUPPLIES - GLUC… 1,482.410.00

PARAMEDIC RESPONSE SU… 1,482.4103.04.2022 - EMERGENCY SUPPLI…01.10.62204.00

84433139 Invoice 03/16/2022 03.07.2022 - EMERGENCY SUPPLIES - IV FLU… 52.200.00

PARAMEDIC RESPONSE SU… 52.2003.07.2022 - EMERGENCY SUPPLI…01.10.62204.00

01148 Brian Costello 03/16/2022 22338315.00Regular 0.00

Item 6a 
Page 4 of 9

4



Check Report Date Range: 03/01/2022 - 03/31/2022

4/7/2022 12:33:51 PM Page 5 of 9

Vendor Number Vendor Name Payment Amount NumberPayment TypePayment Date Discount Amount

Account Number Account Name Item Description Distribution Amount

Payable # Post Date Payable Description Payable AmountPayable Type Discount Amount

2022-1 Invoice 03/16/2022 03.10.2022 - SETUP FOR LAPTOP - MIRANDA… 135.000.00

CONTRACT SERVICES-SAN … 135.0003.10.2022 - SETUP FOR LAPTOP -…01.05.61120.00

2022-2 Invoice 03/16/2022 03.10.2022 - SOFTWARE UPDATES 180.000.00

COMPUTER SOFTWARE/SU… 180.0003.10.2022 - SOFTWARE UPDATES01.05.61121.00

01213 Emergency Equipment Mgmt Inc 03/16/2022 223391,100.90Regular 0.00

Account Number Account Name Item Description Distribution Amount

Payable # Post Date Payable Description Payable AmountPayable Type Discount Amount

64000 Invoice 03/16/2022 10.18.2018 - FIREFIGHTER UNIFORMS 268.990.00

EXPLORER POST 268.9910.18.2018 - FIREFIGHTER UNIFO…01.10.60065.02

65123 Invoice 03/16/2022 03.09.2022 - FIREFIGHTER UNIFORMS 337.920.00

COMMUNITY EDUCATION … 337.9203.09.2022 - FIREFIGHTER UNIFO…01.15.62220.00

65127 Invoice 03/16/2022 03.10.2022 - FIREFIGHTER UNIFORMS 493.990.00

EXPLORER POST 493.9903.10.2022 - FIREFIGHTER UNIFO…01.10.60065.02

01017 Fairfax Lumber 03/16/2022 2234045.73Regular 0.00

Account Number Account Name Item Description Distribution Amount

Payable # Post Date Payable Description Payable AmountPayable Type Discount Amount

243064 Invoice 03/16/2022 03.11.2022 - HARDWARE 7.590.00

GENERAL DEPARTMENT S… 7.5903.11.2022 - HARDWARE01.05.62200.00

243203 Invoice 03/16/2022 03.14.2022 - HOUSE HEATER 38.140.00

GENERAL DEPARTMENT S… 38.1403.14.2022 - HOUSE HEATER01.05.62200.00

01050 Golden State Emergency Veh Svc 03/16/2022 22341125.28Regular 0.00

Account Number Account Name Item Description Distribution Amount

Payable # Post Date Payable Description Payable AmountPayable Type Discount Amount

CI032926 Invoice 03/16/2022 03.11.2022 - TURTLE TILE - BLACK 125.280.00

EQUIPMENT 125.2803.11.2022 - TURTLE TILE - BLACK01.10.63131.00

01332 Jones Garage Door Co. Inc 03/16/2022 22342307.50Regular 0.00

Account Number Account Name Item Description Distribution Amount

Payable # Post Date Payable Description Payable AmountPayable Type Discount Amount

49956 Invoice 03/16/2022 03.10.2022 - GARAGE DOOR REPAIR - STATI… 307.500.00

BUILDING MAINTENANCE … 307.5003.10.2022 - GARAGE DOOR REPA…01.14.61500.19

01392 Kathleen H. Cutter 03/16/2022 2234375.00Regular 0.00

Account Number Account Name Item Description Distribution Amount

Payable # Post Date Payable Description Payable AmountPayable Type Discount Amount

INV0004277 Invoice 03/16/2022 03.15.2022 - REIMBURSEMENT FOR DINS CL… 75.000.00

MWPA DEFENDSIBLE SPACE 75.0003.15.2022 - REIMBURSEMENT F…01.10.61902.00

01082 Leete Generators 03/16/2022 22344537.39Regular 0.00

Account Number Account Name Item Description Distribution Amount

Payable # Post Date Payable Description Payable AmountPayable Type Discount Amount

46847 Invoice 03/16/2022 12.14.2021 - GENERATOR REPAIR - NEW RE… 537.390.00

BURN TRAILER MAINTENA… 537.3912.14.2021 - GENERATOR REPAIR -…01.25.61411.00

01037 Marin Municipal Water District 03/16/2022 22345225.66Regular 0.00

Account Number Account Name Item Description Distribution Amount

Payable # Post Date Payable Description Payable AmountPayable Type Discount Amount

135-03072022 Invoice 03/16/2022 135 - 14-18 PARK RD - 01.05.2022 - 03.02.20… 127.690.00

WATER 127.69135 - 14-18 PARK RD - 01.05.2022 …01.14.61703.00

263-03072022 Invoice 03/16/2022 263 - 14-18 PARK RD - 01.05.2022 - 03.02.20… 97.970.00

WATER 97.97263 - 14-18 PARK RD - 01.05.2022 …01.14.61703.00

01415 Miranda Miller 03/16/2022 223465.45Regular 0.00

Item 6a 
Page 5 of 9

5



Check Report Date Range: 03/01/2022 - 03/31/2022

4/7/2022 12:33:51 PM Page 6 of 9

Vendor Number Vendor Name Payment Amount NumberPayment TypePayment Date Discount Amount

Account Number Account Name Item Description Distribution Amount

Payable # Post Date Payable Description Payable AmountPayable Type Discount Amount

INV0004278 Invoice 03/16/2022 03.14.2022 - REIMBURSEMENT FOR SUPPLIE… 5.450.00

COMMUNITY EDUCATION … 5.4503.14.2022 - REIMBURSEMENT F…01.15.62220.00

01020 PG&E 03/16/2022 223472,484.77Regular 0.00

Account Number Account Name Item Description Distribution Amount

Payable # Post Date Payable Description Payable AmountPayable Type Discount Amount

758-02232022 Invoice 03/16/2022 02.23.2022 - UTILITIES - 01.05.2022 - 02.02.… 2,484.770.00

GAS AND ELECTRIC 2,484.7702.23.2022 - UTILITIES - 01.05.202…01.14.61702.00

01401 Ram Print and Communications, LLC 03/16/2022 22348592.67Regular 0.00

Account Number Account Name Item Description Distribution Amount

Payable # Post Date Payable Description Payable AmountPayable Type Discount Amount

295187 Invoice 03/16/2022 02.23.2022 - FIRE MAPS - PRINTING 592.670.00

EQUIPMENT 592.6702.23.2022 - FIRE MAPS - PRINTI…01.10.63131.00

01255 TIAA Commercial Bank Inc. 03/16/2022 22349463.77Regular 0.00

Account Number Account Name Item Description Distribution Amount

Payable # Post Date Payable Description Payable AmountPayable Type Discount Amount

048-03052022 Invoice 03/16/2022 03.05.2022 - CONTRACT NUMBER 20429048 … 463.770.00

OTHER CONTRACT SERVICES 463.7703.05.2022 -01.05.61105.00

01144 Town of San Anselmo 03/16/2022 2235021,861.75Regular 0.00

Account Number Account Name Item Description Distribution Amount

Payable # Post Date Payable Description Payable AmountPayable Type Discount Amount

2021-22-MISC13 Invoice 03/16/2022 03.11.2022 - FINANCIAL SRVCS - 01.01.22 - 0… 21,861.750.00

CONTRACT SERVICES-SAN … 21,861.7503.11.2022 - FINANCIAL SRVCS - 0…01.05.61120.00

01326 AMAZON.COM SERVICES LLC 03/31/2022 22351100.75Regular 0.00

Account Number Account Name Item Description Distribution Amount

Payable # Post Date Payable Description Payable AmountPayable Type Discount Amount

1RJG-7PWV-3TJL Invoice 03/30/2022 03.21.2022 - DIGITAL BODY WEIGHT BATHR… 86.960.00

EXERCISE EQUIPMENT 86.9603.21.2022 - DIGITAL BODY WEIG…01.14.63042.00

1TH6-4RVQ-K9D4 Invoice 03/30/2022 03.18.2022 - HUSKY TIE DOWNS 13.790.00

EQUIPMENT 13.7903.18.2022 - HUSKY TIE DOWNS01.10.63131.00

01329 Andrew Juric 03/31/2022 22352300.00Regular 0.00

Account Number Account Name Item Description Distribution Amount

Payable # Post Date Payable Description Payable AmountPayable Type Discount Amount

INV0004308 Invoice 03/30/2022 03.21.2022 - REIMBURSEMENT FOR COURSE 300.000.00

TRAINING AND EDUCATION 300.0003.21.2022 - REIMBURSEMENT F…01.10.61000.00

01054 BoundTree Medical 03/31/2022 22353245.19Regular 0.00

Account Number Account Name Item Description Distribution Amount

Payable # Post Date Payable Description Payable AmountPayable Type Discount Amount

84449473 Invoice 03/31/2022 03.17.2022 - EMERGENCY MEDICAL SUPPLIES 11.690.00

PARAMEDIC RESPONSE SU… 11.6903.17.2022 - EMERGENCY MEDIC…01.10.62204.00

84455102 Invoice 03/31/2022 03.22.2022 - EMERGENCY MEDICAL SUPPLIES 233.500.00

PARAMEDIC RESPONSE SU… 233.5003.22.2022 - EMERGENCY MEDIC…01.10.62204.00

01355 BUCKLES BY JIM 03/31/2022 22354550.00Regular 0.00

Account Number Account Name Item Description Distribution Amount

Payable # Post Date Payable Description Payable AmountPayable Type Discount Amount

4635 Invoice 03/31/2022 03.29.2022 - FIRE FIGHTER UIFORMS 550.000.00

HIRING EXPENSES 352.0003.29.2022 - FIRE FIGHTER UIFO…01.05.61129.00

MWPA DEFENDSIBLE SPACE 198.0003.29.2022 - FIRE FIGHTER UIFO…01.10.61902.00

01272 Diesel Direct West Inc 03/31/2022 223552,951.15Regular 0.00

Item 6a 
Page 6 of 9

6



Check Report Date Range: 03/01/2022 - 03/31/2022

4/7/2022 12:33:51 PM Page 7 of 9

Vendor Number Vendor Name Payment Amount NumberPayment TypePayment Date Discount Amount

Account Number Account Name Item Description Distribution Amount

Payable # Post Date Payable Description Payable AmountPayable Type Discount Amount

84462133 Invoice 03/30/2022 03.18.2022 - ULSD CLEAR - 450.3 GALLONS 2,951.150.00

FUEL 2,951.1503.18.2022 - ULSD CLEAR - 450.3 …01.25.62988.00

01213 Emergency Equipment Mgmt Inc 03/31/2022 22356459.77Regular 0.00

Account Number Account Name Item Description Distribution Amount

Payable # Post Date Payable Description Payable AmountPayable Type Discount Amount

65094 Invoice 03/30/2022 02.10.2022 - FIREFIGHTER UNIFORMS - OFF … 459.770.00

EXPLORER POST 459.7702.10.2022 - FIREFIGHTER UNIFO…01.10.60065.02

01006 FASIS 03/31/2022 2235713,432.00Regular 0.00

Account Number Account Name Item Description Distribution Amount

Payable # Post Date Payable Description Payable AmountPayable Type Discount Amount

FASIS-2022-0857 Invoice 03/30/2022 03.17.2022 - PAYROLL AUDIT ADJUSTMENT -… 13,432.000.00

WORKERS' COMPENSATIO… 13,432.0003.17.2022 - PAYROLL AUDIT ADJ…01.00.60215.00

01363 Forster & Kroeger Landscape Maintenance, Inc. 03/31/2022 2235831,800.00Regular 0.00

Account Number Account Name Item Description Distribution Amount

Payable # Post Date Payable Description Payable AmountPayable Type Discount Amount

8126 Invoice 03/31/2022 02.18.2022 - CHIPPER SRVC - FIRE PREVENTI… 11,400.000.00

OTHER CONTRACT SERVICES 11,400.0002.18.2022 - CHIPPER SRVC - FIRE …01.05.61105.00

8127 Invoice 03/31/2022 03.04.2022 - CHIPPER SRVC - FIRE PREVENTI… 14,400.000.00

OTHER CONTRACT SERVICES 14,400.0003.04.2022 - CHIPPER SRVC - FIRE …01.05.61105.00

8128 Invoice 03/31/2022 03.11.2022 - CHIPPER SRVC - FIRE PREVENTI… 6,000.000.00

OTHER CONTRACT SERVICES 6,000.0003.11.2022 - CHIPPER SRVC - FIRE …01.05.61105.00

01050 Golden State Emergency Veh Svc 03/31/2022 2235934,265.37Regular 0.00

Account Number Account Name Item Description Distribution Amount

Payable # Post Date Payable Description Payable AmountPayable Type Discount Amount

WI002477 Invoice 03/31/2022 03.07.2022 - FIRE TRUCK SERVICE - REPAIRS 34,265.370.00

REPAIRS VEHICLE 34,265.3703.07.2022 - FIRE TRUCK SERVICE -…01.25.61600.00

01037 Marin Municipal Water District 03/31/2022 22360669.76Regular 0.00

Account Number Account Name Item Description Distribution Amount

Payable # Post Date Payable Description Payable AmountPayable Type Discount Amount

087-03102022 Invoice 03/30/2022 087 - 777 SAN ANSELMO AVE - UTILITIES 149.890.00

WATER 149.89087 - 777 SAN ANSELMO AVE - UT…01.14.61703.00

256-03112022 Invoice 03/30/2022 256 - 150 BUTTERFIELD RD - UTILITIES 97.970.00

WATER 97.97256 - 150 BUTTERFIELD RD - UTILIT…01.14.61703.00

354-03112022 Invoice 03/30/2022 354 - 150 BUTTERFIELD RD - UTILITIES 231.760.00

WATER 231.76354 - 150 BUTTERFIELD RD - UTILIT…01.14.61703.00

868-03102022 Invoice 03/30/2022 868 - 777 SAN ANSELMO AVE - UTILITIES 97.970.00

WATER 97.97868 - 777 SAN ANSELMO AVE - UT…01.14.61703.00

957-03102022 Invoice 03/30/2022 957 - 800-804 SAN ANSELMO AVE - UTILITIES 92.170.00

WATER 92.17957 - 800-804 SAN ANSELMO AVE …01.14.61703.00

01354 Matrix HG 03/31/2022 223612,175.50Regular 0.00

Account Number Account Name Item Description Distribution Amount

Payable # Post Date Payable Description Payable AmountPayable Type Discount Amount

157132 Invoice 03/31/2022 03.24.2022 - HEATER SERVICE - MARCH 527.500.00

BUILDING MAINTENANCE … 527.5003.24.2022 - HEATER SERVICE - M…01.14.61500.00

157140 Invoice 03/31/2022 03.24.2022 - REPLACE INDOOR BLOWER MO… 1,648.000.00

BUILDING MAINTENANCE … 1,648.0003.24.2022 - REPLACE INDOOR BL…01.14.61500.00

01048 Oscar Arenas 03/31/2022 22362425.00Regular 0.00

Item 6a 
Page 7 of 9

7



Check Report Date Range: 03/01/2022 - 03/31/2022

4/7/2022 12:33:51 PM Page 8 of 9

Vendor Number Vendor Name Payment Amount NumberPayment TypePayment Date Discount Amount

Account Number Account Name Item Description Distribution Amount

Payable # Post Date Payable Description Payable AmountPayable Type Discount Amount

16740 Invoice 03/31/2022 09.16.2021 - REIMBURSEMENT FOR STRIKE … 425.000.00

TRAINING AND EDUCATION 425.0009.16.2021 - REIMBURSEMENT F…01.10.61000.00

01020 PG&E 03/31/2022 22363357.68Regular 0.00

Account Number Account Name Item Description Distribution Amount

Payable # Post Date Payable Description Payable AmountPayable Type Discount Amount

937-03172022 Invoice 03/30/2022 937 - 804 SAN ANSELMO AVE - 02.05.2022 -… 216.600.00

GAS AND ELECTRIC 216.60937 - 804 SAN ANSELMO AVE - 02…01.14.61702.00

937-03182022 Invoice 03/30/2022 937 - 804 SAN ANSELMO AVE - 01.06.2022 -… 141.080.00

GAS AND ELECTRIC 141.08937 - 804 SAN ANSELMO AVE - 01…01.14.61702.00

01185 The Ed Jones Co Inc 03/31/2022 22364422.01Regular 0.00

Account Number Account Name Item Description Distribution Amount

Payable # Post Date Payable Description Payable AmountPayable Type Discount Amount

50228 Invoice 03/30/2022 01.26.2022 - GERMAN SILVER 604 BADGES 422.010.00

MWPA DEFENDSIBLE SPACE 251.8801.26.2022 - GERMAN SILVER 604…01.10.61902.00

COMMUNITY EDUCATION … 170.1301.26.2022 - GERMAN SILVER 604…01.15.62220.00

01135 Todd E. Standfield 03/31/2022 22365425.00Regular 0.00

Account Number Account Name Item Description Distribution Amount

Payable # Post Date Payable Description Payable AmountPayable Type Discount Amount

ECT00949-2021 Invoice 03/31/2022 12.01.2021 - REIMBURSEMENT FOR STRIKE … 425.000.00

TRAINING AND EDUCATION 425.0012.01.2021 - REIMBURSEMENT F…01.10.61000.00

01162 FDAC Employee Benefit Authority 03/22/2022 DFT0002964-106.77Bank Draft 0.00

Account Number Account Name Item Description Distribution Amount

Payable # Post Date Payable Description Payable AmountPayable Type Discount Amount

CM0000165 Credit Memo 03/22/2022 Correction - date error-Payroll Correction pr… -106.770.00

STANDARD LIFE INS. WITH… -0.40Correction - date error-Payroll Cor…01.00.20270.00

STANDARD LIFE INS. WITH… -1.50Correction - date error-Payroll Cor…01.00.20270.00

DENTAL WITHHELD -93.33Correction - date error-Payroll Cor…01.00.20280.00

VSP DEDUCTION -11.54Correction - date error-Payroll Cor…01.00.20283.00

01097 MidAmerica 03/16/2022 DFT000296627,407.03Bank Draft 0.00

Account Number Account Name Item Description Distribution Amount

Payable # Post Date Payable Description Payable AmountPayable Type Discount Amount

INV0004332 Invoice 03/16/2022 March Retiree Health 27,407.030.00

RETIREES' HEALTH INSURA… 27,407.03March Retiree Payment01.00.60231.00

Regular Checks

Manual Checks

Voided Checks

Discount

Payment
CountPayment Type

Bank Code AP Summary

Bank Drafts

EFT's

55

0

1

2

0

0.00

0.00

0.00

0.00

0.00

58 0.00

Payment

149,220.76

0.00

0.00

27,300.26

0.00

176,521.02

Payable
Count

98

0

0

2

0

100

Item 6a 
Page 8 of 9

8



Check Report Date Range: 03/01/2022 - 03/31/2022

Page 9 of 94/7/2022 12:33:51 PM

All Bank Codes Check Summary

Payment Type Discount
Payment

Count Payment
Payable

Count

Regular Checks

Manual Checks

Voided Checks

Bank Drafts

EFT's

55

0

1

2

0

0.00

0.00

0.00

0.00

0.00

58 0.00

149,220.76

0.00

0.00

27,300.26

0.00

176,521.02

98

0

0

2

0

100

Fund Name AmountPeriod

Fund Summary

99 POOLED CASH 176,521.023/2022

176,521.02

Item 6a 
Page 9 of 9

9



San Anselmo, CA
This report was generated on 4/8/2022 9:27:08 AM

Ross Valley Fire Dept

Breakdown by Major Incident Types for Date Range

MAJOR INCIDENT TYPE # INCIDENTS % of TOTAL
Fires 2 1.13%

Rescue & Emergency Medical Service 106 59.89%

Hazardous Condition (No Fire) 3 1.69%

Service Call 27 15.25%

Good Intent Call 27 15.25%

False Alarm & False Call 12 6.78%

TOTAL 177 100%

Zone(s): All Zones | Start Date: 03/01/2022 | End Date: 03/31/2022

Only REVIEWED and/or LOCKED IMPORTED incidents are included.  Summary results for a major incident type are 
not displayed if the count is zero. 

emergencyreporting.com 
Doc Id: 553
Page # 1 of 2

Item 6b 
Page 1 of 4

10



Detailed Breakdown by Incident Type 

INCIDENT TYPE # INCIDENTS % of TOTAL
113 - Cooking fire, confined to container 1 0.56%
150 - Outside rubbish fire, other 1 0.56%
321 - EMS call, excluding vehicle accident with injury 99 55.93%
322 - Motor vehicle accident with injuries 5 2.82%
323 - Motor vehicle/pedestrian accident (MV Ped) 1 0.56%
350 - Extrication, rescue, other 1 0.56%
424 - Carbon monoxide incident 1 0.56%
444 - Power line down 2 1.13%
500 - Service Call, other 1 0.56%
511 - Lock-out 1 0.56%
550 - Public service assistance, other 3 1.69%
551 - Assist police or other governmental agency 2 1.13%
552 - Police matter 2 1.13%
553 - Public service 11 6.21%
554 - Assist invalid 4 2.26%
571 - Cover assignment, standby, moveup 3 1.69%
600 - Good intent call, other 1 0.56%
611 - Dispatched & cancelled en route 20 11.3%
650 - Steam, other gas mistaken for smoke, other 1 0.56%
651 - Smoke scare, odor of smoke 5 2.82%
700 - False alarm or false call, other 1 0.56%
743 - Smoke detector activation, no fire - unintentional 6 3.39%
745 - Alarm system activation, no fire - unintentional 5 2.82%

TOTAL INCIDENTS: 177 100%

Doc Id: 553
emergencyreporting.com

Only REVIEWED and/or LOCKED IMPORTED incidents are included.  Summary results for a major incident type are 
not displayed if the count is zero. 

Page # 2 of 2

Item 6b 
Page 2 of 4

11



San Anselmo, CA
This report was generated on 4/8/2022 9:27:36 AM

Ross Valley Fire Dept

Incident Type Count per Station for Date Range
Start Date: 03/01/2022 | End Date: 03/31/2022

INCIDENT TYPE # INCIDENTS

Station: 18 - STATION 18 
113 - Cooking fire, confined to container 1

321 - EMS call, excluding vehicle accident with injury 10

322 - Motor vehicle accident with injuries 1

551 - Assist police or other governmental agency 1

571 - Cover assignment, standby, moveup 1

611 - Dispatched & cancelled en route 4

651 - Smoke scare, odor of smoke 2

745 - Alarm system activation, no fire - unintentional 2

# Incidents for 18 - Station 18 : 22

Station: 19 - STATION 19
321 - EMS call, excluding vehicle accident with injury 46

322 - Motor vehicle accident with injuries 1

350 - Extrication, rescue, other 1

424 - Carbon monoxide incident 1

444 - Power line down 1

500 - Service Call, other 1

550 - Public service assistance, other 2

552 - Police matter 1

553 - Public service 6

554 - Assist invalid 3

611 - Dispatched & cancelled en route 6

651 - Smoke scare, odor of smoke 1

743 - Smoke detector activation, no fire - unintentional 2

745 - Alarm system activation, no fire - unintentional 2

# Incidents for 19 - Station 19: 74

Station: 20 - STATION 20
321 - EMS call, excluding vehicle accident with injury 9

322 - Motor vehicle accident with injuries 2

323 - Motor vehicle/pedestrian accident (MV Ped) 1

511 - Lock-out 1

550 - Public service assistance, other 1

553 - Public service 1

611 - Dispatched & cancelled en route 4

651 - Smoke scare, odor of smoke 1

Doc Id: 857
emergencyreporting.com

Only REVIEWED incidents included.

Page # 1 of 2

Ross

San Anselmo

Sleepy Hollow

Item 6b 
Page 3 of 4

12



INCIDENT TYPE # INCIDENTS
700 - False alarm or false call, other 1

743 - Smoke detector activation, no fire - unintentional 2

# Incidents for 20 - Station 20: 23

Station: 21 - STATION 21
150 - Outside rubbish fire, other 1

321 - EMS call, excluding vehicle accident with injury 34

322 - Motor vehicle accident with injuries 1

444 - Power line down 1

551 - Assist police or other governmental agency 1

552 - Police matter 1

553 - Public service 4

554 - Assist invalid 1

571 - Cover assignment, standby, moveup 2

600 - Good intent call, other 1

611 - Dispatched & cancelled en route 6

650 - Steam, other gas mistaken for smoke, other 1

651 - Smoke scare, odor of smoke 1

743 - Smoke detector activation, no fire - unintentional 2

745 - Alarm system activation, no fire - unintentional 1

# Incidents for 21 - Station 21: 58

Doc Id: 857
emergencyreporting.com

Only REVIEWED incidents included. Page # 2 of 2

Fairfax

Item 6b 
Page 4 of 4

13



4/7/2022 12:29:08 PM Page 1 of 2

Budget Report
Ross Valley Fire, CA Group Summary

For Fiscal: 2021-2022 Period Ending: 03/31/2022

Fiscal
Activity

Variance
Favorable

(Unfavorable)
Period

ActivitySubCategor…
Current

Total Budget
Original

Total Budget
Percent

Remaining

Fund: 01 - GENERAL FUND

Revenue

475 - MEMBER CONTRIBUTIONS 7,680,972.10873,107.0010,477,284.00 10,477,284.00 -2,796,311.90 26.69 %

495 - OUTSIDE / MISCELLANEOUS REVENUE 2,016,124.30120,680.981,494,006.00 2,360,079.00 -343,954.70 14.57 %

9,697,096.40993,787.9811,971,290.00 12,837,363.00 -3,140,266.60Revenue Total: 24.46 %

Expense

600 - SALARIES AND WAGES 4,835,556.05492,024.125,759,470.00 6,392,642.00 1,557,085.95 24.36 %

601 - RETIREMENT 1,774,839.7272,905.062,078,948.00 2,078,948.00 304,108.28 14.63 %

602 - EMPLOYEE BENEFITS 1,467,410.57163,243.382,205,951.00 2,205,951.00 738,540.43 33.48 %

610 - TRAINING 20,609.452,551.0940,000.00 40,000.00 19,390.55 48.48 %

611 - OUTSIDE SERVICES 551,641.7653,251.95960,953.00 960,953.00 409,311.24 42.59 %

613 - PUBLICATION / DUES 2,431.440.009,300.00 9,300.00 6,868.56 73.86 %

614 - MAINTENANCE 8,261.285,181.5620,700.00 20,700.00 12,438.72 60.09 %

615 - BUILDING MAINTENANCE 30,928.292,413.6276,500.00 76,500.00 45,571.71 59.57 %

616 - VEHICLE MAINTENANCE 70,380.5834,831.01110,000.00 110,000.00 39,619.42 36.02 %

617 - UTILITIES 76,330.417,129.94132,142.00 132,142.00 55,811.59 42.24 %

619 - MISCELLANEOUS 2,534.601,588.030.00 0.00 -2,534.60 0.00 %

620 - OFFICE SUPPLIES 2,213.9580.545,550.00 5,550.00 3,336.05 60.11 %

622 - DEPARTMENT SUPPLIES 39,681.064,194.20106,670.00 106,670.00 66,988.94 62.80 %

625 - FURNISHINGS 0.000.008,000.00 8,000.00 8,000.00 100.00 %

629 - MISCELLANEOUS 43,148.465,660.4268,000.00 68,000.00 24,851.54 36.55 %

630 - EQUIPMENT 13,270.4286.9646,700.00 46,700.00 33,429.58 71.58 %

631 - CAPITAL OUTLAY 18,107.781,475.2088,400.00 88,400.00 70,292.22 79.52 %

644 - MERA BOND PAYMENT 55,313.000.000.00 0.00 -55,313.00 0.00 %

670 - TRANSFERS OUT 0.000.00341,352.00 341,352.00 341,352.00 100.00 %

9,012,658.82846,617.0812,058,636.00 12,691,808.00 3,679,149.18Expense Total: 28.99 %

684,437.58147,170.90-87,346.00 145,555.00 538,882.58Fund: 01 - GENERAL FUND Surplus (Deficit): -370.23 %

Fund: 15 - VEHICLE FUND

Revenue

519 - TRANSFERS IN 0.000.00341,352.00 341,352.00 -341,352.00 100.00 %

0.000.00341,352.00 341,352.00 -341,352.00Revenue Total: 100.00 %

Expense

631 - CAPITAL OUTLAY 52,159.600.000.00 50,000.00 -2,159.60 -4.32 %

640 - PRINCIPAL 0.000.00141,583.00 141,583.00 141,583.00 100.00 %

641 - INTEREST 0.000.0013,129.00 13,129.00 13,129.00 100.00 %

52,159.600.00154,712.00 204,712.00 152,552.40Expense Total: 74.52 %

-52,159.600.00186,640.00 136,640.00 -188,799.60Fund: 15 - VEHICLE FUND Surplus (Deficit): 138.17 %

Report Surplus (Deficit): 147,170.90 632,277.9899,294.00 282,195.00 350,082.98 -124.06 %

Item 6c 
Page 1 of 7

14



Budget Report For Fiscal: 2021-2022 Period Ending: 03/31/2022

4/7/2022 12:29:08 PM Page 2 of 2

Fund Summary

Fiscal
Activity

Variance
Favorable

(Unfavorable)Fund
Period

Activity
Current

Total Budget
Original

Total Budget

01 - GENERAL FUND 684,437.58147,170.90-87,346.00 145,555.00 538,882.58

15 - VEHICLE FUND -52,159.600.00186,640.00 136,640.00 -188,799.60

Report Surplus (Deficit): 147,170.90 632,277.9899,294.00 282,195.00 350,082.98

Item 6c 
Page 2 of 7

15



4/7/2022 12:24:39 PM Page 1 of 5

Budget Report
Ross Valley Fire, CA Account Summary

For Fiscal: 2021-2022 Period Ending: 03/31/2022

Fiscal
Activity

Variance
Favorable

(Unfavorable)
Percent

Remaining
Current

Total Budget
Period

Activity
Original

Total Budget

Fund: 01 - GENERAL FUND

Revenue

FAIRFAX 2,149,921.00 1,612,440.72 -537,480.28 25.00 %179,160.0801.00.47501.00 2,149,921.00

ROSS 2,183,012.00 1,456,408.92 -726,603.08 33.28 %181,917.6701.00.47502.00 2,183,012.00

SAN ANSELMO 3,739,735.00 2,808,660.45 -931,074.55 24.90 %311,644.5801.00.47503.00 3,739,735.00

SLEEPY HOLLOW 1,181,073.00 885,804.75 -295,268.25 25.00 %98,422.7501.00.47504.00 1,181,073.00

PRIOR AUTHORITY RETIREE HEALTH 97,552.00 73,164.04 -24,387.96 25.00 %8,129.3401.00.47507.00 97,552.00

PRIOR AUTHORITY RETIREMENT 1,125,991.00 844,493.22 -281,497.78 25.00 %93,832.5801.00.47510.00 1,125,991.00

COUNTY OF MARIN 235,783.00 235,783.00 0.00 0.00 %0.0001.00.49501.00 230,732.00

OES REIMBURSEMENT OUT OF COUN… 766,233.00 785,269.77 19,036.77 102.48 %8,845.1701.00.49502.00 0.00

RVPA REIMBURSEMENT MEDIC PROG 265,886.00 241,683.33 -24,202.67 9.10 %0.0001.00.49504.00 265,886.00

RVPA RENTAL 31,828.00 31,828.38 0.38 100.00 %0.0001.00.49506.00 31,828.00

LAIF INTEREST 5,000.00 752.11 -4,247.89 84.96 %0.0001.00.49507.00 5,000.00

RVPA EMS TRAINING/SUPPLY REIMB. 47,290.00 0.00 -47,290.00 100.00 %0.0001.00.49509.00 47,290.00

PLAN CHECKING FEES 250,000.00 280,313.15 30,313.15 112.13 %70,932.0301.00.49510.00 250,000.00

RE-SALE INSPECTION FEES 50,000.00 5,200.02 -44,799.98 89.60 %176.7001.00.49511.00 50,000.00

MISCELLANEOUS INCOME 2,500.00 16,036.84 13,536.84 641.47 %140.8201.00.49512.00 2,500.00

WORKERS COMP REIMBURSEMENT 94,789.00 126,375.79 31,586.79 133.32 %13,563.1001.00.49513.00 0.00

DISASTER COORDINATOR REIMB. 79,088.00 0.00 -79,088.00 100.00 %0.0001.00.49517.00 79,088.00

DEFENSIBLE SPACE INSPECTION CON… 108,630.00 0.00 -108,630.00 100.00 %0.0001.00.49518.00 108,630.00

APPARATUS REPLACEMENT 341,352.00 277,021.50 -64,330.50 18.85 %21,798.1701.00.49523.00 341,352.00

TECHNOLOGY FEES 21,700.00 15,860.41 -5,839.59 26.91 %5,224.9901.00.49524.00 21,700.00

STATION MAINT REVENUE #18 15,000.00 0.00 -15,000.00 100.00 %0.0001.00.49526.18 15,000.00

STATION MAINT REVENUE #19 15,000.00 0.00 -15,000.00 100.00 %0.0001.00.49526.19 15,000.00

STATION MAINT REVENUE #20 15,000.00 0.00 -15,000.00 100.00 %0.0001.00.49526.20 15,000.00

STATION MAINT REVENUE #21 15,000.00 0.00 -15,000.00 100.00 %0.0001.00.49526.21 15,000.00

Revenue Total: 9,697,096.40993,787.9811,971,290.00 12,837,363.00 -3,140,266.60 24.46 %

Expense

REGULAR SALARIES 4,407,281.00 3,144,310.39 1,262,970.61 28.66 %353,062.4601.00.60000.00 4,407,281.00

TEMPORARY HIRE 16,391.00 0.00 16,391.00 100.00 %0.0001.00.60010.00 16,391.00

MINIMUM STAFFING 918,054.00 929,736.37 -11,682.37 -1.27 %100,251.1801.00.60020.00 743,054.00

HOURLY OVERTIME 90,697.00 48,377.19 42,319.81 46.66 %5,306.7101.00.60021.00 90,697.00

SHIFT DIFFERENTIAL OT 21,855.00 493.91 21,361.09 97.74 %158.0501.00.60024.00 21,855.00

OT OES RESPONSE 458,172.00 458,172.29 -0.29 0.00 %0.0001.00.60025.00 0.00

OT TRAINING 55,620.00 24,642.82 30,977.18 55.69 %6,859.2601.00.60026.00 55,620.00

HOLIDAY 205,313.00 147,086.44 58,226.56 28.36 %16,079.4201.00.60027.00 205,313.00

PARAMEDIC TRAINING OVERTIME 23,340.00 225.00 23,115.00 99.04 %0.0001.00.60028.00 23,340.00

FLSA O/T 100,219.00 69,471.40 30,747.60 30.68 %7,593.8001.00.60029.00 100,219.00

S/L BUY BACK 4,000.00 0.00 4,000.00 100.00 %0.0001.00.60030.00 4,000.00

RETIRED S/L COMPENSATION 50,000.00 0.00 50,000.00 100.00 %0.0001.00.60035.00 50,000.00

EXECUTIVE OFFICER 3,600.00 3,000.00 600.00 16.67 %300.0001.00.60039.00 3,600.00

BOARD MEMBER STIPEND 8,000.00 7,200.00 800.00 10.00 %800.0001.00.60040.00 8,000.00

RETIREMENT 2,078,948.00 1,774,839.98 304,108.02 14.63 %72,905.3201.00.60100.00 2,078,948.00

CAFETERIA HEALTH PLAN 858,548.00 583,843.87 274,704.13 32.00 %67,475.9401.00.60200.00 858,548.00

RETIREE HEALTH SAVINGS MATCH 27,529.00 22,463.65 5,065.35 18.40 %2,198.5701.00.60210.00 27,529.00

WORKERS' COMPENSATION INSURA… 402,922.00 315,873.68 87,048.32 21.60 %13,680.6801.00.60215.00 402,922.00

PAYROLL TAXES 86,698.00 71,598.12 15,099.88 17.42 %6,924.1601.00.60220.00 86,698.00

HOUSING ALLOWANCE 45,600.00 28,220.70 17,379.30 38.11 %2,550.0001.00.60221.00 45,600.00

UNIFORM REIMBURSEMENT 25,200.00 17,573.90 7,626.10 30.26 %1,920.0001.00.60223.00 25,200.00

EDUCATION REIMBURSEMENT 109,315.00 77,878.28 31,436.72 28.76 %8,443.7401.00.60225.00 109,315.00

RETIREES' HEALTH INSURANCE 648,838.00 349,940.01 298,897.99 46.07 %60,050.2901.00.60231.00 648,838.00

LIABILITY INSURANCE 29,458.00 45,209.00 -15,751.00 -53.47 %182.0001.00.61115.00 29,458.00

Item 6c 
Page 3 of 7

16



Budget Report For Fiscal: 2021-2022 Period Ending: 03/31/2022

4/7/2022 12:24:39 PM Page 2 of 5

Fiscal
Activity

Variance
Favorable

(Unfavorable)
Percent

Remaining
Current

Total Budget
Period

Activity
Original

Total Budget

GENERAL DEPARTMENT SUPPLIES 0.00 9.00 -9.00 0.00 %0.0001.00.62200.00 0.00

CONTINGENCY 15,000.00 0.00 15,000.00 100.00 %0.0001.00.62999.00 15,000.00

TRANSFERS OUT 341,352.00 0.00 341,352.00 100.00 %0.0001.00.67099.00 341,352.00

RETIREMENT 0.00 -0.26 0.26 0.00 %-0.2601.05.60100.00 0.00

AUDIT & BOOKEEPING SERVICES 30,705.00 21,931.94 8,773.06 28.57 %8,341.0201.05.61103.00 30,705.00

OTHER CONTRACT SERVICES 55,900.00 46,153.14 9,746.86 17.44 %21,494.8601.05.61105.00 55,900.00

CONTRACT SERVICES - MCFD 327,818.00 161,496.00 166,322.00 50.74 %0.0001.05.61106.00 327,818.00

ATTORNEY/LEGAL FEES 10,610.00 17,045.60 -6,435.60 -60.66 %135.5301.05.61107.00 10,610.00

PERS ADMINISTRATIVE FEE 2,900.00 925.23 1,974.77 68.10 %0.0001.05.61112.00 2,900.00

CONTRACT SERVICES-SAN ANSELMO 87,447.00 65,720.25 21,726.75 24.85 %21,996.7501.05.61120.00 87,447.00

COMPUTER SOFTWARE/SUPPORT 32,750.00 7,212.82 25,537.18 77.98 %299.8801.05.61121.00 32,750.00

WEB PAGE DESIGN AND MAINTENAN… 8,200.00 2,805.25 5,394.75 65.79 %2,805.2501.05.61122.00 8,200.00

HEALTH AND WELLNESS 25,000.00 6,053.00 18,947.00 75.79 %-2,656.2501.05.61127.00 25,000.00

HIRING EXPENSES 12,000.00 2,004.51 9,995.49 83.30 %621.3901.05.61129.00 12,000.00

PUBLICATIONS AND DUES 9,300.00 2,431.44 6,868.56 73.86 %0.0001.05.61300.00 9,300.00

OFFICE SUPPLIES 4,500.00 1,477.02 3,022.98 67.18 %51.6501.05.62000.00 4,500.00

POSTAGE 1,050.00 736.93 313.07 29.82 %28.8901.05.62003.00 1,050.00

GENERAL DEPARTMENT SUPPLIES 12,750.00 4,724.80 8,025.20 62.94 %-128.7801.05.62200.00 12,750.00

VOLUNTEER SHIFT PAY/DRILLS 17,000.00 240.00 16,760.00 98.59 %0.0001.10.60060.01 17,000.00

VOLUNTEER LENGTH OF SERVICE 4,100.00 987.00 3,113.00 75.93 %0.0001.10.60064.01 4,100.00

EXPLORER POST 9,000.00 1,613.24 7,386.76 82.08 %1,613.2401.10.60065.02 9,000.00

PAYROLL TAXES 0.00 3.48 -3.48 0.00 %0.0001.10.60220.00 0.00

PAYROLL TAXES - VOLUNTEER 1,301.00 14.88 1,286.12 98.86 %0.0001.10.60220.01 1,301.00

TRAINING AND EDUCATION 40,000.00 20,609.45 19,390.55 48.48 %2,551.0901.10.61000.00 40,000.00

DISPATCH 218,052.00 174,642.75 43,409.25 19.91 %0.0001.10.61100.00 218,052.00

RADIO REPAIR 5,000.00 410.74 4,589.26 91.79 %0.0001.10.61101.00 5,000.00

HAZARDOUS MATERIAL REMOVAL 1,000.00 0.00 1,000.00 100.00 %0.0001.10.61102.00 1,000.00

HAZARDOUS MATERIAL CONTRACT 4,200.00 0.00 4,200.00 100.00 %0.0001.10.61108.00 4,200.00

MERA OPERATING EXPENSE 105,313.00 0.00 105,313.00 100.00 %0.0001.10.61110.00 105,313.00

FIRE PREVENTION 0.00 378.01 -378.01 0.00 %0.0001.10.61131.00 0.00

EQUIPMENT MAINTENANCE 11,400.00 7,420.49 3,979.51 34.91 %4,459.7201.10.61410.00 11,400.00

GAS & ELECTRIC 0.00 2,326.01 -2,326.01 0.00 %0.0001.10.61702.00 0.00

MWPA DEFENDSIBLE SPACE 0.00 2,534.60 -2,534.60 0.00 %1,588.0301.10.61902.00 0.00

EMERGENCY RESPONSE SUPPLIES 4,220.00 6,098.26 -1,878.26 -44.51 %0.0001.10.62203.00 4,220.00

PARAMEDIC RESPONSE SUPPLIES 32,500.00 16,716.20 15,783.80 48.57 %2,150.2601.10.62204.00 32,500.00

EMERGENCY MEDICAL SUPPLIES 0.00 192.90 -192.90 0.00 %0.0001.10.62205.00 0.00

BREATHING APPARATUS 6,400.00 412.48 5,987.52 93.56 %0.0001.10.62210.00 6,400.00

BREATHING APPARATUS-CONTRACT 7,100.00 1,341.59 5,758.41 81.10 %0.0001.10.62211.00 7,100.00

PROTECTIVE CLOTHING 24,900.00 4,824.49 20,075.51 80.62 %1,227.4801.10.62213.00 24,900.00

EQUIPMENT 30,000.00 10,338.12 19,661.88 65.54 %1,399.4201.10.63131.00 30,000.00

HYDRANTS 21,000.00 768.57 20,231.43 96.34 %0.0001.10.63140.00 21,000.00

COMMUNICATIONS EQUIPMENT 21,000.00 1,644.06 19,355.94 92.17 %75.7801.10.63150.00 21,000.00

TURNOUTS 16,400.00 5,357.03 11,042.97 67.34 %0.0001.10.63160.00 16,400.00

MERA BOND PAYMENT PRIOR AUTH… 0.00 55,313.00 -55,313.00 0.00 %0.0001.10.64401.00 0.00

BUILDING MAINTENANCE AND LAND… 16,500.00 11,789.03 4,710.97 28.55 %1,747.7301.14.61500.00 16,500.00

BUILDING MAINTENANCE STATION 18 15,000.00 3,657.21 11,342.79 75.62 %76.0601.14.61500.18 15,000.00

BUILDING MAINTENANCE STATION 19 15,000.00 1,531.64 13,468.36 89.79 %471.7501.14.61500.19 15,000.00

BUILDING MAINTENANCE STATION 20 15,000.00 2,862.47 12,137.53 80.92 %0.0001.14.61500.20 15,000.00

BUILDING MAINTENANCE STATION 21 15,000.00 11,087.94 3,912.06 26.08 %118.0801.14.61500.21 15,000.00

GAS AND ELECTRIC 44,000.00 31,509.72 12,490.28 28.39 %2,842.4501.14.61702.00 44,000.00

WATER 7,910.00 2,484.14 5,425.86 68.59 %895.4201.14.61703.00 7,910.00

SEWER 2,700.00 3,898.80 -1,198.80 -44.40 %0.0001.14.61704.00 2,700.00

TELEPHONE 77,532.00 36,111.74 41,420.26 53.42 %3,392.0701.14.61705.00 77,532.00

JANITORIAL MAINTENANCE SUPPLIES 10,000.00 4,416.10 5,583.90 55.84 %0.0001.14.62206.00 10,000.00

FURNISHINGS 8,000.00 0.00 8,000.00 100.00 %0.0001.14.62501.00 8,000.00

APPLIANCES 5,000.00 2,252.94 2,747.06 54.94 %0.0001.14.63040.00 5,000.00

OFFICE EQUIPMENT 10,000.00 2,545.41 7,454.59 74.55 %0.0001.14.63041.00 10,000.00

EXERCISE EQUIPMENT 10,000.00 3,812.47 6,187.53 61.88 %86.9601.14.63042.00 10,000.00

Item 6c 
Page 4 of 7

17



Budget Report For Fiscal: 2021-2022 Period Ending: 03/31/2022

4/7/2022 12:24:39 PM Page 3 of 5

Fiscal
Activity

Variance
Favorable

(Unfavorable)
Percent

Remaining
Current

Total Budget
Period

Activity
Original

Total Budget

TECHNOLOGY PURCHASES 21,700.00 4,659.60 17,040.40 78.53 %0.0001.14.63044.00 21,700.00

FIRE PREVENTION 4,600.00 -346.48 4,946.48 107.53 %31.5201.15.61131.00 4,600.00

COMMUNITY EDUCATION & PREP. 8,800.00 945.24 7,854.76 89.26 %945.2401.15.62220.00 8,800.00

BURN TRAILER MAINTENANCE 9,300.00 840.79 8,459.21 90.96 %721.8401.25.61411.00 9,300.00

REPAIRS VEHICLE 110,000.00 70,380.58 39,619.42 36.02 %34,831.0101.25.61600.00 110,000.00

FUEL 40,500.00 39,593.66 906.34 2.24 %5,660.4201.25.62988.00 40,500.00

PARTS VEHICLE 12,500.00 3,554.80 8,945.20 71.56 %0.0001.25.62989.00 12,500.00

Expense Total: 9,012,658.82846,617.0812,058,636.00 12,691,808.00 3,679,149.18 28.99 %

Fund: 01 - GENERAL FUND Surplus (Deficit): 684,437.58147,170.90-87,346.00 145,555.00 538,882.58 -370.23 %

Fund: 15 - VEHICLE FUND

Revenue

TRANSFERS IN 341,352.00 0.00 -341,352.00 100.00 %0.0015.00.51999.00 341,352.00

Revenue Total: 0.000.00341,352.00 341,352.00 -341,352.00 100.00 %

Expense

VEHICLE PURCHASE 50,000.00 52,159.60 -2,159.60 -4.32 %0.0015.00.63154.00 0.00

LEASE PAYMENT - PRINCIPAL 141,583.00 0.00 141,583.00 100.00 %0.0015.00.64010.00 141,583.00

LEASE PAYMENT - INTEREST 13,129.00 0.00 13,129.00 100.00 %0.0015.00.64110.00 13,129.00

Expense Total: 52,159.600.00154,712.00 204,712.00 152,552.40 74.52 %

Fund: 15 - VEHICLE FUND Surplus (Deficit): -52,159.600.00186,640.00 136,640.00 -188,799.60 138.17 %

Report Surplus (Deficit): 147,170.90 632,277.9899,294.00 282,195.00 350,082.98 -124.06 %

Item 6c 
Page 5 of 7

18



Budget Report For Fiscal: 2021-2022 Period Ending: 03/31/2022

4/7/2022 12:24:39 PM Page 4 of 5

Group Summary

Fiscal
Activity

Variance
Favorable

(Unfavorable)
Period

ActivityAccount Typ…
Current

Total Budget
Original

Total Budget
Percent

Remaining

Fund: 01 - GENERAL FUND

Revenue 9,697,096.40993,787.9811,971,290.00 12,837,363.00 -3,140,266.60 24.46 %

Expense 9,012,658.82846,617.0812,058,636.00 12,691,808.00 3,679,149.18 28.99 %

684,437.58147,170.90-87,346.00 145,555.00 538,882.58Fund: 01 - GENERAL FUND Surplus (Deficit): -370.23 %

Fund: 15 - VEHICLE FUND

Revenue 0.000.00341,352.00 341,352.00 -341,352.00 100.00 %

Expense 52,159.600.00154,712.00 204,712.00 152,552.40 74.52 %

-52,159.600.00186,640.00 136,640.00 -188,799.60Fund: 15 - VEHICLE FUND Surplus (Deficit): 138.17 %

Report Surplus (Deficit): 147,170.90 632,277.9899,294.00 282,195.00 350,082.98 -124.06 %

Item 6c 
Page 6 of 7

19



Budget Report For Fiscal: 2021-2022 Period Ending: 03/31/2022

4/7/2022 12:24:39 PM Page 5 of 5

Fund Summary

Fiscal
Activity

Variance
Favorable

(Unfavorable)Fund
Period

Activity
Current

Total Budget
Original

Total Budget

01 - GENERAL FUND 684,437.58147,170.90-87,346.00 145,555.00 538,882.58

15 - VEHICLE FUND -52,159.600.00186,640.00 136,640.00 -188,799.60

Report Surplus (Deficit): 147,170.90 632,277.9899,294.00 282,195.00 350,082.98

Item 6c 
Page 7 of 7

20



Item 6d 
Page 1 of 3 

ROSS VALLEY FIRE DEPARTMENT 
Minutes of the Ross Valley Fire Board Meeting of March 9, 2022 

Note: These are summary action minutes only. The zoom recording can be accessed by clicking 
here 

1. 6:30 pm Call to order. Announce action in closed session, if any.

Board Present: Hellman, Kuhl, Shortall, Finn, Goddard, Burdo, Greene, Brekhus 
Board Absent:  
Staff Present:  Weber, Yeager 
Town Managers Present: Abrams, Donery, Johnson 

Agenda – March 9, 2022 

2. Open time for Public Expression: The public is welcome to address the Board on
matters not on the agenda. Please be advised that pursuant to Government Code
Section 54954.2, the Board is not permitted to take action on any matter not on the
agenda unless it determines that an emergency exists and that the need to take action
arose following the posting of the agenda.

None 

3. Board requests for future agenda items, questions, and comments to Staff, staff
miscellaneous items.

Dir. Hellman introduced new Fairfax Town Manager Heather Abrams. Town Manager Abrams 
introduced herself.  

Dir. Shortall would like to add an agenda item regarding the future of the organization of RVFD 
such as mergers. He would like to discuss it at the next meeting and would like Sleepy Hollow to 
be involved in the process from the start.  

Dir. Goddard asked about programs such as the goats and sheep’s, inspections, etc. as we get close 
to fire season. 

No public comment concerning this item.  

4. Chief Report – Verbal Update by Chief Weber

MWPA: Chief Weber reported that most of the core projects have been completed and those 
projects included evacuations. Also, we will start working on local projects and the FY22-23 
MWPA projects are being planned now. Further, the DSpace program will start on April 4, but the 
inspectors will be trained first and then, they will do the inspections.  

21

https://rossvalleyfire.org/2022/50455-board-meeting-january-12-2026
https://rossvalleyfire.org/attachments/article/50459/Agenda%2003.09.22%20RVFD.pdf


March 9, 2022 

Item 6d 
Page 2 of 3 

Emergency Preparedness Coordinator: Chief Weber said that Miller, the Emergency 
Coordinator, has reached out to some of the Towns, and the goal is to bring a strategic plan in June 
and have it developed by September.  

RVFD/MCFD Shared Service Agreement: Chief Weber reported a five-year shared service 
agreement that started in 2018 will expire in August 2023 to be effective and allow the Board to 
make informed decisions. Staff will present some options at the next meeting similar to what was 
done for Ross/sta18.  

Dir. Greene asked about the vegetation management project in Lake Lagunitas; he mentioned that 
he learned from some professional points of view that the fire risk is more severe due to all the 
road clearance. Greene asked if Chief Weber was aware of the opinions and, if so, how is he 
approaching them. Chief Weber mentioned a recent IJ editorial, and though there are some points 
where he agrees, such as the 100ft defensible space, he strongly disagrees that changing the 
vegetation makes the fire risk higher, and it has been contested statewide. Further, Chief Weber 
mentioned that MWPA is working on a response. Dir. Greene asked about the vegetation disposal 
process, and Chief Weber explained how it is done and what factors are considered for best 
practices. 

In regards to Greene’s question, Dir. Shortall said that he read the articles produced by Chad 
Hanson, who does not have a background in wildfire science. Further, Shortall reached out to true 
wildfire experts, and Hanson is distributing the wrong information.  

Dir. Burdo added that MWPA has been discussing this and has a similar response to what Chief 
Weber said. Burdo mentioned that Todd Lando created a 3D presentation addressing the issue, and 
Burdo could share it with the Board.  

Dir. Brekhus said that the Board should not be having full discussions on items not on the agenda. 

Fairfax resident Jody Timms said she is in contact with the new Emergency Coordinator, and she 
appreciates it. She also said that her household was awarded an MWPA grant for defensible space 
work done in her yard.  

5. Consent Agenda:  Items on the consent agenda may be removed and discussed
separately. Discussion may take place at the end of the agenda. Otherwise, all items
may be approved with one action.

M/S Greene/Burdo – roll call vote, all ayes. 

No public comment concerning this item.  

6. Receive Report on Homeowners Insurance non-renewals & cancelation – Chief
Weber

22



March 9, 2022 

Item 6d 
Page 3 of 3 

Chief Weber summarized the staff report regarding insurance cancellations, which is becoming a 
bigger issue. He added that the staff report provides some resources, which are also posted on the 
RVFD website. Chief Weber mentioned that there are some steps one should follow, and the first 
one is to get the insurance to reverse their decision. And the second one is to contact one’s local 
fire agency to do an inspection, and if the home meets the requirement, the Department can write 
a letter stating that they meet the requirements. When choosing a fire insurance company, one 
should ensure the company can cover the cost. 

Dir. Burdo asked if staff could do a community workshop to give an overview of this item. Chief 
Weber mentioned a couple options and he will reach out to MWPA and FIRESafe Marin for 
assistance. Additionally, Burdo asked if Chief Weber was aware of any legislative bills addressing 
the 75-day notice and possibly extending it. Chief Weber responded that he is not aware but would 
look into it.  

Dir. Shortall mentioned that FIRESafe Marin did a webinar about insurance and brought in experts 
and they are several videos that cover the topic and are happy to host another webinar.  

Dir. Brekhus said that RVFD is doing such a great job helping homeowners with inspections, but 
we do need to have a plan in place and perhaps, if everyone agrees, the Board could write a letter 
addressing the severity of this issue.  

Dir. Kuhl asked the Board if anyone would like to reach out to the two candidates for insurance 
commissioner to try to get them involved. Greene and Brekhus volunteered to do it.  

No public comment concerning this item.  

Dir. Goddard asked about consent agenda item 5f regarding annual inspections. She would like to 
know why only schools, apartment buildings, residential care facilities, etc. are required to be 
inspected and not the public buildings. Chief Weber responded that we are required under state 
law to report on specific occupancies; however, we inspect all businesses within the Greater Ross 
Valley, but only certain occupancies get reported. 

7. Announce adjournment to Closed Session

No public comment concerning this item.  

8. Adjourn

The next meeting is scheduled for April 13, via zoom video conferencing. 

Respectfully submitted, 

s/Mariana Gonzalez 
Administrative Assistant 

23

https://rossvalleyfire.org/services/public-education/fire-insurance-cancellation-resources


Item 6e 
Page 1 of 4 

 

ROSS VALLEY FIRE DEPARTMENT 
STAFF REPORT 

 
      For the meeting of April 13, 2022 
 
To:  Board of Directors 
 
From:  Jason Weber, Fire Chief 
 
Subject: Approve Resolution 22-08 Allowing Virtual RVFD Board Meetings in 

Compliance with AB 361. 
   
 
 
RECOMMENDATION: 
 
Staff recommends that the Board approves Resolution 22-08, allowing the continued use 
of teleconferencing/videoconferencing to hold public meetings for Virtual RVFD Board 
Meetings in Compliance with AB 361 during the continuing state of emergency proclaimed 
by Governor Newsom on March 4, 2020. 
 
 
DISCUSSION: 
 
On March 4, 2020, Governor Newsom declared a state of emergency under Government 
Code section 8625 due to COVID-19. Recognizing the need to promote social distancing 
while allowing local legislative bodies to continue operating during the emergency, 
Governor Newsom signed Executive Orders N-25-20, N-29-20, and N-08-21, which 
suspended provisions of the Brown Act. Those Orders permitted legislative bodies to hold 
virtual meetings; however, the relevant provisions expired on September 30, 2021.  
  
On September 16, 2021, Governor Newsom signed AB 361, which extends the authority 
of public agencies to conduct meetings by teleconference, including video conferences, 
during State-declared emergencies. Specifically, the bill provides that a legislative body 
may hold virtual meetings in a proclaimed state of emergency, and state or local officials 
have imposed or recommended measures to promote social distancing. (Cal. Gov. Code § 
54953(e)(1)(A)).  
 
On September 22, 2021, the Marin County Director of Health & Human Services, Benita 
McLarin, sent a letter to the Marin County Board of Supervisors recommending continued 
social distancing for local government meetings.  
 

 Local government meetings are indoor meetings that are sometimes crowded, 
involve many different and unfamiliar households, and can last many hours. Given 
those circumstances, I recommend a continued emphasis on social distancing 
measures as much as possible to make public meetings as safe as possible. These 
measures can include video/teleconferencing when it meets community needs and 

24



Item 6e 
Page 2 of 4 

 

spacing at in-person meetings so that individuals from different households are not 
sitting next to each other. 

 
On November 10, 2021, the RVFD Board of Directors adopted resolution 21-14 with the 
requisite findings that the (1) state of emergency is in effect, (2) that local officials are still 
recommending measures to promote social distancing, and (3) that the state of emergency 
directly impacts the ability of the public and the members of the RVFD Board of Directors 
to meet safely indoors in person.   
 
AB 361 requires the RVFD Board of Directors to make these findings at least every thirty 
days if it desires to continue meeting virtually. (Cal. Gov. Code § 54953(e)(3)). Therefore, 
staff has returned with resolution 22-08 for the Board’s consideration, including the 
findings noted above. 
 
The Ross Valley Fire Department is committed to preserving and nurturing public access 
and participation in the RVFD Board of Directors meetings while ensuring a safe and 
healthy environment. 
 
 
FISCAL IMPACT: 
 
There is no fiscal impact associated with this item.  
 

Attachments: Resolution 22-08 a resolution regarding teleconference and videoconference 
meetings during the covid-19 state of emergency for April 13, 2022 – May 
11, 2022. – Attachment #1  

 
  
 

25



Item 6e 
Attachment #1  

Page 3 of 4 
 

ROSS VALLEY FIRE DEPARTMENT 
 

RESOLUTION 22-08 
 
A RESOLUTION OF THE ROSS VALLEY FIRE DEPARTMENT REGARDING 
TELECONFERENCE AND VIDEOCONFERENCE MEETINGS DURING THE 

COVID-19 STATE OF EMERGENCY FOR APRIL 13, 2022 – MAY 11, 2022. 
 

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS ROSS VALLEY FIRE DEPARTMENT  
 

 WHEREAS, the Ross Valley Fire Department is committed to preserving and 
nurturing public access and participation in meetings of the Board of Directors; and   
  
 WHEREAS, on March 4, 2020, Governor Newsom proclaimed pursuant to his 
authority under the California Emergency Services Act, California Government Code 
Section 8625, that a state of emergency exists due to a novel coronavirus (COVID- 19); 
and 

WHEREAS, on June 4, 2021, in lifting many restrictions that the State 
previously imposed due to COVID-19, the Governor indicated that those changes did not 
end the ongoing, proclaimed State of emergency; and 

 
WHEREAS, as of the date of this resolution, neither the Governor nor the 

Legislature have exercised their respective powers pursuant to California Government 
Code section 8629 to lift the State of emergency either by proclamation or by concurrent 
resolution in the state Legislature; and  

 
WHEREAS, the continued local rates of transmission of the virus and variants 

causing COVID-19 are such that on September 22, 2021, the Marin County Director of 
Health & Human Services recommended that local government entities continue to 
emphasize social distancing to minimize the potential spread of COVID-19 during 
indoor, public meetings; and 

 
WHEREAS, in light of this recommendation, the RVFD Board of Directors 

desires to continue to have the flexibility to meet by teleconference and/or 
videoconference; 
 
  NOW, THEREFORE, THE ROSS VALLEY FIRE DEPARTMENT 
BOARD OF DIRECTORS DOES HEREBY RESOLVE, DETERMINE AND 
ORDER AS FOLLOWS 
 

1. There is an ongoing proclaimed state of emergency relating to the novel 
coronavirus causing the disease known as COVID-19. 

2. The State of emergency continues to directly impact the ability of the RVFD 
Board of Directors to meet safely in person. 

3. Local officials continue to recommend measures to promote social distancing. 

  

 
 
 
 

26



Item 6e 
Attachment #1  

Page 4 of 4 
 

 
 

I hereby certify that the foregoing resolution was passed and adopted by the Ross Valley 
Fire Department on April 13, 2022, by the following vote, to wit: 
 
AYES: 
NOES: 
ABSENT: 
ABSTAIN: 
 
 
 
 

_____________________________________ 
                                                                              Beach Kuhl, Board President 
 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
__________________________________ 
Mariana Gonzalez, Administrative Assistant 

27



Item 7 
Page 1 of 5 

 

ROSS VALLEY FIRE DEPARTMENT 
STAFF REPORT 

 
      For the meeting of April 13, 2022 
 
To:  Board of Directors 
 
From:  Kathleen Cutter, Defensible Space Lead II 
 
Subject: Receive Presentation on Fuel Projects and Defensible Space Program 
   
 
 
RECOMMENDATION: 
 
Staff recommends that the Board receives the Presentation on the Defensible Space Program that 
will provide an update on the program and the number of inspections throughout the greater Ross 
Valley area for the JPA member agencies.  
 
 
BACKGROUND: 
 
The Fire Agencies of Central Marin Fire Department, Kentfield Fire Protection District, Ross 
Valley Fire Department, and Marin County Fire Department are working together to provide 
defensible space inspections for the Greater Ross Valley Area and West Marin.  
 
The areas of inspection are based on our Evacuation Maps and every inspection result in a 
comprehensive report for the property owner that can be accessed online by the owner using a 
unique code given to them or left at their door by the inspectors. Additionally, throughout the 
inspection, residents are encouraged to accompany the inspectors.  And although our inspectors 
do not access properties without permission of the tenant or owner.  If no one is home or access is 
denied, the inspector inspects from the street obeying laws of curtilage.   
 
Approximately four days to one week before our inspectors start inspecting a neighborhood, we 
notify the community through “press releases” pushed through the RVFD social media accounts 
(Twitter, Facebook, Nextdoor, and website), the local Firewise sites, and Town 
newsletters/notifications.  While inspecting, our Inspectors place sandwich boards with the 
message “Wildfire Mitigation Defensible Space Inspectors in Your Neighborhood” at highly 
visible--and safe--locations in the area being inspected.  
 
During the 2021 inspection season, the Defensible Space Inspectors completed 15,321 inspections 
from May through October.  In the past we shared how many of these properties were either 
“compliant” or “non-compliant,” however, it was misleading.  One tends to think that “compliant 
houses” are safe and that “non-compliant houses” are unsafe. Technically, a house is “out of 
compliance” if it has some leaf litter against a structure.  A house with a 150ft fence attached to 

28



Item 7 
Page 2 of 5 

 

their wood shingled house “is compliant.”  In short, whether a home is well prepared to withstand 
a wildfire cannot be told by this designation.   
 
The data we have from the Defensible Space Inspector software helps us to determine what the 
hazards are, where they are located, and help point to possible mitigation efforts and to identify 
needs. 
 
DISCUSSION:  
 
As we prepared for the 2022 Defensible Space inspections, we onboarded 25 seasonal defensible 
inspectors, five of whom served as Defensible Space Inspectors last year. In addition, Jason 
Nancarrow and Tate Thompson, are the newly hired Defensible Space Inspector Lead I’s, and 
they will assist the Defensible Space Inspector Lead II, Kathleen Cutter, in the program’s day to 
day operations to ensure consistent, comprehensive, and high-quality inspections emphasizing 
great customer service.  Further, our goal is to complete 15,000 inspections with a greater portion 
of these inspections being secondary, or re-inspections from last year.  While the MWPA requires 
us to inspect every property under our responsibility once every three years, we are on track to 
inspect every property every two years.   
 
The advent of this season finds our resident report messaging much improved.  Last year’s 
inspections have this improved messaging now, yet the findings of last year's report are the 
same.  In other words, if a resident opens their report from last year, they will still see the same 
items identified in their year-old inspection but they will notice a clearer description of the finding, 
clearly stated action steps (if) required, and notification of MWPA or other grants if 
applicable.  The resident will also see the dates of their MWPA free chipper day.  Another point 
of interest is that our Defensible Space software reporting application is being adopted by all the 
other Marin Defensible Space Programs as well as agencies outside Marin this season.  We are 
proud to have worked with the software developers to make this software an unparalleled reporting 
tool. 
 
Currently, our newly hired inspectors are undergoing a rigorous two-week academy to train them 
to become highly qualified Defensible Space Inspectors.  They will learn about Marin WUI, the 
history of fire in Marin, building construction, defensible space, and how to use our defensible 
space software.  Additionally, our new inspectors are doing a number of “mock” inspections of 
properties in the Sleepy Hollow area under the supervision of seasoned inspectors to help them 
start the season strong.  Further, new and returning inspectors will take the National Fire Protection 
Association (NFPA) course “Assessing Structure Ignition Potential from Wildfire,” a nationally 
recognized two-day program that prepares them to take the Wildfire Mitigation Specialist 
certification.  We have invited all Marin County agencies to join us for this incredible training to 
help standardize the training countywide. 
 
We will start inspections for the 2022 season on April 18th. This year we will inspect homes in 
the RVFD not inspected in 2021: 

Ross:   the MTZ zones of Kent and Shady 
San Anselmo:  all of Sleepy Hollow and the MTZ zones of Redwood and San Francisco 
Fairfax:  the MTZ zone of Bothin, Fairfax-Bolinas, Ridgeway 

29



Item 7 
Page 3 of 5 

 

 
2021 Inspections 
for the Ross 
Valley Fire 
Department. 
 
This chart shows 
how many 
inspections were 
conducted in 
RVFD broken out 
by town. 
San Anselmo: 2970 
Fairfax: 1722 
Ross: 306 
Sleepy Hollow: 29 
Note that these 
numbers don’t 
include 52 re-
inspections 
completed in 
Fairfax or 
inspections 
completed before 
the software was 
available.  Twenty-
two Fairfax and 
204 San Anselmo 
residences received 
a full inspection 
before the software 
was ready, however 
those inspections 
were on the 
standard LE100 
inspection form 
and they have no 
online report. 
 
Note: February 
2022 inspections 
were by resident 
request to apply for 
MWPA grants. 
 
 
  

30



Item 7 
Page 4 of 5 

 

 
 
 
Hazards Map 
This is an interactive page that lets us pick out 
issues that we wish to explore deeper.  We can 
ask such questions as “Where are the juniper 
located?”  “Which towns have lots of Italian 
Cypress?”  “How many homes don’t have 
adequate vents to keep out embers?”  This will 
help us see what is out there today and 
potentially see what we can do to help change 
a particular issue.  Also, upon subsequent 
inspections, it will help us track what 
improvements have been made and where 
progress still needs to be made. 
 
 

31



Item 7 
Page 5 of 5 

 

Property Maintenance: 
Inspectors can give their 
subjective impression of each 
property they evaluate as 
either “Very Well 
Maintained,” “Moderately 
Well Maintained” or “Poorly 
Maintained.  This is just to 
give us an overall impression 
of any given area. 
 

32



Item 8 
Page 1 of 154 

 

ROSS VALLEY FIRE DEPARTMENT 
STAFF REPORT 

 
      For the meeting on April 13, 2022 
 
To:  Board of Directors 
 
From:  Jason Weber, Fire Chief 
 
Subject: Review RFP for a Study to Develop Policy Options for the Board surrounding 

Future Leadership/Governance, and Authorize the Fire Chief to Release the RFP 
and Provide Responses to the Board 

   
 
 
RECOMMENDATION: 
 
Staff recommends that the Board reviews RFP for a study to develop policy options for the 
Board surrounding future Leadership/Governance and authorize the Fire Chief to release 
the RFP and provide responses to the Board. 
 
 
BACKGROUND: 
 
The Ross Valley Fire Department is a consolidated department protecting lives, property, 
and the environments of Ross, San Anselmo, Sleepy Hollow, and Fairfax. The 
Department’s history can be traced to the early 1900s, starting with the formation of small 
volunteer fire departments in the newly formed towns of Ross, San Anselmo, and Fairfax. 
Built near the wildfire-prone slopes of Mount Tamalpais, these communities were and 
continue to be acutely aware of the risk of fire.  
 
In 1982, the Fairfax Fire Department and the San Anselmo Fire Department joined forces 
and became the Ross Valley Fire Services. At the time, Sleepy Hollow was receiving fire 
protection from the Town of San Anselmo through a service contract. Sleepy Hollow chose 
not to become a Joint Powers Authority (JPA) member while maintaining a non-voting seat 
on the Board. In 2010, the JPA expanded to make Sleepy Hollow a full JPA member, 
ending its contract for service with the Town of San Anselmo.  
 
In 2012, Ross Valley Fire Department’s Board of Directors voted to consolidate fire 
services with the Town of Ross, incorporating the Town of Ross Fire Station 18 into the 
Ross Valley Fire Department. Therefore, the current aggregate population of the 
Department’s service area is estimated to be 24,785, served from 4 fire stations with nine 
(9) suppression personnel on duty daily.   
 
In 2015 RVFD outsourced financial services to the Town of San Anselmo to provide 
accounting services such as account receivables (AR), account payables (AP), payroll, and 
other general finance services. In August 2018, the RVFD entered into a Memorandum of 
Understanding (MOU) with Marin County Fire Department (MCFD) to provide 

33



Item 8 
Page 2 of 154 

 

administrative and executive services. However, the MOU between RVFD and MCFD 
terminates on August 1, 2023.  
 
 
DISCUSSION: 
 
The Ross Valley Fire Department has used the services provided by MCFD as outlined in 
the MOU for “Fire Chief” and other command/leadership since August of 2018. However, 
The MOU won’t be renewed. Instead, the Department is using the opportunity to 
recommend a path forward for governance and leadership, ensuring the long-term 
sustainability of Fire and Emergency Services.  
 
The Department is seeking options for the succession of the MOU, which could include 
multiple scenarios that require research and, ultimately, policy options to be presented to 
the RVFD Fire Board. Therefore, the RVFD proposes a phased approach to gather 
information, compile and narrow options, and present to the RVFD Board several policy 
considerations.  
 
 
FISCAL IMPACT: 
 
There is no fiscal impact associated with this item. Staff will return to your Board with 
responses to the RFP and ultimately cost for such services being requested.  
 

 
  
Attachments: MOU between RVFD and MCFD for shared services – Attachment #1 
 RVFD Standards of Coverage Study – Attachment #2 
 RVFD Joint Powers Authority “JPA” – Attachment #3 
 RVFD Governance Leadership RFP – Attachment #4 

34



Item 8 
Attachment #1 

335



Item 8 
Attachment #1 

436



Item 8 
Attachment #1 

537



Item 8 
Attachment #1 

638



Item 8 
Attachment #1 

739



Item 8 
Attachment #1 

840



Item 8 
Attachment #1 

941



Item 8 
Attachment #1 

1042



Item 8 
Attachment #1 

1143



Item 8 
Attachment #1 

1244



Item 8 
Attachment #1 

1345



Item 8 
Attachment #1 

1446



Item 8 
Attachment #1 

1547



Item 8 
Attachment #1 

1648



Item 8 
Attachment #1 

1749



Item 8 
Attachment #1 

1850



Item 8 
Attachment #1 

1951



Item 8 
Attachment #1 

2052



Item 8 
Attachment #1 

2153



Item 8 
Attachment #1 

2254



Item 8 
Attachment #1 

2355



Item 8 
Attachment #1 

2456



Item 8 
Attachment #1 

2557



Item 8 
Attachment #1 

2658



Item 8 
Attachment #2 

27

59



This page was intentionally left blank 

Item 8 
Attachment #2 

28

60



Ross Valley Fire Department—Standards of Coverage Assessment 
Volume 1—Technical Report 

Table of Contents page i 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 

VOLUME 1 of 2 – Technical Report (this volume) 

Section Page 

Executive Summary ..................................................................................................................................................... 1 
Policy Choices Framework ......................................................................................................................... 1 
Overall Summary of Current Ross Valley Fire Crew Deployment............................................................. 1 
Citygate’s Overall Opinions ....................................................................................................................... 3 
Deployment Key Findings and Recommendations ..................................................................................... 4 
Next Steps ................................................................................................................................................... 8 

Section 1—Introduction and Background ................................................................................................................. 9 
1.1 Report Organization ........................................................................................................................ 9 

1.1.1 Goals of the Report ........................................................................................................... 9 
1.1.2 Limitations of Report ...................................................................................................... 10 

1.2 Project Approach and Scope of Work ........................................................................................... 10 
1.2.1 Project Approach and Research Methods ....................................................................... 10 
1.2.2 Project Scope of Work .................................................................................................... 11 

1.3 Communities Served Overview..................................................................................................... 11 
1.4 Fire Department Overview ............................................................................................................ 13 

1.4.1 Facilities and Resources .................................................................................................. 13 

Section 2—Standards of Coverage Assessment ...................................................................................................... 15 
2.1 Standards of Coverage Process Overview ..................................................................................... 15 
2.2 Current Deployment ...................................................................................................................... 17 

2.2.1 Current Deployment Model ............................................................................................ 19 
2.3 Outcome Expectations................................................................................................................... 20 
2.4 Community Risk Assessment ........................................................................................................ 23 

2.4.1 Risk Assessment Methodology ....................................................................................... 23 
2.4.2 Risk Assessment Summary ............................................................................................. 24 

2.5 Critical Task Time Measures—What Must Be Done over What Time Frame to Achieve the 
Stated Outcome Expectation? ....................................................................................................... 25 
2.5.1 Critical Firefighting Tasks .............................................................................................. 26 
2.5.2 Critical Medical Emergency Tasks ................................................................................. 28 
2.5.3 Critical Task Analysis and Effective Response Force Size ............................................ 29 

2.6 Distribution and Concentration Studies—How the Location of First-Due and First Alarm 
Resources Affects Emergency Incident Outcomes ....................................................................... 31 
2.6.1 Deployment Baselines .................................................................................................... 31 

2.7 Statistical Analysis ........................................................................................................................ 34 
2.7.1 Demand for Service ........................................................................................................ 34 
2.7.2 Simultaneous Emergency Incident Activity .................................................................... 38 
2.7.3 Operational Performance ................................................................................................ 40 
2.7.4 Call Processing ............................................................................................................... 41 
2.7.5 Turnout Time .................................................................................................................. 41 
2.7.6 Travel Time ..................................................................................................................... 42 
2.7.7 Call to Arrival ................................................................................................................. 44 

Item 8 
Attachment #2 

29

61



Ross Valley Fire Department—Standards of Coverage Assessment 
Volume 1—Technical Report 

Table of Contents page ii 

2.7.8 Effective Response Force (First Alarm) Concentration Measurements .......................... 45 

Section 3—Town of Ross Focused Study ................................................................................................................. 47 
3.1 Questions Regarding Station 18 .................................................................................................... 47 
3.2 Impact if Fire Station 18 Closes .................................................................................................... 54 

Section 4—Overall Evaluation ................................................................................................................................. 59 
4.1 Deployment Recommendations .................................................................................................... 60 

Appendix A—Risk Assessment ................................................................................................................................ 65 
A.1 Community Risk Assessment ........................................................................................................ 65 

A.1.1 Risk Assessment Methodology ....................................................................................... 65 
A.1.2 Risk Assessment Summary ............................................................................................. 66 
A.1.3 Planning Zones ............................................................................................................... 67 
A.1.4 Values at Risk to Be Protected ........................................................................................ 68 
A.1.5 Hazard Identification ...................................................................................................... 72 
A.1.6 Service Capacity ............................................................................................................. 74 
A.1.7 Probability of Occurrence ............................................................................................... 75 
A.1.8 Impact Severity ............................................................................................................... 76 
A.1.9 Overall Risk .................................................................................................................... 77 
A.1.10 Building Fire Risk ........................................................................................................... 78 
A.1.11 Vegetation Fire Risk ....................................................................................................... 81 
A.1.12 Medical Emergency Risk ................................................................................................ 88 
A.1.13 Hazardous Material Risk ................................................................................................. 91 
A.1.14 Technical Rescue Risk .................................................................................................... 94 

Table of Tables 

Table 1—Call to Arrival Performance to 90 Percent of Fire and EMS Incidents (Taken from Table 16) .................... 2 
Table 2—Travel Time Performance to 90 Percent of Fire and EMS Incidents (Taken from Table 15) ........................ 3 
Table 3—Fire Department Facilities and Assigned Resources .................................................................................... 13 
Table 4—Standards of Coverage Process Elements .................................................................................................... 16 
Table 5—Fire Service Deployment Paradigm ............................................................................................................. 17 
Table 6—Response Plan by Incident Type .................................................................................................................. 20 
Table 7—Overall Risk by Hazard ............................................................................................................................... 25 
Table 8—First Alarm Residential Fire Critical Tasks – 16 Personnel ......................................................................... 27 
Table 9—Cardiac Arrest Critical Tasks – Three Engine Personnel + Two Personnel ALS Ambulance ..................... 29 
Table 10—Incidents: Quantity by Incident Type – 2018 ............................................................................................ 37 
Table 11—Incidents: Quantity by Property Use – 2018 .............................................................................................. 38 
Table 12—Percentage by Number of Simultaneous Emergency Incidents ................................................................. 39 
Table 13—Call Processing Performance to 90 Percent of Fire and EMS Incidents .................................................... 41 
Table 14—Turnout Time Performance to 90 Percent of Fire and EMS Incidents....................................................... 42 
Table 15—Travel Time Performance to 90 Percent of Fire and EMS Incidents ......................................................... 43 
Table 16—Call to Arrival Performance to 90 Percent of Fire and EMS Incidents...................................................... 44 
Table 17—Distribution – Structure Fire Initial Response – Fourth-Due Unit Travel Time Performance to 90 Percent 

of Fire and EMS Incidents ......................................................................................................................... 45 
Table 18—Incidents: Quantity – Year by Incident Type for Station 18 – 2017 and 2018 .......................................... 48 
Table 19—Station 18 Response Times to All Calls at 90 Percent Compliance........................................................... 50 
Table 20—Responses by Vehicle ID – 2017 and 2018 ............................................................................................... 52 

Item 8 
Attachment #2 

30

62



Ross Valley Fire Department—Standards of Coverage Assessment 
Volume 1—Technical Report 

Table of Contents page iii 

Table 21—EMS Responses by Station 18 Apparatus by Destination Station Area .................................................... 52 
Table 22—Station 19 Response Times to All Calls at 90 Percent Compliance........................................................... 54 
Table 23—Distribution Travel Time Analysis of Fire and EMS Responses from 01/01/17 to 12/31/18 .................... 55 
Table 24—Overall Risk by Hazard ............................................................................................................................. 67 
Table 25—Key Demographic Data – Ross Valley Fire Department ........................................................................... 69 
Table 26—High Risk Building Occupancy Inventory by Risk Category .................................................................... 71 
Table 27—High Risk Occupancy Inventory by Planning Zone .................................................................................. 71 
Table 28—Marin County Hazards ............................................................................................................................... 73 
Table 29—Probability of Occurrence Scoring Criteria ............................................................................................... 76 
Table 30—Impact Severity Scoring Criteria ............................................................................................................... 77 
Table 31—Overall Risk Score and Rating................................................................................................................... 78 
Table 32—Building Fire Service Demand .................................................................................................................. 80 
Table 33—Building Fire Probability Scoring .............................................................................................................. 80 
Table 34—Building Fire Impact Severity Scoring ...................................................................................................... 81 
Table 35—Overall Building Fire Risk......................................................................................................................... 81 
Table 36—Vegetation Fire Service Demand ............................................................................................................... 87 
Table 37—Vegetation Fire Probability Scoring .......................................................................................................... 88 
Table 38—Vegetation Fire Impact Severity Scoring ................................................................................................... 88 
Table 39—Overall Vegetation Fire Risk ..................................................................................................................... 88 
Table 40—Medical Emergency Service Demand ........................................................................................................ 90 
Table 41—Medical Emergency Probability Scoring ................................................................................................... 91 
Table 42—Medical Emergency Impact Severity Scoring ........................................................................................... 91 
Table 43—Overall Medical Emergency Risk .............................................................................................................. 91 
Table 44—Hazardous Material Service Demand ........................................................................................................ 93 
Table 45—Hazardous Material Probability Scoring .................................................................................................... 93 
Table 46—Hazardous Material Impact Severity Scoring ............................................................................................ 94 
Table 47—Overall Hazardous Material Risk .............................................................................................................. 94 
Table 48—Technical Rescue Service Demand ............................................................................................................ 98 
Table 49—Technical Rescue Probability Scoring ....................................................................................................... 98 
Table 50—Technical Rescue Impact Severity Scoring ............................................................................................... 98 
Table 51—Overall Technical Rescue Risk .................................................................................................................. 99 

Table of Figures 
Figure 1—Fire Station Districts and General Geography ............................................................................................ 12 
Figure 2—Fractile versus Average Response Time Measurements ............................................................................ 21 
Figure 3—Overall Risk ............................................................................................................................................... 24 
Figure 4—Annual Service Demand by Year ............................................................................................................... 35 
Figure 5—Number of Incidents by Year – All Incident Types ................................................................................... 35 
Figure 6—Service Demand by Hour of Day and Year ................................................................................................ 36 
Figure 7—Number of Incidents by Station – 2018 ...................................................................................................... 37 
Figure 8—Number of Simultaneous Incidents by Year............................................................................................... 39 
Figure 9—Number of Single-Station Simultaneous Incidents by Station by Year ...................................................... 40 
Figure 10—Fractile for Incidents Turnout (CAD) ....................................................................................................... 42 
Figure 11—Fractile for Incidents Travel (CAD) ......................................................................................................... 43 
Figure 12—Fractile for Incidents Call to First Arrival ................................................................................................ 44 
Figure 13—Number of Incidents by Year by Incident Type – Station 18 ................................................................... 48 
Figure 14—90 Percent Response Times by Distance for All Department Stations ..................................................... 51 

Item 8 
Attachment #2 

31

63



Ross Valley Fire Department—Standards of Coverage Assessment 
Volume 1—Technical Report 

Table of Contents page iv 

Figure 15—Overall Risk ............................................................................................................................................. 66 
Figure 16—Risk Planning Zones ................................................................................................................................. 68 
Figure 17—Commission on Fire Accreditation International Hazard Categories ....................................................... 74 
Figure 18—Building Fire Progression Timeline ......................................................................................................... 79 
Figure 19—SRA Wildland Fire Hazard Severity Zones – Marin County ................................................................... 82 
Figure 20—Wildland Fire Hazard Map ....................................................................................................................... 83 
Figure 21—Areas of Wildfire Concern – Marin County CWPP ................................................................................. 84 
Figure 22—Marin County Wildfire History ................................................................................................................ 86 
Figure 23—Survival Rate versus Time to Defibrillation ............................................................................................. 89 
Figure 24—Earthquake Faults ..................................................................................................................................... 96 
Figure 25—Flood Hazard Areas .................................................................................................................................. 97 

 

VOLUME 2 of 2 – Map Atlas (separately bound) 

Item 8 
Attachment #2 

32

64



Ross Valley Fire Department—Standards of Coverage Assessment 
Volume 1—Technical Report 

Executive Summary page 1 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

The Ross Valley Fire Department (Department) is a consolidated department protecting lives, 
property, and the environments of Ross, San Anselmo, Sleepy Hollow, and Fairfax. The 
Department retained Citygate Associates, LLC (Citygate) to conduct a comprehensive Standards 
of Coverage (SOC) assessment to provide a foundation for future fire service planning. The goal 
of this assessment is to identify both current services and desired service levels, and then to assess 
the Department’s ability to provide them. As part of this study, the Town of Ross (Town) requested 
an analysis of the impact on the current level of services if the fire engine in the Town was 
relocated, and alternatively, the fire engine and ambulance were relocated from their present 
location in the Town. After understanding any possible gaps in operations and resources, Citygate 
has provided recommendations to improve Department operations and services over time. 

This assessment is presented in several parts, including this Executive Summary outlining the most 
significant findings and recommendations; the fire station/crew deployment analysis supported by 
maps and response statistics; and an assessment of specific fire crew deployment choices for the 
Town of Ross. A separate Map Atlas (Volume 2) contains all the maps referenced throughout this 
report. Overall, there are 18 findings and 3 specific action recommendations. 

POLICY CHOICES FRAMEWORK 

There are no mandatory federal or state regulations directing the level of fire service staffing, 
response times, or outcomes. Thus, the level of fire protection services provided are a local policy 
decision and communities have the level of fire services that they can afford, which may not always 
be the level desired. However, if services are provided at all, local, state, and federal regulations 
relating to firefighter and citizen safety must be followed.  

OVERALL SUMMARY OF CURRENT ROSS VALLEY FIRE CREW DEPLOYMENT 

Citygate finds that that the Department is well organized being a partnership of several agencies 
to accomplish its mission to serve a suburban population in a municipal land-use pattern although 
in hilly terrain with few cross-connecting roads aside from the main roads on the valley floor. The 
Department serves mostly residential and small downtown populations with a mixed land-use 
pattern typical of Marin County communities. The small towns and the road to West Marin attract 
a high number of visitors that also must be protected. However, the hilly geography and the limited 
road network, which is dependent on one main connector road, makes the area very difficult to 
serve efficiently from a small number of fire stations.  

Fire service deployment, simply stated, is about the speed and weight of the response. Speed refers 
to initial response (first-due) of all-risk intervention resources (engines, trucks, and/or ambulances) 
strategically deployed across a jurisdiction for response to emergencies within a time interval to 

Item 8 
Attachment #2 

33

65



Ross Valley Fire Department—Standards of Coverage Assessment 
Volume 1—Technical Report 

Executive Summary page 2 

achieve desired outcomes. Weight refers to multiple-unit responses (Effective Response Force, or 
ERF, commonly also called a First Alarm) for more serious emergencies such as building fires, 
multiple-patient medical emergencies, vehicle collisions with extrication required, or technical 
rescue incidents. In these situations, a sufficient number of firefighters must be assembled within 
a reasonable time interval to safely control the emergency and prevent it from escalating into a 
more serious event. 

Most suburban communities desire outcomes to include limiting building fire damage to only part 
of the inside of an affected building and/or minimizing permanent impairment resulting from a 
medical emergency. To do so, the initial units should arrive within 7:30 minutes from 9-1-1 
notification and a multiple-unit ERF should arrive within 11:30 minutes of 9-1-1 notification at 
the Marin County Sheriff’s Dispatch Center (Comm Center), all at 90 percent or better reliability. 
Total response time to emergency incidents includes three distinct components: (1) 9-1-1 call 
processing/dispatch time; (2) crew turnout time; and (3) travel time. Recommended best practices 
for these response components are 1:30 minutes, 2:00 minutes, and 4:00/8:00 minutes respectively 
for first-due and multiple-unit ERF responses in urban/suburban areas. 

In the Department, the current fire station system provides the following first-due unit response 
time performance across a variety of population density/risk areas for emergency medical and fire 
incident types. As Table 1 shows, all station areas receive service longer than a best practices goal 
point of 7:30 minutes. 

Table 1—Call to Arrival Performance to 90 Percent of Fire and EMS Incidents (Taken 
from Table 16) 

Station Area 2018 

Department-Wide 08:45 

Station 18 07:55 

Station 19 07:45 

Station 20 08:47 

Station 21 09:07 

The Department’s dispatch times are excellent. Crew turnout times need modest improvement. 
The times in Table 1 do, however, reflect a longer travel time slower than an urban/suburban 
preferred 4:00 minutes for 90 percent of the incidents, as Table 2 displays. 

Item 8 
Attachment #2 

34

66



Ross Valley Fire Department—Standards of Coverage Assessment 
Volume 1—Technical Report 

Executive Summary page 3 

Table 2—Travel Time Performance to 90 Percent of Fire and EMS Incidents (Taken from 
Table 15) 

Station Area 2018 

Department-Wide 06:09  

Station 18 04:40 

Station 19 05:38 

Station 20 06:24 

Station 21 06:30 

The overall longer-than-desired first-due unit travel times are not the result of a lack of fire stations. 
They are the result of the non-grid street network design, simultaneous incidents at peak hours of 
the day, and traffic congestion—particularly rush hour and tourism on weekends. 

CITYGATE’S OVERALL OPINIONS 

The Department is very difficult to serve efficiently from a small number of fire stations due to 
the hilly geography and the limited road network, which is dependent on one main connector road. 
Over time, each population cluster opened a fire station for a minimum single first unit response 
and knew they were co-dependent on each other for multiple-unit serious emergencies. The 
geography cannot be changed and improving the road network is not politically feasible or cost-
effective. Thus, reducing coverage by removing any one or more fire engines or the paramedic 
ambulance will increase response times to the local community receiving reduced coverage. 

While the state fire code now requires fire sprinklers even in residential dwellings, it will be many 
more years before the vast majority of homes are replaced or remodeled with automatic fire 
sprinklers. If the communities’ desired outcomes include limiting building fire damage to only part 
of the inside of an affected building, minimizing permanent impairment resulting from a medical 
emergency, and keeping wildland fires small to a few acres at the ignition point, then the 
communities served by the Ross Valley Fire Department will need first-due unit coverage in all 
neighborhoods. 

However, even with maintaining the current four-station spacing, given the topography, not all 
hillside areas can receive response time coverage consistent with suburban best practice incident 
outcomes and a Citygate performance recommendation of a first-due arrival within 7:30 minutes 
from 9-1-1 dispatch notification and a multiple-unit Effective Response Force (ERF) arrival 
occurring within 11:30 minutes of 9-1-1 notification, all at 90 percent or better reliability.  

The Department’s call processing performance is excellent. The crew turnout time needs modest 
improvement but even such attainable improvement cannot substantially lower the fire unit travel 

Item 8 
Attachment #2 

35

67



Ross Valley Fire Department—Standards of Coverage Assessment 
Volume 1—Technical Report 

Executive Summary page 4 

times which are longer than desired. Department resources and equipment are appropriate to 
protect against the hazards likely to impact the Department’s service area, but the daily staffing of 
eight firefighters on four engines, plus a two-firefighter/paramedic ambulance from the Ross 
Valley Paramedic Authority (RVPA) and a Duty Chief Officer only provides a minimum total 
response force sufficient to begin controlling a single emerging to serious fire incident, or to 
provide care at an EMS incident with one to five patients. 

In terms of emergency incident workload per unit, no single fire unit or station area is approaching 
workload saturation. The level of simultaneous incidents is not high enough to warrant another 
unit at peak hours of the day. Citygate is, however, concerned about the overall limited Department 
staffing per day and its ability to respond with more “weight of attack” to keep emerging serious 
emergencies controlled. Even Countywide mutual aid resources are not quickly available in this 
part of Marin County, as they would be in an urban area with flat terrain and interconnected roads. 

The quantity of calls in the Town of Ross (or any other single historic population cluster in the 
joint Department’s service area) is too small and too volatile from which to use historical incidents 
as the only criteria to maintain the fire station. Providing fire services is akin to purchasing fire 
insurance, and it is important to consider the desired level of protection. The public policy issue is 
whether to have access to a fire station nearby or farther away, knowing that a station farther away, 
even with its unit(s) available for response, cannot offer more than edge suburban or emerging 
rural area response times to much of the Town of Ross. 

DEPLOYMENT KEY FINDINGS AND RECOMMENDATIONS 

The following are findings and recommendations presented throughout the report. 

Finding #1: The Department has legacy response performance objectives partially consistent 
with best practice recommendations as published by the Commission on Fire 
Accreditation International. However, they should be updated to reflect current 
risks and desired outcomes for all types of emergency risk outcomes. 

Finding #2: The Department has a standard response plan that considers risk and establishes an 
appropriate initial response for each incident type. Each type of call for service 
receives the combination of engines, specialty units, and command officers 
customarily needed to begin to control that type of incident based on Department 
experience. 

Finding #3: The mapping analysis shows the need for neighborhood-based first response units 
for fire and EMS incidents. 

Item 8 
Attachment #2 

36

68



Ross Valley Fire Department—Standards of Coverage Assessment 
Volume 1—Technical Report 

Executive Summary page 5 

Finding #4: The risk assessment maps show there are risks to be protected from fire besides just 
single-family homes, and some areas have lower fire flow capacity for serious or 
conflagration size fires. 

Finding #5: The Department’s service demand is consistent, indicating the need for a 24-hours-
per-day, seven-days-per-week fire and EMS emergency response system. 

Finding #6: The number of simultaneous incidents is volatile. However, in a four-station 
department, it is very rare that more than two incidents occur at once. 

Finding #7: Call processing performance at 1:04 minutes is better than a best practice 
recommendation of 1:30 minutes.  

Finding #8: Crew turnout performance at 2:41 minutes is slower than a Citygate-recommended 
goal of 2:00 minutes or less.  

Finding #9: First-due unit travel time performance to 90 percent of the incidents Department-
wide at 6:09 minutes is well past the Department’s likely goal of 4:00 minutes, a 
goal consistent with best practices. 

Finding #10: The Department’s call to arrival time to 90 percent of the incidents at 8:45 is slower 
than a Citygate’s recommended goal of 7:30 minutes in developed suburban areas. 
The principal reason is the longer travel times, reflective of the topography and road 
network in the Department’s service area. 

Finding #11: The Effective Response Force (First Alarm) travel times are only modestly longer 
than a best practices goal of 8:00 minutes and are reflective of the good, central 
placement of the four fire stations. 

Finding #12: In the Town of Ross, on EMS emergencies, Engine 18 responded 214 times and 
Medic 18 responded 169 times in a two-year period.  

Finding #13: In the Town of Ross, adjoining Engines 17 (Kentfield) and Engine 19 each arrived 
first over a two-year period 19 and 20 times, totaling 39. Thus, the outside units 
only arrived/were needed first 12.6 percent of the time. 

Finding #14: In a two-year period, Engines 18 and 17 (Kentfield) were assigned to incidents at 
the same time 78 times or 16 percent of Engine 18’s total responses. Stated this 
way, if Engine 18 was closed, there are approximately 1.5 incidents per week to 
which Engine 17 will not be available to respond.  

Item 8 
Attachment #2 

37

69



Ross Valley Fire Department—Standards of Coverage Assessment 
Volume 1—Technical Report 

Executive Summary page 6 

Finding #15: Closing Station 18 will add about 2:00 minutes minimum of travel time into that 
station area.  

Finding #16: In the Ross Valley Fire Department, Station 18 has the best travel time of any of 
the four station areas at 4:40 minutes, only 40 seconds longer than an 
urban/suburban best practice recommendation of 4:00 minutes. Adding 2:00 
minutes travel, plus dispatch and turnout time of at least 3:00 minutes, moves a 
Town of Ross total response time from 7:40 to 9:40 which would be more like an 
edge suburban area or emerging rural area. First unit response times of 10:00 
minutes-plus means small fires will become larger and critical EMS patients may 
not receive lifesaving care.  

Finding #17: If the Engine 18 daily firefighter count of two were transferred to Engine 19, or 
reduced to one being transferred, they would be joining an engine that serves a 
much larger area and is more exposed to simultaneous incident demand. Due the 
dynamic nature of 9-1-1 emergencies, there is no way to predict if all of the Town 
of Ross Engine 18 and Medic 18 first arrivals would be covered by just Engines 19 
and 17 (Kentfield) or by other units even farther away. 

Finding #18: Covering the Town of Ross from either Station 19 or 17 (Kentfield) depends on 
essentially one road being open and not congested with traffic. Any one accident or 
natural emergency could close the road, effectively making the Town of Ross a cul-
de-sac served from one direction and, in a sub-regional emergency, either Engine 
19 or 17 would be shared with a larger service area. 

Recommendation #1: Adopt Updated Deployment Policies: The Ross Valley Fire 
Department governing Board should adopt updated, complete 
performance measures to aid deployment planning and to monitor 
performance. The measures of time should be designed to deliver 
outcomes that will save patients medically salvageable upon arrival and 
to keep small but serious fires from becoming more serious. With this 
is mind, Citygate recommends the following measures:  

1.1 Distribution of Fire Stations: To treat pre-hospital medical 
emergencies and control small fires, the first-due unit should 
arrive within 8:30 minutes, 90 percent of the time from the 
receipt of the 9-1-1 call at dispatch; this equates to a 90-second 
dispatch time, a 2:00-minute company turnout time, and a 5:00-
minute travel time.  

Item 8 
Attachment #2 

38

70



Ross Valley Fire Department—Standards of Coverage Assessment 
Volume 1—Technical Report 

Executive Summary page 7 

1.2 Multiple-Unit Effective Response Force for Serious 
Emergencies: To confine building fires near the room of origin, 
keep vegetation fires under one acre in size, and treat multiple 
medical patients at a single incident, a multiple-unit ERF of at 
least 12 personnel, including at least one Duty Chief Officer, 
should arrive within 12:30 minutes from the time of 9-1-1 call 
receipt in dispatch, 90 percent of the time; this equates to a 90-
second dispatch time, 2:00-minute company turnout time, and 
9:00-minute travel time.  

1.3 Hazardous Materials Response: Provide hazardous materials 
response designed to protect the Department’s service areas from 
the hazards associated with uncontrolled release of hazardous 
and toxic materials. The fundamental mission of the Fire 
Department’s response is to isolate the hazard, deny entry into 
the hazard zone, and notify appropriate officials/resources to 
minimize impacts on the community. This can be achieved with 
a first-due total response time of 8:30 minutes or less to provide 
initial hazard evaluation and/or mitigation actions. After the 
initial evaluation is completed, a determination can be made 
whether to request additional resources from the regional 
hazardous materials team. 

1.4 Technical Rescue: Respond to technical rescue emergencies as 
efficiently and effectively as possible with enough trained 
personnel to facilitate a successful rescue with a first-due total 
response time of 8:30 minutes or less to evaluate the situation 
and/or initiate rescue actions. Following the initial evaluation, 
assemble additional resources as needed within a total response 
time of 12:30 minutes to safely complete rescue/extrication and 
delivery of the victim to the appropriate emergency medical care 
facility. 

Recommendation #2: Consider maintaining the current location of all four engines and 
keeping Medic 18 in the Town of Ross to balance its coverage area to 
the west and east.  

Recommendation #3: Consider providing a third firefighter per day on the three engines other 
than Engine 18. Doing so would raise the daily weight of attack from 
12 to 15 and, with Kentfield’s three personnel, to 18. This force would 
be sufficient to provide the weight of attack and simultaneous incident 

Item 8 
Attachment #2 

39

71



Ross Valley Fire Department—Standards of Coverage Assessment 
Volume 1—Technical Report 

Executive Summary page 8 

redundancy for suburban positive outcomes. Especially on serious 
building and wildland fire ignitions, there is no second chance to stop 
the fire. This is a local policy decision to be made by the affected 
communities to determine the level of fire service that they can afford. 

NEXT STEPS 

 Review and absorb the content, findings, and recommendations of this report. 

 Adopt revised response performance goals as recommended. 

 Request staff to return with a community engagement plan to discuss adding up to 
three more firefighters per day, one on each of the three engines other than Engine 
18. 

Item 8 
Attachment #2 

40

72



Ross Valley Fire Department—Standards of Coverage Assessment 
Volume 1—Technical Report 

Section 1—Introduction and Background page 9 

SECTION 1—INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND 

The Ross Valley Fire Department (Department) retained Citygate Associates, LLC (Citygate) to 
conduct a comprehensive Standards of Coverage (SOC) assessment to provide a foundation for 
future fire service planning. The goal of this assessment is to identify both current services and 
desired service levels and then to assess the Department’s ability to provide them. Citygate’s scope 
of work and corresponding Work Plan were developed consistent with Citygate’s Project Team 
members’ experience in fire administration and deployment. Citygate utilizes various National 
Fire Protection Association (NFPA) and Insurance Services Office (ISO) publications as best 
practice guidelines, along with the self-assessment criteria of the Commission on Fire 
Accreditation International (CFAI). 

1.1 REPORT ORGANIZATION 

This report is organized into the following sections. Volume 2 (Map Atlas) is separately bound.  

Executive Summary: Summary of current services and significant future 
challenges.  

Section 1 Introduction and Background: An introduction to the study and background facts 
about the Department. 

Section 2 Standards of Coverage Assessment: An overview of the SOC process and detailed 
analysis of existing deployment policies, outcome expectations, community risk, 
critical tasks, distribution and concentration effectiveness, reliability and historical 
response effectiveness, and overall deployment evaluation. 

Section 3 Town of Ross Focused Study: An assessment of the effectiveness of locating one 
of the Department’s engines and/or ambulances in the Town of Ross.  

Section 4 Overall Evaluation: An overall deployment evaluation with concluding 
recommendations. 

Appendix A Risk Assessment 

1.1.1 Goals of the Report 

This report cites findings and provides recommendations, as appropriate, related to each finding. 
Findings and recommendations throughout this report are sequentially numbered. A complete list 
of all these same findings and recommendations is provided in the Executive Summary.  

This document provides technical information about the way fire services are provided and legally 
regulated and the way the Department currently operates. This information is presented in the form 
of recommendations and policy choices for consideration by the Department’s leadership. 

Item 8 
Attachment #2 

41

73



Ross Valley Fire Department—Standards of Coverage Assessment 
Volume 1—Technical Report 

Section 1—Introduction and Background page 10 

The result is a solid technical foundation upon which to understand the advantages and 
disadvantages of the choices facing Department’s partners regarding the best way to provide fire 
services and, more specifically, at what level of desired outcome and expense. 

1.1.2 Limitations of Report 

In the United States, there are no federal or state regulations requiring a specific minimum level 
of fire services. Each community, through the public policy process, is expected to understand the 
local fire and non-fire risks and its ability to pay, and then choose its level of fire services. If fire 
services are provided at all, federal and state regulations specify how to do so safely for the public 
and for the personnel providing the services. 

While this report and technical explanation can provide a framework for the discussion of 
Department services, neither this report nor the Citygate team can make the final decisions, nor 
can they cost out every possible alternative in detail. Once final strategic choices receive policy 
approval, Department staff can conduct any final costing and fiscal analysis as typically completed 
in its normal operating and capital budget preparation cycle. 

1.2 PROJECT APPROACH AND SCOPE OF WORK 

1.2.1 Project Approach and Research Methods 

Citygate utilized multiple sources to gather, understand, and model information about the 
Department. Citygate requested a large amount of background data and information to better 
understand current costs, service levels, history of service level decisions, and other prior studies. 

In subsequent site visits, Citygate performed focused interviews of the Department’s project team 
members and other project stakeholders. Citygate reviewed demographic information about the 
Department’s service area and the potential for future growth and development. Citygate also 
obtained map and response data from which to model current and projected future fire service 
deployment, with the goal to identify the location(s) of stations and crew quantities required to 
best serve the Department as it currently exists and to facilitate future deployment planning. 

Once Citygate gained an understanding of the Department’s service area and its fire and non-fire 
risks, the Citygate team then developed a model of fire services that was tested against the travel 
time mapping and prior response data to ensure an appropriate fit. Citygate also evaluated future 
service area growth and service demand by risk types. This resulted in Citygate proposing an 
approach to both address current needs with effective and efficient use of existing resources and 
long-range needs. The result is a framework for enhancing Fire Department services while meeting 
reasonable community expectations and fiscal realities. 

Item 8 
Attachment #2 

42

74



Ross Valley Fire Department—Standards of Coverage Assessment 
Volume 1—Technical Report 

Section 1—Introduction and Background page 11 

1.2.2 Project Scope of Work 

Citygate’s approach to this Standards of Coverage assessment involved: 

 Reviewing information provided by the Department and the Town along with 
conducting stakeholder listening sessions with project stakeholders. 

 Utilizing a geographic mapping software program to model fire station travel time 
coverage. 

 Using an incident response time analysis program called StatsFD™ to review the 
statistics of prior incident performance, plotting the results on graphs and 
geographic mapping exhibits. 

 Identifying and evaluating future Department population and related development 
growth. 

 Projecting future service demand by risk type. 

 Identifying and evaluating potential alternate service delivery models. 

 Recommending appropriate risk-specific response performance goals. 

 Identifying a long-term strategy, including incremental short- and mid-term goals 
to achieve desired response performance objectives. 

 Utilizing the CFAI self-assessment criteria and other NFPA standards as the basis 
for evaluating the deployment services provided. 

1.3 COMMUNITIES SERVED OVERVIEW 

The Department is a consolidated department protecting lives, property, and the environments of 
Ross, San Anselmo, Sleepy Hollow, and Fairfax. Ross Valley fire departments trace their history 
to the early 1900s, with the formation of small volunteer fire departments in the newly formed 
towns of Ross, San Anselmo, and Fairfax. Built near the wildfire prone slopes of Mount Tamalpais, 
these communities were and continue to be acutely aware of the risk of fire. 

In 1982, the Fairfax Fire Department and the San Anselmo Fire Department joined forces and 
became known as the Ross Valley Fire Service. At the time Sleepy Hollow was receiving fire 
protection from the Town of San Anselmo through a contract for service and Sleepy Hollow chose 
not to become a member of the joint powers authority (JPA) while maintaining a non-voting seat 
on the Board. In 2010, the JPA was expanded to make Sleepy Hollow a full member of the JPA, 
ending its contract for service with the Town of San Anselmo. With the expansion of the JPA, the 
name was changed to the Ross Valley Fire Department. In 2012, Ross Valley Fire Department’s 
Board of Directors voted to consolidate fire services with the Town of Ross, incorporating the 

Item 8 
Attachment #2 

43

75



Ross Valley Fire Department—Standards of Coverage Assessment 
Volume 1—Technical Report 

Section 1—Introduction and Background page 12 

Town of Ross Fire Station 18 into the Ross Valley Fire Department. The current aggregate 
population of the Department’s service area is estimated to be 24,785. 

Figure 1—Fire Station Districts and General Geography 

 

FS20

FS21

FS19

FS18

Map #1: Service Area with Station Locations

Legend
JPA Member Jurisdictions

Fairfax

Ross

San Anselmo

Sleepy Hollow

JPA Fire Stations

FS18

FS19

FS20

FS21

Roads

Item 8 
Attachment #2 

44

76



Ross Valley Fire Department—Standards of Coverage Assessment 
Volume 1—Technical Report 

Section 1—Introduction and Background page 13 

1.4 FIRE DEPARTMENT OVERVIEW 

The Department’s service capacity for building fire, wildland fire, medical emergency, hazardous 
materials, and technical rescue risk consists of eight personnel on duty daily staffing four Type-1 
fire engines and one Duty Battalion Chief, operating from the Department’s four fire stations. In 
addition, Medic 18 with two paramedic/firefighters from the Ross Valley Paramedic Authority 
(RVPA) is located at Station 18 in the Town of Ross. 

All response personnel are trained to either the Emergency Medical Technician (EMT) level—
capable of providing Basic Life Support (BLS) pre-hospital emergency medical care—or EMT-
Paramedic (Paramedic) level—capable of providing Advanced Life Support (ALS) pre-hospital 
emergency medical care. Ground paramedic ambulance service is provided by the RVPA in the 
Department’s service area.  

Response personnel are also trained to the U.S. Department of Transportation Hazardous Material 
First Responder Operational (FRO) level to provide initial hazardous material incident assessment, 
hazard isolation, and for support for the Countywide hazardous material response team.  

The Department also operates a cross-staffed Office of Emergency Services (OES) Type-1 
(Structural Fire) engine from Station 20, a cross-staffed Type-3 (Wildland Fire) engine from 
Station 21, plus two reserve structure fire engines, one breathing air resupply unit, one hazardous 
materials response unit, and one utility truck. Technical rescue personnel and heavy rescue 
equipment would come from the County mutual aid system. 

1.4.1 Facilities and Resources 

The Department provides the aforementioned services from four fire stations as shown in Table 3.  

Table 3—Fire Department Facilities and Assigned Resources 

Station Location Primary Assigned Resources Minimum 
Staffing 

18 33 Sir Francis Drake Blvd., Ross Engine 2 

19 777 San Anselmo Ave., San 
Anselmo 

Engine 
Battalion Chief 

2 
1 

20 150 Butterfield Rd., San 
Anselmo Engine 2 

21 10 Park Road, Fairfax Engine 2 

Total Per Day 9 
Source: Fire Department 

Item 8 
Attachment #2 

45

77



This page was intentionally left blank 

Item 8 
Attachment #2 

46

78



Ross Valley Fire Department—Standards of Coverage Assessment 
Volume 1—Technical Report 

Section 2—Standards of Coverage Assessment page 15 

SECTION 2—STANDARDS OF COVERAGE ASSESSMENT 

This section provides a detailed, in-depth analysis of the Department’s current ability to deploy 
and mitigate emergency risks within its service area. The response analysis uses prior response 
statistics and geographic mapping to help the Department and the community to visualize what the 
current response system can and cannot deliver. 

2.1 STANDARDS OF COVERAGE PROCESS OVERVIEW 

The core methodology used by Citygate in the scope of its deployment analysis work is Standards 
of Cover, 5th and 6th editions, which is a systems-based approach to fire department deployment 
published by the Commission on Fire Accreditation International (CFAI). This approach uses local 
risk and demographics to determine the level of protection best fitting a community’s needs. 

The Standards of Coverage (SOC) method evaluates deployment as part of a fire agency’s self-
assessment process. This approach uses risk and community expectations on outcomes to help 
elected officials make informed decisions on fire and emergency medical services deployment 
levels. Citygate has adopted this multi-part systems approach as a comprehensive tool to evaluate 
fire station locations. Depending on the needs of the study, the depth of the components may vary. 

Such a systems approach to deployment, rather than a one-size-fits-all prescriptive formula, allows 
for local determination. In this comprehensive approach, each agency can match local needs (risks 
and expectations) with the costs of various levels of service. In an informed public policy debate, 
a governing board “purchases” the fire and emergency medical service levels the community needs 
and can afford.  

While working with multiple components to conduct a deployment analysis is admittedly more 
work, it yields a much better result than using only a singular component. For instance, if only 
travel time is considered, and frequency of multiple calls is not considered, the analysis could miss 
over-worked companies. If a risk assessment for deployment is not considered, and deployment is 
based only on travel time, a community could under-deploy to incidents. 

Table 4 describes the eight elements of the Standards of Coverage process.  

Item 8 
Attachment #2 

47

79



Ross Valley Fire Department—Standards of Coverage Assessment 
Volume 1—Technical Report 

Section 2—Standards of Coverage Assessment page 16 

Table 4—Standards of Coverage Process Elements 

SOC Element Description 

1 Existing Deployment Policies Reviewing the deployment goals the agency has in place 
today. 

2 Community Outcome Expectations Reviewing the expectations of the community for response 
to emergencies. 

3 Community Risk Assessment Reviewing the assets at risk in the community. (For this 
report, see Appendix A—Risk Assessment.) 

4 Critical Task Analysis 
Reviewing the tasks that must be performed and the 
personnel required to deliver the stated outcome 
expectation for the ERF. 

5 Distribution Analysis Reviewing the spacing of first-due resources (typically 
engines) to control routine emergencies. 

6 Concentration Analysis 
Reviewing the spacing of fire stations so that more 
complex emergencies can receive sufficient resources in a 
timely manner (First Alarm Assignment or the ERF). 

7 Reliability and Historical Response 
Effectiveness Analysis 

Using prior response statistics to determine the percent of 
compliance the existing system delivers. 

8 Overall Evaluation Proposing Standard of Coverage statements by risk type 
as necessary. 

Source: CFAI Standards of Cover, 5th Edition 

Fire service deployment, simply summarized, is about the speed and weight of the response. Speed 
refers to initial response (first-due), all-risk intervention resources (engines, trucks, and/or 
ambulances) strategically deployed across a jurisdiction for response to emergencies within a 
specified time interval to control routine to moderate emergencies without the incident escalating 
to greater size or severity. Weight refers to multiple-unit responses for more serious emergencies 
such as building fires, multiple-patient medical emergencies, vehicle collisions with extrication 
required, or technical rescue incidents. In these situations, a sufficient number of firefighters must 
be assembled within a reasonable time interval to safely control the emergency and prevent it from 
escalating into a more serious event. Table 5 illustrates this deployment paradigm. 

Item 8 
Attachment #2 

48

80



Ross Valley Fire Department—Standards of Coverage Assessment 
Volume 1—Technical Report 

Section 2—Standards of Coverage Assessment page 17 

Table 5—Fire Service Deployment Paradigm 

Element Description Purpose 

Speed of Response 
Travel time of initial response of all-
risk intervention units strategically 
located across a jurisdiction. 

Controlling routine to moderate 
emergencies without the incident 
escalating in size or complexity.  

Weight of Response 
Number of firefighters in a multiple-
unit response for serious 
emergencies. 

Assembling enough firefighters within 
a reasonable time frame to safely 
control a more complex emergency 
without escalation. 

Thus, smaller fires and less complex emergencies require a single-unit or two-unit response 
(engine and/or specialty resource) within a relatively short response time. Larger or more complex 
incidents require more units and personnel to control. In either case, if the crews arrive too late or 
the total number of personnel is too few for the emergency, they are drawn into an escalating and 
more dangerous situation. The science of fire crew deployment is to spread crews out across a 
community or jurisdiction for quick response to keep emergencies small with positive outcomes, 
without spreading resources so far apart that they cannot assemble quickly enough to effectively 
control more serious emergencies. 

2.2 CURRENT DEPLOYMENT 

Nationally recognized standards and best practices suggest 
using several incremental measurements to define response 
time. Ideally, the clock start time is when the 9-1-1 
dispatcher receives the emergency call. In some cases, the 
call must then be transferred to a separate dispatch center. In 
this setting, the response time clock starts when the dispatch 

center receives the 9-1-1 call into its computer-aided dispatch (CAD) system. Response time 
increments include dispatch center call processing, crew alerting and response unit boarding 
(commonly called turnout time), and actual driving (travel) time.  

The Department’s response time goals are somewhat dated and not completely up to best practice 
recommendations. They were most recently discussed in a 2005 Standards of Cover (adopted 
March of 2005) done by staff as a companion to the 2005 Strategic Plan: 

 First unit on-scene within total reflex time of 7-minutes to all areas served with a 
high potential for life loss, economic value or fire flow. Further 8-minutes for areas 
with a moderate or low potential for life loss, economic value or fire flow. Time 
was to be from the 911 call receipt to 90% of the incidents. 

SOC ELEMENT 1 OF 8 
EXISTING DEPLOYMENT 

POLICIES 

Item 8 
Attachment #2 

49

81



Ross Valley Fire Department—Standards of Coverage Assessment 
Volume 1—Technical Report 

Section 2—Standards of Coverage Assessment page 18 

 Confine 90% of all structure fires within 30-minutes of arrival after 911 call receipt 
to the area of involvement as reported by the first arriving fire units, using an 
Effective Response Force of 14 firefighters with a fire flow stream(s) application 
of 1,500 gallons per minute (GPM). 

 Maintain an emergency response capability, measured from 911 call receipt to 
arrival, that will ensure initiation of wildland structural fire protection with the first 
arriving unit within 8-minutes, and the first alarm companies within 12-minutes to 
90% of all responses in all areas. 

 Maintain an Emergency Medical Response of EMT-Ds,1 measured from 911 call 
receipt to arrival, within 8-minutes to 90% of the incidents in all areas served. 

Cities, towns, and counties in California have General Plans for land use regulation. One required 
chapter is a Safety Element. In reviewing the Ross Valley Fire Department’s partners General 
Plans, none of them mention response times. As would be expected in the Marin County region, 
all of the General Plans contain significant goals and policies for the mitigation of wildfire, 
including vegetation management, structure resistance to fires, and road access. 

The Department does not appear to regularly report measures of response time performance, per 
the 2005 criteria, to itself and its partner local governments. Internally, Service Level Objectives 
were reviewed on a regular basis until 2013. 

Having adopted performance measures pertaining to all types of risks beside fire and EMS, such 
as hazardous materials and technical rescues, is considered a best practice today. The Department 
does have a service level history that can be documented in retrospective response times, number 
of response companies, and minimum staffing.  

Currently, National Fire Protection Association (NFPA) Standard 1710,2 a recommended 
deployment standard for career fire departments in urban/suburban areas, recommends initial 
(first-due) intervention unit arrival within 4:00 minutes travel time and recommends arrival of all 
the resources comprising the multiple-unit First Alarm within 8:00 minutes travel time, at 90 
percent or better reliability.  

As the Department’s 2005 goals properly cited, response time begins with the receipt of the 9-1-1 
call. The most recent published best practices by the NFPA for dispatching have increased the 
dispatch processing time up to 90 seconds and, if there are language barriers, 120 seconds. Further, 

 

1 Emergency Medical Technician – Defibrillator capable.  
2 NFPA 1710 – Standard for the Organization and Deployment of Fire Suppression Operations, Emergency Medical 

Operations, and Special Operations to the Public by Career Fire Departments (2016 Edition). 

Item 8 
Attachment #2 

50

82



Ross Valley Fire Department—Standards of Coverage Assessment 
Volume 1—Technical Report 

Section 2—Standards of Coverage Assessment page 19 

for crew turnout time, 60-80 seconds is recommended depending on the type of protective clothing 
that has to be donned. 

If the travel time measures recommended by the NFPA (and Citygate) are added to dispatch 
processing and crew turnout times recommended by Citygate and best practices, then a realistic 
90 percent first unit arrival goal is now 7:30 minutes from the time of the Marin County Sheriff’s 
Dispatch Center (Comm Center) receiving the call. This is comprised of 90 seconds dispatch + 
2:00 minutes crew turnout + 4:00 minutes travel. 

Finding #1: The Department has legacy response performance objectives 
partially consistent with best practice recommendations as 
published by the Commission on Fire Accreditation International. 
However, they should be updated to reflect current risks and desired 
outcomes for all types of emergency risk outcomes. 

2.2.1 Current Deployment Model 

Resources and Staffing 

The Department’s current deployment model consists of four engines staffed with a minimum of 
two personnel each and one Battalion Chief, for a total daily minimum year-round continuous 
staffing of at least 9 personnel operating from four fire stations, plus a two-firefighter/paramedic 
ambulance from the Ross Valley Paramedic Authority (RVPA). The Department has automatic 
and mutual aid agreements with all the fire agencies in Marin County and is also a signatory to the 
State of California Mutual Aid Agreements.  

Response Plan 

The Department is an all-risk fire agency providing the people it protects with services that include 
fire suppression, pre-hospital paramedic (ALS) EMS, hazardous material and technical rescue 
response, and other non-emergency services, including fire prevention, community safety 
education, and other related services.  

Given these risks, the Department utilizes a tiered response plan calling for different types and 
numbers of resources depending on incident/risk type. The Sheriff’s Dispatch Center (Comm 
Center) process selects and dispatches the closest and most appropriate resource types pursuant to 
the Department’s response plan, as shown in Table 6. 

Item 8 
Attachment #2 

51

83



Ross Valley Fire Department—Standards of Coverage Assessment 
Volume 1—Technical Report 

Section 2—Standards of Coverage Assessment page 20 

Table 6—Response Plan by Incident Type 

Incident Type Resources Dispatched Total Personnel* 

Single-Patient EMS 1 Engine + 1 Paramedic Ambulance 4 

Vehicle Fire 1 Engine  2 

Building Fire, Initial 
Response** 

3 Engines, 1 Ladder Truck, 1 Paramedic 
Ambulance, 1 Battalion Chief 12 

Wildland Fire 4 Engines or Wildland Engines, 1 Paramedic 
Ambulance, 1 Battalion Chief 

12 

Rescue 3 Engines, 1 Ladder Truck, 1 Paramedic 
Ambulance, 1 Battalion Chief 12 

Hazardous Material 4 Engines, 1 Paramedic Ambulance, 1 Battalion 
Chief 

12 

* Personnel were calculated as follows: engines = 2 personnel (except if Engine 17 (Kentfield) staffs 3 personnel); 
ladder truck = 3 personnel from outside the Department; paramedic ambulance = 2 personnel.  

** Confirmed serious fires receive a second Battalion Chief and a fourth engine 
Source: Fire Department 

Finding #2: The Department has a standard response plan that considers risk and 
establishes an appropriate initial response for each incident type. 
Each type of call for service receives the combination of engines, 
specialty units, and command officers customarily needed to begin 
to control that type of incident based on Department experience. 

2.3 OUTCOME EXPECTATIONS 

The Standards of Coverage process begins by reviewing 
existing emergency services outcome expectations. This 
includes determining for what purpose the response system 
exists and whether the governing body has adopted any 
response performance measures. If so, the time measures 

used must be understood and good data must be available. 

Current national best practice is to measure percent completion of a goal (e.g., 90 percent of 
responses) instead of an average measure. Mathematically, this is called a fractile measure.3 This 
is because measuring the average only identifies the central or middle point of response time 

 

3 A fractile is that point below which a stated fraction of the values lies. The fraction is often given in percent; the 
term percentile may then be used. 

SOC ELEMENT 2 OF 8 
COMMUNITY OUTCOME 

EXPECTATIONS 

Item 8 
Attachment #2 

52

84



Ross Valley Fire Department—Standards of Coverage Assessment 
Volume 1—Technical Report 

Section 2—Standards of Coverage Assessment page 21 

performance for all calls for service in the data set. Using an average makes it impossible to know 
how many incidents had response times that were way above the average or just above.  

For example, Figure 2 shows response times for a fictitious fire department. This agency is small 
and receives 20 calls for service each month. Each response time has been plotted on the graph 
from shortest response time to longest response time.  

Figure 2 shows that the average response time is 8.7 minutes. However, the average response time 
fails to properly account for four calls for service with response times far exceeding a threshold in 
which positive outcomes could be expected. In fact, it is evident in Figure 2 that 20 percent of 
responses are far too slow and that this jurisdiction has a potential life-threatening service delivery 
problem. Average response time as a measurement tool for fire services is simply not sufficient. 
This is a significant issue in larger cities if hundreds or thousands of calls are answered far beyond 
the average point.  

By using the fractile measurement with 90 percent of responses in mind, this small jurisdiction has 
a response time of 18:00 minutes, 90 percent of the time. This fractile measurement is far more 
accurate at reflecting the service delivery situation of this small agency. 

Figure 2—Fractile versus Average Response Time Measurements 

 

More importantly, within the Standards of Coverage process, positive outcomes are the goal, and 
from that crew size and response time can be calculated to allow appropriate fire station spacing 
(distribution and concentration). Emergency medical incidents include situations with the most 

Item 8 
Attachment #2 

53

85



Ross Valley Fire Department—Standards of Coverage Assessment 
Volume 1—Technical Report 

Section 2—Standards of Coverage Assessment page 22 

severe time constraints. The brain can only survive 4:00 to 6:00 minutes without oxygen. Cardiac 
arrest and other events can cause oxygen deprivation to the brain. Cardiac arrests make up a small 
percentage; drowning, choking, trauma constrictions, or other similar events have the same effect. 
In a building fire, a small incipient fire can grow to involve the entire room in a 6:00- to 8:00-
minute time frame. If fire service response is to achieve positive outcomes in severe emergency 
medical situations and incipient fire situations, all responding crews must arrive, assess the 
situation, and deploy effective measures before brain death occurs or the fire spreads beyond the 
room of origin. 

Thus, from the time of 9-1-1 receiving the call, an effective deployment system is beginning to 
manage the problem within a 7:00- to 8:00-minute total response time. This is right at the point 
that brain death is becoming irreversible and the fire has grown to the point of leaving the room of 
origin and becoming very serious. Thus, most urban/suburban population density communities 
desire a first-due response goal that is within a range to give the situation hope for a positive 
outcome. It is important to note the fire or medical emergency continues to deteriorate from the 
time of inception, not the time the fire engine starts to drive the response route. Ideally, the 
emergency is noticed immediately and the 9-1-1 system is activated promptly. This step of 
awareness—calling 9-1-1 and giving the dispatcher accurate information—takes, in the best of 
circumstances, 1:00 minute. Then crew notification and travel time take additional minutes. Upon 
arrival, the crew must approach the patient or emergency, assess the situation, and deploy its skills 
and tools appropriately. Even in easy-to-access situations, this step can take 2:00 minutes or more. 
This time frame may be increased considerably due to long driveways, apartment buildings with 
limited access, multiple-story apartments or office complexes, or shopping center buildings.  

Unfortunately, there are times when the emergency has become too severe, even before the 9-1-1 
notification and/or fire department response, for the responding crew to reverse; however, when 
an appropriate response time policy is combined with a well-designed deployment system, then 
only anomalies like bad weather, poor traffic conditions, or multiple emergencies slow the 
response system down. Consequently, a properly designed system will give citizens the hope of a 
positive outcome for their tax dollar expenditure. 

For this report, total response time is the sum of Marin County Sheriff’s Dispatch Center (Comm 
Center) dispatch processing plus crew turnout, and road travel time steps. This is consistent with 
CFAI and NFPA and Citygate best practice recommendations.  

Item 8 
Attachment #2 

54

86



Ross Valley Fire Department—Standards of Coverage Assessment 
Volume 1—Technical Report 

Section 2—Standards of Coverage Assessment page 23 

2.4 COMMUNITY RISK ASSESSMENT 

The third element of the SOC process is a community risk 
assessment. Within the context of an SOC study, the 
objectives of a community risk assessment are to: 

 Identify the values at risk to be protected within the 
community or service area. 

 Identify the specific hazards with the potential to adversely impact the community 
or service area. 

 Quantify the overall risk associated with each hazard. 

 Establish a foundation for current/future deployment decisions and risk-
reduction/hazard mitigation planning and evaluation. 

A hazard is broadly defined as a situation or condition that can cause or contribute to harm. 
Examples include fire, medical emergency, vehicle collision, earthquake, flood, etc. Risk is 
broadly defined as the probability of hazard occurrence in combination with the likely severity of 
resultant impacts to people, property, and the community as a whole. 

2.4.1 Risk Assessment Methodology 

The methodology employed by Citygate to assess community risks as an integral element of an 
SOC study incorporates the following elements: 

 Identification of geographic planning sub-zones (risk zones) appropriate to the 
community or jurisdiction. 

 Identification and quantification (to the extent data is available) of the specific 
values at risk to various hazards within the community or service area. 

 Identification of the fire and non-fire hazards to be evaluated. 

 Determination of the probability of occurrence for each hazard. 

 Identification and evaluation of multiple relevant impact severity factors for each 
hazard by planning zone using agency/jurisdiction-specific data and information.  

 Quantification of overall risk for each hazard based on probability of occurrence in 
combination with probable impact severity as shown in Figure 3. 

SOC ELEMENT 3 OF 8 
COMMUNITY RISK 

ASSESSMENT 

Item 8 
Attachment #2 

55

87



Ross Valley Fire Department—Standards of Coverage Assessment 
Volume 1—Technical Report 

Section 2—Standards of Coverage Assessment page 24 

Figure 3—Overall Risk 

 

2.4.2 Risk Assessment Summary 

Citygate’s comprehensive risk assessment is contained in Appendix A of this study. Citygate’s 
evaluation of the values at risk and hazards likely to impact the Ross Valley Fire Department 
service area yields the following:  

1. The Department serves a diverse population, with densities ranging from less than 
500 people per square mile to approximately 5,000 per square mile, over a varied 
land use pattern. 

2. The Department’s service area population is projected to grow by only 7.7 percent 
over the next 11 years to 2030, or an average annual growth of approximately 0.7 
percent.  

3. The service area includes nearly 11,000 housing units, as well as a large inventory 
of non-residential occupancies. 

4. Marin County has a mass emergency notification system to effectively 
communicate emergency information to the public in a timely manner. 

5. The Department’s overall risk for five hazards related to emergency services 
provided range from Low to High, as summarized in Table 7. 

Pr
ob

ab
ili

ty
 

Impact Severity 

Overall Risk 

Item 8 
Attachment #2 

56

88



Ross Valley Fire Department—Standards of Coverage Assessment 
Volume 1—Technical Report 

Section 2—Standards of Coverage Assessment page 25 

The values in the summary table do not place a severity measure on any one risk type; they reflect 
a composite formula of the probability of occurrence in combination with probable impact 
severity. For example, while the Department’s service area has significant wildland fire risks, the 
Department experienced only 19 vegetation fires over this study’s two-year period, comprising 
0.34 percent of total service demand. However, EMS is a daily occurrence, ranging from low- to 
high-risk individual medical events. 

Table 7—Overall Risk by Hazard 

Hazard 
Planning Zone 

Sta. 18 Sta. 19 Sta. 20 Sta. 21 

Building Fire Low Low Moderate Moderate 

Vegetation Fire Low Low Low Low 

Medical Emergency High High High High 

Hazardous Material Moderate Moderate Moderate Moderate 

Technical Rescue Low Low Low Low 

2.5 CRITICAL TASK TIME MEASURES—WHAT MUST BE DONE OVER WHAT TIME FRAME TO 
ACHIEVE THE STATED OUTCOME EXPECTATION? 

Standards of Coverage (SOC) studies use critical task 
information to determine the number of firefighters needed 
within a timeframe to achieve desired objectives on fire and 
emergency medical incidents. Table 8 and Table 9 illustrate 
critical tasks typical of building fire and medical emergency 

incidents, including the minimum number of personnel required to complete each task. These 
tables are composites from Citygate clients in urban/suburban departments similar to Ross Valley, 
but with the more typical unit staffing of three personnel per engine and two personnel per 
ambulance. It is important to understand the following relative to these tables: 

 It can take a considerable amount of time after a task is ordered by command to 
complete the task and arrive at the desired outcome.  

 Task completion time is usually a function of the number of personnel that are 
simultaneously available. The fewer firefighters available, the longer some tasks 
will take to complete. Conversely, with more firefighters available, some tasks are 
completed concurrently.  

SOC ELEMENT 4 OF 8 
CRITICAL TASK TIME 

STUDY 

Item 8 
Attachment #2 

57

89



Ross Valley Fire Department—Standards of Coverage Assessment 
Volume 1—Technical Report 

Section 2—Standards of Coverage Assessment page 26 

 Some tasks must be conducted by a minimum of two firefighters to comply with 
safety regulations. For example, two firefighters are required to search a smoke-
filled room for a victim.  

 Given the two-firefighter staffing on the Department units, the time to completion 
will be longer, at times significantly depending on task complexity or a hard to 
access patient or fire location. 

2.5.1 Critical Firefighting Tasks 

Table 8 illustrates the critical tasks required to control a typical single-family dwelling fire with 
six response units (engines/chief), for a total Effective Response Force of 16 personnel, where the 
Ross Valley Fire Department initially sends 12. A confirmed serious fire additionally receives a 
second Battalion Chief and a fourth engine raising this to 15 personnel. However, in many 
locations these additional units come from much farther away. These tasks are taken from typical 
fire departments’ operational procedures, which are consistent with the customary findings of other 
agencies using the Standards of Coverage process. No conditions exist to override the 
Occupational Safety and Health Administration two-in/two-out safety policy, which requires that 
firefighters enter Immediately Dangerous to Life and Health atmospheres, such as building fires, 
in teams of two, while two more firefighters are outside and immediately ready to rescue them 
should trouble arise. 

Scenario: Simulated approximately 2,000 square-foot, two-story residential fire with unknown 
rescue situation. Responding companies receive dispatch information typical for a witnessed fire. 
Upon arrival, they find approximately 50 percent of the second floor involved in fire. 

Item 8 
Attachment #2 

58

90



Ross Valley Fire Department—Standards of Coverage Assessment 
Volume 1—Technical Report 

Section 2—Standards of Coverage Assessment page 27 

Table 8—First Alarm Residential Fire Critical Tasks – 16 Personnel 

Critical Task Description Personnel 
Required  

1st-Due Engine (3 personnel) 
1 Conditions report 1 

2 Establish supply line to hydrant 2 
3 Deploy initial fire attack line to point of building access 1–2 
4 Operate pump and charge attack line 1 

5 Establish incident command 1 
6 Conduct primary search 2 

2nd-Due Engine (3 personnel) 
7 If necessary, establish supply line to hydrant 1–2 
8 Deploy a backup attack line  1–2 
9 Establish Initial Rapid Intervention Crew (IRIC) 2 

1st-Due Truck (3 personnel) 
10 Conduct initial search and rescue if not already completed 2 
11 Deploy ground ladders to roof 1–2 

12 Establish horizontal or vertical building ventilation 1–2 
13 Open concealed spaces as required 2 

Chief Officer 
14 Transfer of incident command 2 

15 Establish exterior command and scene safety 1 
3rd Due Engine and Rescue Unit (3 personnel each) 

16 Establish Initial Rapid Intervention Crew (IRIC) 3 
17 Secure utilities 2 
18 Deploy second attack line as needed 2 

19 Conduct secondary search  2 

The duties in Table 8, grouped together, form an Effective Response Force (ERF) or First Alarm 
Assignment. These distinct tasks must be performed to effectively achieve the desired outcome; 
arriving on scene does not stop the emergency from escalating. While firefighters accomplish these 

Item 8 
Attachment #2 

59

91



Ross Valley Fire Department—Standards of Coverage Assessment 
Volume 1—Technical Report 

Section 2—Standards of Coverage Assessment page 28 

tasks, the incident progression clock keeps running. These tasks are also consistent with nationally 
published research studies.4 

Fire in a building can double in size during its free-burn period before fire suppression is initiated. 
Many studies have shown that a small fire can spread to engulf an entire room in less than 4:00 to 
5:00 minutes after free burning has started. Once the room is completely superheated and involved 
in fire (known as flashover), the fire will spread quickly throughout the structure and into the attic 
and walls. For this reason, it is imperative that fire suppression and search/rescue operations 
commence before the flashover point occurs if the outcome goal is to keep the fire damage in or 
near the room of origin. In addition, flashover presents a life-threatening situation to both 
firefighters and any occupants of the building. 

2.5.2 Critical Medical Emergency Tasks 

The Department responds to more than 1,407 EMS incidents annually, including vehicle accidents, 
strokes, heart attacks, difficulty breathing, falls, childbirths, and other medical emergencies.  

For comparison, Table 9 summarizes the critical tasks required for a cardiac arrest patient, typically 
with at least five personnel responding, where the Department sends four.  

 
4 Report on Residential Fireground Field Experiments, National Institute of Standards and Technology Technical 
Note 1661, April 2010. NFPA 1710, Standard for the Organization and Deployment of Fire Suppression Operations, 
Emergency Medical Operations, and Special Operations to the Public by Career Fire Departments, 2016 Edition. 

Item 8 
Attachment #2 

60

92



Ross Valley Fire Department—Standards of Coverage Assessment 
Volume 1—Technical Report 

Section 2—Standards of Coverage Assessment page 29 

Table 9—Cardiac Arrest Critical Tasks – Three Engine Personnel + Two Personnel ALS 
Ambulance 

Critical Task Personnel 
Required Critical Task Description 

1 Chest compressions  1–2 Compression of chest to circulate blood 

2 Ventilate/oxygenate 1–2 Mouth-to-mouth, bag-valve-mask, apply O2 

3 Airway control 1–2 Manual techniques/intubation/cricothyroidomy 

4 Defibrillate 1–2 Electrical defibrillation of dysrhythmia 

5 Establish I.V. 1–2 Peripheral or central intravenous access 

6 Control hemorrhage 1–2 Direct pressure, pressure bandage, tourniquet 

7 Splint fractures 2–3 Manual, board splint, HARE traction, spine 

8 Interpret ECG 2 Identify type and treat dysrhythmia 

9 Administer drugs 2 Administer appropriate pharmacological agents 

10 Spinal immobilization 2–5 Prevent or limit paralysis to extremities 

11 Extricate patient 3–4 Remove patient from vehicle, entrapment 

12 Patient charting 1–2 Record vitals, treatments administered, etc. 

13 Hospital communication 1–2 Receive treatment orders from physician 

14 Treat en route to hospital 2–3 Continue to treat/monitor/transport patient 

2.5.3 Critical Task Analysis and Effective Response Force Size 

What does a deployment study derive from a critical task analysis? The time required to complete 
the critical tasks necessary to stop the escalation of an emergency (as shown in Table 8 and Table 
9) must be compared to outcomes. As shown in nationally published fire service time vs. 
temperature tables, after approximately 4:00 to 5:00 minutes of free burning a room fire will 
escalate to the point of flashover. At this point, the entire room is engulfed in fire, the entire 
building becomes threatened, and human survival near or in the room of fire origin becomes 
impossible. Additionally, brain death begins to occur within 4:00 to 6:00 minutes of the heart 
stopping. Thus, the ERF must arrive in time to prevent these emergency events from becoming 
worse. 

The Department’s daily staffing plus automatic aid is sufficient to deliver a single ERF of 12 
personnel to a building fire—if they can arrive in time, which the statistical analysis of this report 
will discuss in depth. Mitigating an emergency event is a team effort once the units have arrived. 
This refers to the weight of response analogy; if too few personnel arrive too slowly, then the 
emergency will escalate instead of improving. The outcome times, of course, will be longer and 
yield less desirable results if the arriving force is later or smaller. 

Item 8 
Attachment #2 

61

93



Ross Valley Fire Department—Standards of Coverage Assessment 
Volume 1—Technical Report 

Section 2—Standards of Coverage Assessment page 30 

The quantity of staffing and the arrival timeframe can be critical in a serious fire. Fires in older 
and/or multiple-story buildings could well require the initial firefighters needing to rescue trapped 
or immobile occupants. If the ERF is too small, rescue and firefighting operations cannot be 
conducted simultaneously. 

Fires and complex medical incidents require that additional units arrive in time to complete an 
effective intervention. Time is one factor that comes from proper station placement. Good 
performance also comes from adequate staffing and training. But where fire stations are spaced 
too far apart, and one unit must cover another unit’s area or multiple units are needed, these units 
can be too far away and the emergency will escalate and/or result in less-than-desirable outcomes. 

Previous critical task studies conducted by Citygate, the National Institute of Standards,5 and 
NFPA Standard 1710 find that all units need to arrive with 15+ firefighters within 11:30 minutes 
(from the time of 9-1-1 call) at a building fire to be able to simultaneously and effectively perform 
the tasks of rescue, fire suppression, and ventilation.  

A question one might ask is, “If fewer firefighters arrive, such as does occur in the Ross Valley 
Department, what from the list of tasks mentioned would not be completed?” This is also critical 
as given the two-firefighter staffing, the initial force is a smaller count as it takes the third- and 
fourth-due units much longer to arrive. Most likely, the search team would be delayed, as would 
ventilation. The attack lines would only consist of two firefighters, which does not allow for rapid 
movement of the hose line above the first floor in a multiple-story building. Rescue is conducted 
with at least two-person teams; thus, when rescue is essential, other tasks are not completed in a 
simultaneous, timely manner. Effective deployment is about the speed (travel time) and the weight 
(number of firefighters) of the response. 

Sixteen initial personnel could handle a moderate-risk, confined residential fire; however, even an 
ERF of 16 personnel will be seriously slowed if the fire is above the first floor in a low-rise 
apartment building or commercial/industrial building. This is where the capability to add 
additional personnel and resources to the standard response becomes critical. 

The Department has to initially dispatch extra units via mutual aid to deliver more personnel, given 
the two-firefighter per unit staffing, but doing so to deliver the “weight of attack” comes at two 
disadvantages—first, it takes longer (speed of attack) and second, more units are out of service 
should another simultaneous incident occur. 

Given that the Department’s ERF plan delivers 12 personnel to a moderate-risk building fire, it 
reflects a goal to confine serious building fires to the building of origin, not the room of origin or 

 
5 Report on Residential Fireground Field Experiments, National Institute of Standards and Technology Technical 
Note #1661, April 2010. 

Item 8 
Attachment #2 

62

94



Ross Valley Fire Department—Standards of Coverage Assessment 
Volume 1—Technical Report 

Section 2—Standards of Coverage Assessment page 31 

to prevent the spread of fire to adjoining buildings or wildland areas. This is a lesser desired 
outcome for urban/suburban areas, where the goal is to confine a building fire to or very near to 
the room of origin. That goal requires more firefighters more quickly.  

The Department’s current physical response to building fires is, in effect, its de-facto deployment 
measure to its populated areas—if those areas are within a reasonable travel time from a fire 
station. Thus, this becomes the baseline policy for the deployment of firefighters. 

2.6 DISTRIBUTION AND CONCENTRATION STUDIES—HOW THE LOCATION OF FIRST-DUE AND 
FIRST ALARM RESOURCES AFFECTS EMERGENCY INCIDENT OUTCOMES 

The Department is served today by four fire stations 
deploying four engine companies and one Battalion Chief 
as the duty Incident Commander. It is appropriate to 
understand using geographic mapping tools what the 
existing stations do and do not cover for both risks to be 
protected and the geography that units must travel over. 

In brief, there are two geographic perspectives to fire 
station deployment: 

 Distribution – the spacing of first-due fire units to control routine emergencies 
before they escalate and require additional resources. 

 Concentration – the spacing of fire stations sufficiently close to each other so that 
more complex emergency incidents can receive sufficient resources from multiple 
fire stations quickly. As indicated, this is known as the Effective Response Force, 
or, more commonly, the First Alarm Assignment—the collection of a sufficient 
number of firefighters on scene, delivered within the concentration time goal to 
stop the escalation of the problem. 

To analyze first-due fire unit risks to be protected and coverage, Citygate used a geographic 
mapping tool to produce the maps described in the following subsection, which can be found in 
Volume 2.  

2.6.1 Deployment Baselines 

Map #1 – General Geography, Station Locations, and Response Resource Types 

Map #1 shows the Department boundary, communities, and fire station service areas. This is a 
reference map for other maps that follow.  

SOC ELEMENT 5 OF 8 
DISTRIBUTION STUDY 

SOC ELEMENT 6 OF 8 
CONCENTRATION STUDY 

Item 8 
Attachment #2 

63

95



Ross Valley Fire Department—Standards of Coverage Assessment 
Volume 1—Technical Report 

Section 2—Standards of Coverage Assessment page 32 

Map #2a – Risk Assessment: Planning Zones 

Map #2a shows the four risk planning zones, as recommended by the CFAI, used for this study, 
which are the same as each station’s initial (first-due) response area.  

Map #2b – Risk Assessment: High Risk Occupancies 

Map #2b displays the locations of the higher-risk building occupancies within the Department, as 
defined by the CFAI. These building occupancies typically require a larger initial ERF (staffing) 
due to the higher risks associated with these specific occupancies. It is apparent that there are high-
risk occupancies in every planning zone. 

Map #2c – Risk Assessment: Hazardous Materials Use/Storage Occupancies 

Map #2c displays the locations of the higher-risk commercial building occupancies that use and/or 
store regulated Hazardous Materials. The regulations for these uses are enforced by the County 
Department of Public Works as the State-designated Certified Unified Program Agency (CUPA) 
for the County. 

Map #2d – Risk Assessment: Wildland Fire Severity Zones 

Map #2d displays the California Department of Forestry and Fire Protection (CAL FIRE) State 
Responsibility Areas for wildland fire protection, where the state has primary fiscal responsibility 
for wildfires through the Marin County Fire Department. 

Map #2e – Risk Assessment: Lower Fire Flow (Water) Locations 

Map #2e displays the locations of fire hydrants on older, smaller water mains that can only provide 
up to 500 or 1,000 gallons per minute of firefighting flow. Most newer communities can provide 
neighborhood fire flows substantially higher than this and most current fire department pumpers 
can easily pump 1,500-2,000 gallons per minute. Larger commercial building fires can require 
2,000 to 5,000 gallons per minute, provided by several pumpers and hydrants. 

Map #3 – Distribution: First-Due Travel Distance Coverage 

This map displays the Insurance Service Office (ISO) recommendation that fire stations in 
developed areas cover a 1.5-mile distance response area. Depending on a jurisdiction’s road 
network, the 1.5-mile measure usually equates to a 3:30- to 4:00-minute travel time. Thus the 1.5-
mile measure is a reasonable indicator of station spacing and overlap. This map shows first-due 
unit coverage distance of 1.5 miles across the public road network from the Department’s current 
fire station locations. The 1.5-mile coverage goes from very light meaning a single unit to very 
dark where three units overlap. The coverage also assumes all units are in station and available for 
response.  

Item 8 
Attachment #2 

64

96



Ross Valley Fire Department—Standards of Coverage Assessment 
Volume 1—Technical Report 

Section 2—Standards of Coverage Assessment page 33 

The purpose of response coverage modeling is to determine response time coverage across a 
jurisdiction’s geography and station locations. This geo-mapping design is then validated against 
dispatch time data in the next section of this study to reflect actual response times. There should 
be some overlap between station areas so that a second-due unit can have a chance of an acceptable 
response time when it responds to a call in a different station’s first-due response area. As can be 
seen, there is some overlap coverage in the more built-up areas of the Department. 

Map #4 – Medic 18 Ambulance Coverage Areas 

This map displays the service area assigned to Medic 18, where the goal is to cover the most 
populated areas within 8:00 minutes travel time. This map shows the importance for Medic 18 to 
be centrally located to cover from Greenbrae west to Sleep Hollow and Fairfax. 

Map #5 – All Incident Locations 

Map #5 shows the location of all incidents from 2017 through 2018. It is apparent that incidents 
occur in most all areas of the Department and to other areas for mutual aid.  

Map #6 – Emergency Medical Services and Rescue Incident Locations 

Map #9 illustrates only the emergency medical and rescue incident locations over the last two 
years. With the majority of the calls for service being medical emergencies, virtually all areas of 
the Department need pre-hospital emergency medical services. The greatest population density 
also incurs the highest EMS demand patterns. Medic 18 responses are not located on this map. 

Map #7 – All Fire Locations 

This map identifies the location of all fires within the Department over the last two years. All fires 
include any type of fire call, from vehicle to dumpster to building. There are obviously fewer fires 
than medical or rescue calls. Even given this, it is evident that fires occur in all fire station areas. 

Map #8 – Structure Fire Locations 

Map #8 displays the location of the structure fire incidents over the last two years. While the 
number of structure fires is a smaller subset of total fires, there are two meaningful findings from 
this map. First, there are structure fires in every fire station area, and second, there are a relatively 
small number of building fires in the Department overall, which in Citygate’s experience is 
consistent with other similar smaller communities in the western United States. 

Finding #3: The mapping analysis shows the need for neighborhood-based first 
response units for fire and EMS incidents.  

 

Item 8 
Attachment #2 

65

97



Ross Valley Fire Department—Standards of Coverage Assessment 
Volume 1—Technical Report 

Section 2—Standards of Coverage Assessment page 34

Finding #4: The risk assessment maps show there are risks to be protected from 
fire besides just single-family homes, and some areas have lower 
fire flow capacity for serious or conflagration size fires. 

2.7 STATISTICAL ANALYSIS 

The map sets described in Section 2.6 above and presented 
in Volume 2 show the ideal situation for response times and 
the response effectiveness given perfect conditions with no 
competing calls, traffic congestion, units out of place, or 
simultaneous calls for service. Examination of the actual 
response time data provides a picture of actual response 

performance with simultaneous calls, rush hour traffic congestion, units out of position, and 
delayed travel time for events such as periods of severe weather. 

The following subsections provide summary statistical information regarding the Department and 
its services.  

2.7.1 Demand for Service 

The Department provided both federal National Fire Reporting System (NFIRS) version 5 incident 
and computer-aided dispatch (CAD) apparatus response data for two complete years from January 
1, 2017 through December 31, 2018. 

In 2018, the Department responded to 2,685 incidents, which is a daily demand of 7.36 incidents. 
During this same period, there were 7,503 individual apparatus responses. This means there was 
an average of 2.8 apparatus responses per incident, which is considered high and is likely due to 
the low staffing levels on each apparatus. The number of incidents has been calculated from NFIRS 
5 records furnished for 2017 and 2018. According to these records, the Department experienced a 
decline in the number of incidents from 2017 through 2018. 

SOC ELEMENT 7 OF 8 
RELIABILITY & HISTORICAL
RESPONSE EFFECTIVENESS

STUDIES 

Item 8 
Attachment #2 

66

98



Ross Valley Fire Department—Standards of Coverage Assessment 
Volume 1—Technical Report 

Section 2—Standards of Coverage Assessment page 35 

Figure 4—Annual Service Demand by Year 

 

Figure 5 illustrates the number of incidents by incident type. While fire and EMS incidents 
remained relatively constant, there was a decrease in the number of other incident types. A 
reduction in the number of “other” incidents was most responsible for the decline in the total 
number of incidents. 

Figure 5—Number of Incidents by Year – All Incident Types 

 

Item 8 
Attachment #2 

67

99



Ross Valley Fire Department—Standards of Coverage Assessment 
Volume 1—Technical Report 

Section 2—Standards of Coverage Assessment page 36

Figure 6 shows service demand by hour of day, illustrating that calls for service occur at every 
hour of the day and night, requiring fire and EMS response capability 24 hours per day, every day 
of the year. There was also a pattern of increased activity in 2017 during the morning, afternoon, 
and early evening hours. 

Figure 6—Service Demand by Hour of Day and Year 

Finding #5: The Department’s service demand is consistent, indicating the need 
for a 24-hours-per-day, seven-days-per-week fire and EMS 
emergency response system. 

Item 8 
Attachment #2 

68

100



Ross Valley Fire Department—Standards of Coverage Assessment 
Volume 1—Technical Report 

Section 2—Standards of Coverage Assessment page 37

The next figure illustrates the number of incidents by station area in 2018. Station 21 had the 
highest volume of activity. 

Figure 7—Number of Incidents by Station – 2018 

Table 10 lists the activity rankings of incidents by incident quantity, for more than 15 occurrences 
in a year. Note the strong ranking for EMS incidents.  

Table 10—Incidents: Quantity by Incident Type – 2018 

Incident Type 2018 

321 EMS call, excluding vehicle accident with injury 1,343 

611 Dispatched and canceled en route 232 

553 Public service 197 

554 Assist invalid 135 

651 Smoke scare, odor of smoke 126 

550 Public service assistance, other 75 

322 Vehicle accident with injuries 51 

743 Smoke detector activation, no fire – unintentional 49 

700 False alarm or false call, other 41 

745 Alarm system sounded, no fire – unintentional 35 

412 Gas leak (natural gas or LPG) 32 

444 Power line down 31 

Item 8 
Attachment #2 

69

101



Ross Valley Fire Department—Standards of Coverage Assessment 
Volume 1—Technical Report 

Section 2—Standards of Coverage Assessment page 38 

Incident Type 2018 

600 Good intent call, other 30 

622 No incident found on arrival of incident address 22 

733 Smoke detector activation due to malfunction 20 

740 Unintentional transmission of alarm, other 17 

324 Motor vehicle accident no injuries 16 

500 Service call, other 16 

111 Building fire 16 

735 Alarm system sounded due to malfunction 16 

736 CO detector activation due to malfunction 15 

Table 11 illustrates the ranking of incidents by property types. The highest rankings for incidents 
by property type are residential dwellings. Only those property types with 25 or more incidents are 
shown. 

Table 11—Incidents: Quantity by Property Use – 2018 

Property Use (NFIRS Code/Description) 2018 

419 1 or 2 family dwelling 1,338 

429 Multifamily dwellings 271 

962 Residential street, road or residential driveway 218 

960 Street, other 157 

963 Street or road in commercial area 80 

900 Outside or special property, other 72 

311 24-hour care nursing homes, 4 or more persons 58 

215 High school/junior high school/middle school 39 

965 Vehicle parking area 34 

161 Restaurant or cafeteria 29 

888 Fire station 29 

519 Food and beverage sales, grocery store 26 

931 Open land or field 25 

2.7.2 Simultaneous Emergency Incident Activity 

Simultaneous incidents occur when other incidents are underway at the time a new incident 
develops. In the Department’s response area during 2018, 16.05 percent of incidents occurred 

Item 8 
Attachment #2 

70

102



Ross Valley Fire Department—Standards of Coverage Assessment 
Volume 1—Technical Report 

Section 2—Standards of Coverage Assessment page 39 

while one or more other incidents were underway. The following is the percentage of simultaneous 
emergency incidents broken down by the number of simultaneous incidents. Non-emergency 
incidents are not included as a unit can be re-dispatched to a serious emergency. 

Table 12—Percentage by Number of Simultaneous Emergency Incidents 

Number of Simultaneous Incidents Percentage 

1 or more simultaneous incidents 16.05% 

2 or more simultaneous incidents 01.30% 

3 or more simultaneous incidents 00.01% 

The following graph shows the number of simultaneous incidents can be volatile and recently 
decreased. 

Figure 8—Number of Simultaneous Incidents by Year 

 

In a larger region, simultaneous incidents in different station areas have very little operational 
consequence. However, when simultaneous incidents occur within a single station area, there can 
be significant delays in response times. 

Item 8 
Attachment #2 

71

103



Ross Valley Fire Department—Standards of Coverage Assessment 
Volume 1—Technical Report 

Section 2—Standards of Coverage Assessment page 40 

Figure 9 illustrates the number of single-station simultaneous incidents by station area by year. 
Station 21 has the highest number of in-station-area simultaneous incidents. Each station area 
experienced a significant drop in the number of simultaneous incidents from the previous year. 

Figure 9—Number of Single-Station Simultaneous Incidents by Station by Year 

 

Finding #6: The number of simultaneous incidents is volatile. However, in a 
four-station department, it is very rare that more than two incidents 
occur at once. 

2.7.3 Operational Performance 

Measurements for the performance for the first apparatus to arrive on the scene of emergency 
incidents are the number of minutes and seconds necessary for 90 percent completion of the 
following components: 

 Call processing 

 Turnout 

 Travel 

 Dispatch to arrival 

 Call to arrival 

Item 8 
Attachment #2 

72

104



Ross Valley Fire Department—Standards of Coverage Assessment 
Volume 1—Technical Report 

Section 2—Standards of Coverage Assessment page 41 

Each one of these components starts with a year-to-year comparison followed by a representation 
of performance over incremental time segments. Finally, each section includes a graph breaking 
down compliance with a stated goal by hour of day. 

2.7.4 Call Processing 

Call processing measures the time from the first incident time stamp in the Marin County Sheriff’s 
Dispatch Center (Comm Center) until apparatus are notified of the request for assistance. 

Table 13 shows call processing is 1:04 minutes for 90 percent compliance. 

Table 13—Call Processing Performance to 90 Percent of Fire and EMS Incidents 

Station 2018 

Department-Wide 01:04 

Station 18 01:12 

Station 19 01:03 

Station 20 01:01 

Station 21 01:04 

Finding #7: Call processing performance at 1:04 minutes is better than a best 
practice recommendation of 1:30 minutes.  

2.7.5 Turnout Time 

Turnout time measures the time from apparatus notification until apparatus starts traveling to the 
scene. In Table 14, a 2:00-minute Citygate recommended goal is used for measurement. Only one 
fire station is less than 30 seconds from a 2:00-minute turnout time. 

Item 8 
Attachment #2 

73

105



Ross Valley Fire Department—Standards of Coverage Assessment 
Volume 1—Technical Report 

Section 2—Standards of Coverage Assessment page 42

Table 14—Turnout Time Performance to 90 Percent of Fire and EMS Incidents 

Station 2018 

Department-Wide 02:41  

Station 18 02:19 

Station 19 02:50 

Station 20 02:38 

Station 21 02:40 

Figure 10 illustrates fractile turnout time performance. The peak segment for turnout performance 
is 75 seconds. 

Figure 10—Fractile for Incidents Turnout (CAD) 

Finding #8: Crew turnout performance at 2:41 minutes is slower than a Citygate-
recommended goal of 2:00 minutes or less. 

2.7.6 Travel Time 

Travel time measures time to travel to the scene of the emergency. In most urban and suburban 
fire departments, a 4:00-minute travel time 90 percent of the time would be considered highly 
desirable. Table 15 shows that no stations achieve that goal.  

Item 8 
Attachment #2 

74

106



Ross Valley Fire Department—Standards of Coverage Assessment 
Volume 1—Technical Report 

Section 2—Standards of Coverage Assessment page 43 

Table 15—Travel Time Performance to 90 Percent of Fire and EMS Incidents 

Station 2018 

Department-Wide 06:09 

Station 18 04:40 

Station 19 05:38 

Station 20 06:24 

Station 21 06:30 

The following graph illustrates fractile travel time performance. The peak segment for travel time 
performance is 180 seconds, or 3:00 minutes. There is a rapid drop-off in volume after the 180-
second mark. 

Figure 11—Fractile for Incidents Travel (CAD) 

 

Finding #9: First-due unit travel time performance to 90 percent of the incidents 
Department-wide at 6:09 minutes is well past the Department’s 
likely goal of 4:00 minutes, a goal consistent with best practices. 

Item 8 
Attachment #2 

75

107



Ross Valley Fire Department—Standards of Coverage Assessment 
Volume 1—Technical Report 

Section 2—Standards of Coverage Assessment page 44 

2.7.7 Call to Arrival 

Call to arrival measures time from receipt of the request for assistance until the apparatus arrives 
on the scene. The existing Department total response time goal is 7:00 minutes to 90 percent of 
the emergency incidents.  

Table 16—Call to Arrival Performance to 90 Percent of Fire and EMS Incidents 

Station 2018 

Department-Wide 08:45 

Station 18 07:55 

Station 19 07:45  

Station 20 08:47 

Station 21 09:07 

The following graph illustrates fractile call to arrival performance. The peak segment is 300 
seconds, or 5:00 minutes. The right-shifted graph indicates a number of incidents with longer travel 
times. 

Figure 12—Fractile for Incidents Call to First Arrival 

 

Item 8 
Attachment #2 

76

108



Ross Valley Fire Department—Standards of Coverage Assessment 
Volume 1—Technical Report 

Section 2—Standards of Coverage Assessment page 45 

Finding #10: The Department’s call to arrival time to 90 percent of the incidents 
at 8:45 is slower than a Citygate’s recommended goal of 7:30 
minutes in developed suburban areas. The principal reason is the 
longer travel times, reflective of the topography and road network 
in the Department’s service area. 

2.7.8 Effective Response Force (First Alarm) Concentration Measurements 

The minimum (not including the Chief Officer or ambulance) ERF for structure fires from the 
Department is three engines and one ladder truck. Additionally, an ambulance unit and one Chief 
Officer are sent. A best practices goal is for the last arriving unit’s travel time to be less than 8:00 
minutes in developed areas. 

Table 17—Distribution – Structure Fire Initial Response – Fourth-Due Unit Travel Time 
Performance to 90 Percent of Fire and EMS Incidents 

Station 2018 

Station 18 08:50 

Station 19 08:19 

Station 20 10:20 

Station 21 10:21 

Finding #11: The Effective Response Force (First Alarm) travel times are only 
modestly longer than a best practices goal of 8:00 minutes and are 
reflective of the good, central placement of the four fire stations. 

 

Item 8 
Attachment #2 

77

109



This page was intentionally left blank 

Item 8 
Attachment #2 

78

110



Ross Valley Fire Department—Standards of Coverage Assessment 
Volume 1—Technical Report 

Section 3—Town of Ross Focused Study page 47 

SECTION 3—TOWN OF ROSS FOCUSED STUDY 

As part of the overall Standards of Cover assessment for the Ross Valley Fire Department 
partnership, the Town of Ross requested a focused study for the need to maintain the fire engine 
and/or Medic Ambulance 18 in the Town’s fire station which dates to 1926. As all the partners 
know, replacing or relocating this station will be very difficult due to land use limitations. To 
evaluate the need for a station in the Town of Ross a series of questions must be considered. These 
questions are all answered in this section. After this section and Citygate’s resultant findings, the 
last section of this study will provide a set of comprehensive recommendations.  

The incident data range used in this section (except for items #1 and #2 below) is the same as the 
overall analysis in Section 2.7—January 1, 2017 through December 31, 2018. 

3.1 QUESTIONS REGARDING STATION 18 

1. How many fires have there been in the Town in each of the last six years? How 
many of them were structure versus non-structural?  

 One structure fire; 25 non-significant structure fires such as arcing wires or 
smell of smoke from equipment. 

2. What is the fire loss estimate in the Town for the last six years? 

 $198,107 

3. What is the breakdown of calls by year in the Town for two or three years?  

Item 8 
Attachment #2 

79

111



Ross Valley Fire Department—Standards of Coverage Assessment 
Volume 1—Technical Report 

Section 3—Town of Ross Focused Study page 48 

Figure 13—Number of Incidents by Year by Incident Type – Station 18 

 

Table 18—Incidents: Quantity – Year by Incident Type for Station 18 – 2017 and 2018 

Incident Type 2017 2018 

321 EMS call, excluding vehicle accident with injury 114 133 

611 Dispatched and canceled en route 71 38 

553 Public service 28 20 

554 Assist invalid 25 6 

550 Public service assistance, other 11 15 

651 Smoke scare, odor of smoke 10 11 

412 Gas leak (natural gas or LPG) 11 9 

571 Cover assignment, standby, move-up 8 11 

743 Smoke detector activation, no fire – unintentional 8 10 

745 Alarm system sounded, no fire – unintentional 10 7 

400 Hazardous condition, other 13 2 

444 Power line down 7 6 

322 Vehicle accident with injuries 2 10 

700 False alarm or false call, other 8 3 

744 Detector activation, no fire – unintentional 5 5 

622 No incident found on arrival of incident address 7 3 

Item 8 
Attachment #2 

80

112



Ross Valley Fire Department—Standards of Coverage Assessment 
Volume 1—Technical Report 

Section 3—Town of Ross Focused Study page 49 

Incident Type 2017 2018 

733 Smoke detector activation due to malfunction 6 3 

735 Alarm system sounded due to malfunction 5 3 

111 Building fire 7  
736 CO detector activation due to malfunction 3 3 

740 Unintentional transmission of alarm, other 1 4 

324 Motor vehicle accident no injuries 2 3 

500 Service call, other 2 2 

900 Special type of incident, other 1 2 

730 System malfunction, other 2 1 

650 Steam, other gas mistaken for smoke, other 1 2 

600 Good intent call, other 1 2 

531 Smoke or odor removal 1 2 

440 Electrical wiring/equipment problem, other 3  
812 Flood assessment 2  
800 Severe weather or natural disaster, other 2  
746 Carbon monoxide detector activation, no CO 2  
734 Heat detector activation due to malfunction 2  
653 Barbecue, tar kettle 1 1 

551 Assist police or other governmental agency 1 1 

520 Water problem, other 1 1 

463 Vehicle accident, general cleanup 1 1 

131 Passenger vehicle fire 1 1 

118 Trash or rubbish fire, contained 2  
100 Fire, other  2 

813 Wind storm, tornado/hurricane assessment 1  
621 Wrong location 1  
552 Police matter 1  
522 Water or steam leak  1 

521 Water evacuation 1  
462 Aircraft standby  1 

461 Building or structure weakened or collapsed 1  
441 Heat from short circuit (wiring), defective/worn 1  
422 Chemical spill or leak 1  

Item 8 
Attachment #2 

81

113



Ross Valley Fire Department—Standards of Coverage Assessment 
Volume 1—Technical Report 

Section 3—Town of Ross Focused Study page 50 

Incident Type 2017 2018 

354 Trench/below grade rescue  1 

162 Outside equipment fire 1  
160 Special outside fire, other  1 

151 Outside rubbish, trash or waste fire  1 

142 Brush, or brush and grass mixture fire 1  
141 Forest, woods or wildland fire  1 

140 Natural vegetation fire, other 1  
130 Mobile property (vehicle) fire, other 1  
116 Fuel burner/boiler malfunction, fire confined 1  
113 Cooking fire, confined to container  1 

Total 400 330 

4. What is the service call comparison between each of the four stations? Are there 
industry averages or norms with which that can be compared?  

 There are no comparisons; all communities are different and “purchase” fire 
protection stand-by as “fire insurance” if they use it once a year or once a 
day. 

 See Figure 7 on page 37 for volume by station. 

5. In the Town, what is the 90 percent response time to fire calls, emergency calls, 
and all calls – anywhere Station 18 went? 

 The following table shows the Station 18 response times to emergency 
incidents. The time listed is the time to completion, 90 percent of the time; 
the number in parenthesis is the number of records included in the 
calculation. 

Table 19—Station 18 Response Times to All Calls at 90 Percent Compliance 

Response Element—Station 18 Overall 2017 2018 

Dispatch Processing 01:12 (214) 00:52 (93) 01:12 (121) 

Crew Turnout 02:32 (170) 02:38 (77) 02:19 (93) 

Travel Time 05:05 (174) 05:14 (78) 04:40 (96) 

Call to Arrival 08:28 (226) 08:40 (100) 07:55 (126) 

Item 8 
Attachment #2 

82

114



Ross Valley Fire Department—Standards of Coverage Assessment 
Volume 1—Technical Report 

Section 3—Town of Ross Focused Study page 51 

6. What does the map that shows 90 percent response times by Station 18 look like?  

 As would be expected, the better response times tend to be closer to the 
stations and along the main road network. However, given the low quantity 
of incidents (small sample size math) and that some incidents are covered 
by units not in the station, or are responded to by a station farther away due 
to simultaneous incidents, the following map is not a static picture year over 
year. 

The following map shows in green where travel time is the fastest—at or 
near the desired goal point of 4:00 minutes. Orange to red indicates the 
longest travel times of 5:00 to 9:00 minutes. 

Figure 14—90 Percent Response Times by Distance for All Department Stations 

 

7. What is the number of events that Station 18 responded to in the response areas for 
Stations 19, 20, and 21? 

 The following table lists the responses by vehicle ID. 

Item 8 
Attachment #2 

83

115



Ross Valley Fire Department—Standards of Coverage Assessment 
Volume 1—Technical Report 

Section 3—Town of Ross Focused Study page 52 

 The table also includes multiple-unit responses as some complex incidents 
require more staffing.  

Table 20—Responses by Vehicle ID – 2017 and 2018 

City E18 E19 E20 E21 M14 M18 

San Anselmo 133 1,550 761 117 188 1,012 

Fairfax 12 29 213 1,733 22 707 

Ross 287 15  3 38 187 

Sleepy Hollow   95 11  42 

Kentfield 44 3    804 

Woodacre    7   
Fallon    4  2 

Larkspur 2 1  2  131 

Greenbrae 2     756 

Forest Knolls    2   
San Rafael  1     
San Geronimo    1   
Point Reyes Station    1   
Corte Madera 1     151 

Total 481 1,599 1,069 1,881 248 3,792 

8. What is the number of medical emergencies the Ross Valley Paramedic Authority 
responds to in the Town per year? 

 The following table shows the number of responses by apparatus by 
destination station area. 

Table 21—EMS Responses by Station 18 Apparatus by Destination Station Area 

Station E18 M18 Total 

18 214 169 383 

19 60 862 922 

20 12 192 204 

21 12 707 719 

Total 298 1,930 2,228 

Item 8 
Attachment #2 

84

116



Ross Valley Fire Department—Standards of Coverage Assessment 
Volume 1—Technical Report 

Section 3—Town of Ross Focused Study page 53 

The previous table shows Medic 18’s most frequent destination is Station 19, 
followed by Station 21. The station least likely to require a medic unit is Station 18. 
However, Medic 18 is a regional unit and, as such, is properly located in the middle 
of its response area east to west. This table also shows Engine 18 is more likely to 
remain inside Station 18’s area but, if drawn outside, is most likely to travel into 
Station 19’s area.  

The following list shows which engine arrived first to EMS events in the Town of 
Ross. When both Station 18 units respond from inside the Town, arriving first is 
only a matter of seconds. The purpose of this table is to also show units other than 
those at Station 18 which arrive first: 

 Engine 18 arrived first 165 times 

 Engine 23 arrived first 40 times 

 Engine 19 arrived first 6 times  

 Engine 17 arrived first 3 times (Kentfield) 

 Engine 21 arrived first 1 time 

 Medic 18 arrived first 33 times 

 Medic 14 arrived first 2 times 

These numbers were calculated for all apparatus responding to EMS incidents and 
tend to mimic actual operational arrivals. If the search from the regional CAD data 
for the last two years is for where Station 18 EMS incidents involved both Engine 
18 and Medic 18, there were 224 incidents. 

9. How often was Station 17 (Kentfield) first on scene to a Town call? What is Station 
17’s response time to a Town call? 

 In 2017 and 2018, Engine 17 arrived first in Station 18’s area 19 times for 
all incident types. The 90 percent travel time was a little over 8:00 minutes, 
but this figure is highly volatile and ranges from 5:00 minutes to 21:00 
minutes travel time across the various areas of the Town. 

10. How often was Station 19 (San Anselmo) first on scene to a Town call? 

 In 2017 and 2018, Engine 19 arrived first in Station 18’s area 20 times to 
all types of incidents. The 90 percent travel time was about 9:45 minutes; 
again, this figure is highly volatile. 

Item 8 
Attachment #2 

85

117



Ross Valley Fire Department—Standards of Coverage Assessment 
Volume 1—Technical Report 

Section 3—Town of Ross Focused Study page 54 

11. What is Station 19’s average response time to a Town call?  

 By national best practices, response times are not reported as averages, but 
as a fractile percent of a goal point. The following table lists anywhere 
Station 19 responded. The time listed is the time to completion 90 percent 
of the time; the number in parenthesis is the number of records included in 
the calculation.  

Table 22—Station 19 Response Times to All Calls at 90 Percent Compliance 

Response Element—Station 19 Overall 2017 2018 

Dispatch Processing 01:02 (971) 01:01 (481) 01:03 (490) 

Crew Turnout 02:44 (773) 02:40 (383) 02:50 (390) 

Travel Time 05:50 (788) 06:00 (387) 05:38 (401) 

Call to Arrival 08:03 (991) 08:23 (490) 07:45 (501) 

3.2 IMPACT IF FIRE STATION 18 CLOSES 

12. Provide a current map of the first response for Stations 17, 18, 19, 20, and 21.  

 Please refer to Map #3 in the Map Atlas of this report in Volume 2. 

13. If Station 18 closed, what is the first response map for Stations 17, 19, 20, and 21? 
What is the zone of coverage map for the back-up initial response with closure of 
Station 18?  

 Station 17 is outside of Citygate’s historical statistical and geographic 
analysis. The Marin County Fire Chiefs Association would have to create a 
response matrix based on fire reporting districts to create a map. Based on 
existing station locations for 17 and 19, the Town of Ross would not receive 
the same coverage as from Station 18. 

14. What is the impact to response times in Stations 19, 20, and 21 areas without Station 
18? 

 Simultaneous incidents occur when other incidents are underway at the time 
a new incident begins. In the entire Ross Valley Fire Department’s response 
area during 2018, 16.05 percent of incidents occurred while one or more 
other incidents were underway. 

In 2017, Station 17 was on an incident at the same time as Station 18 45 
times. In 2018, Engines 17 and 18 were on incidents at the same time 33 
times.  

Item 8 
Attachment #2 

86

118



Ross Valley Fire Department—Standards of Coverage Assessment 
Volume 1—Technical Report 

Section 3—Town of Ross Focused Study page 55 

In 2017 and 2018 combined, Engine 18 had 481 responses anywhere. 
Across two years, Engines 17 and 18 were active at the same time 78 times, 
or 16 percent of all of Engine 18’s responses. 

Stated this way, if Engine 18 was closed, there are approximately 1.5 
incidents per week to which Engine 17 will not be available to respond.  

Then for Engine 18 and Engine 19 from the other direction, based on year 
2018 data, both units are committed together approximately 109 times, or 
two times per week. This is higher than the Engine 18/17 measure. Most 
occurrences average a joint co-commitment time of 38 minutes. 

So, when Engine 18 is busy there is a small chance every week that either 
or both Engines 17 and 19 also will not be available. This makes sense as 
all units have more calls for service during peak daylight hours of the day, 
versus after midnight.  

Table 23—Distribution Travel Time Analysis of Fire and EMS Responses from 01/01/17 to 
12/31/18 

Station 
Area 

Apparatus 
Arrivals 

Home 
Resources 

Outside 
Resources 

Outside 
Percent 

Overall 
Travel Home Travel 

Outside 
Travel 

Delta 
Home/Out 

18 969 881 88 9.08% 07:03 (602) 06:43 (550) 08:44 (52) 2:01 

19 2,586 1,859 727 28.11% 06:38 (1,913) 06:29 (1,385) 07:13 (528) 0:44 

20 1,248 903 345 27.64% 07:05 (1,022) 06:33 (756) 08:28 (266) 1:55 

21 2,627 1,992 635 24.17% 07:22 (1,629) 06:46 (1,303) 08:31 (326) 1:45 

Closing Station 18 will add about 2:00 minutes of travel time into that station area. 
Overall medic travel times will be reduced to some incidents if Medic 18 were to 
be moved west, as the unit is located closer to a higher medic demand area. 

15. What is the impact of having first response from Station 19 with a three-person 
engine and Station 17 with a four-person engine versus Station 18 as a two-person 
engine? 

 Total staff (weight) is the same firefighter count of eight. But the Town 
firefighters are now located in and serving two other areas and are thus 
subject to simultaneous incident use in Stations 19 and 17’s areas. 

16. If RVPA stays in the Town, is there a response time change to medical 
emergencies? 

Item 8 
Attachment #2 

87

119



Ross Valley Fire Department—Standards of Coverage Assessment 
Volume 1—Technical Report 

Section 3—Town of Ross Focused Study page 56 

 No, if the ambulance is available. Otherwise response time depends on 
Engine 19 or Engine 17 being available to respond. 

 Other medic units needed in the Town of Ross when Medic 18 was not 
available were Medic 14 (53 times), Medic 95 (eight times), and one each 
for Medic 97, Medic 94, Medic 59, and Medic 13. This means other medic 
units needed to respond into Station 18’s territory 65 times in two years.  

17. If RVPA moves to Station 17 or Station 19, what is the average change in response 
time to a medical emergency?  

 Per Table 23, without a Station 18 resource, there are an additional 2:00 
minutes of travel time, meaning total response time (dispatch processing, 
turnout, and travel time) is almost 12:00 minutes from 9-1-1, which is the 
same as a rural level of response. 

 Moving Medic 18 to Station 17 would also move it farther away from the 
highest incident densities that it serves. 

Finding #12: In the Town of Ross, on EMS emergencies, Engine 18 responded 
214 times and Medic 18 responded 169 times in a two-year period. 

Finding #13: In the Town of Ross, adjoining Engines 17 (Kentfield) and Engine 
19 each arrived first over a two-year period 19 and 20 times, totaling 
39. Thus, the outside units only arrived/were needed first 12.6 
percent of the time. 

Finding #14: In a two-year period, Engines 18 and 17 (Kentfield) were assigned 
to incidents at the same time 78 times or 16 percent of Engine 18’s 
total responses. Stated this way, if Engine 18 was closed, there are 
approximately 1.5 incidents per week to which Engine 17 will not 
be available to respond. 

Finding #15: Closing Station 18 will add about 2:00 minutes minimum of travel 
time into that station area. 

 

Item 8 
Attachment #2 

88

120



Ross Valley Fire Department—Standards of Coverage Assessment 
Volume 1—Technical Report 

Section 3—Town of Ross Focused Study page 57 

Finding #16: In the Ross Valley Fire Department, Station 18 has the best travel 
time of any of the four station areas at 4:40 minutes, only 40 seconds 
longer than an urban/suburban best practice recommendation of 
4:00 minutes. Adding 2:00 minutes travel, plus dispatch and turnout 
time of at least 3:00 minutes, moves a Town of Ross total response 
time from 7:40 to 9:40 which would be more like an edge suburban 
area or emerging rural area. First unit response times of 10:00 
minutes-plus means small fires will become larger and critical EMS 
patients may not receive lifesaving care.  

Finding #17: If the Engine 18 daily firefighter count of two were transferred to 
Engine 19, or reduced to one being transferred, they would be 
joining an engine that serves a much larger area and is more exposed 
to simultaneous incident demand. Due the dynamic nature of 9-1-1 
emergencies, there is no way to predict if all of the Town of Ross 
Engine 18 and Medic 18 first arrivals would be covered by just 
Engines 19 and 17 (Kentfield) or by other units even farther away. 

Finding #18: Covering the Town of Ross from either Station 19 or 17 (Kentfield) 
depends on essentially one road being open and not congested with 
traffic. Any one accident or natural emergency could close the road, 
effectively making the Town of Ross a cul-de-sac served from one 
direction and, in a sub-regional emergency, either Engine 19 or 17 
would be shared with a larger service area. 

Item 8 
Attachment #2 

89

121



This page was intentionally left blank 

Item 8 
Attachment #2 

90

122



Ross Valley Fire Department—Standards of Coverage Assessment 
Volume 1—Technical Report 

Section 4—Overall Evaluation page 59 

SECTION 4—OVERALL EVALUATION 

The Department serves mostly residential and small 
downtown populations with a mixed land-use pattern 
typical of Marin County communities. However, the hilly 
geography and the limited road network dependent on one 

main connector road, is very difficult to serve efficiently from a small number of fire stations.  

Over time, each population cluster opened a fire station for a minimum single first unit response 
and knew they were co-dependent on each other for multiple-unit serious emergencies. The 
geography cannot be changed and improving the road network is not politically feasible or cost-
effective. Thus, reducing coverage by removing any one or more fire engines or the paramedic 
ambulance will increase response times to the local community receiving reduced coverage. 

While the state fire code now requires fire sprinklers even in residential dwellings, it will be many 
more years before the vast majority of homes are replaced or remodeled with automatic fire 
sprinklers. If the communities’ desired outcomes include limiting building fire damage to only part 
of the inside of an affected building, minimizing permanent impairment resulting from a medical 
emergency, and keeping wildland fires small to a few acres at the ignition point, then the 
communities served by the Ross Valley Fire Department will need first-due unit coverage in all 
neighborhoods. 

However, even with maintaining the current four-station spacing, given the topography, not all 
hillside areas can receive response time coverage consistent with suburban best practice incident 
outcomes and a Citygate performance recommendation of a first-due arrival within 7:30 minutes 
from 9-1-1 dispatch notification and a multiple-unit Effective Response Force (ERF) arrival 
occurring within 11:30 minutes of 9-1-1 notification, all at 90 percent or better reliability. 

The Department’s call processing performance is excellent. The crew turnout time needs modest 
improvement but even such attainable improvement cannot substantially lower the fire unit travel 
times which are longer than desired over the challenging geography and road network. 

Department resources and equipment are appropriate to protect against the hazards likely to impact 
the Department’s service area, but the daily staffing of eight firefighters on four engines, plus a 
two-firefighter/paramedic ambulance from the Ross Valley Paramedic Authority (RVPA) and a 
Duty Chief Officer only provides a minimum total response force sufficient to begin controlling a 
single emerging to serious fire incident, or to provide care at an EMS incident with one to five 
patients. 

In terms of emergency incident workload per unit, no single fire unit or station area is approaching 
workload saturation. The level of simultaneous incidents is not high enough to warrant another 
unit at peak hours of the day. Citygate is, however, concerned about the overall limited Department 

SOC ELEMENT 8 OF 8 
OVERALL EVALUATION 

Item 8 
Attachment #2 

91

123



Ross Valley Fire Department—Standards of Coverage Assessment 
Volume 1—Technical Report 

Section 4—Overall Evaluation page 60 

staffing per day and its ability to respond with more “weight of attack” to keep emerging serious 
emergencies controlled. Even Countywide mutual aid resources are not quickly available in this 
part of Marin County, as they would be in an urban area with flat terrain and interconnected roads. 

In reviewing the Town of Ross questions about the utility of its fire station, while maintaining a 
fire crew in town is expensive, any alternative solution will raise response times beyond suburban 
best practice goals and come at the cost of sharing staffing with a larger service area. Relocating 
the crews out of the Town of Ross impacts more than just the Town. As an example, even if the 
Town paid Kentfield for fire coverage, Kentfield would be serving the entire Town of Ross in 
addition to its own community, which would mean the Kentfield fire unit would occasionally not 
be available to respond to an emergency call in its primary area. 

The quantity of calls in the Town of Ross (or any other single historic population cluster in the 
joint Department’s service area) is too small and too volatile from which to use historical incidents 
as the only criteria to maintain the fire station. Providing fire services is akin to purchasing fire 
insurance, and it is important to consider the desired level of protection. The public policy issue is 
whether to have access to a fire station nearby or farther away, knowing that a station farther away, 
even with its unit(s) available for response, cannot offer more than edge suburban or emerging 
rural area response times to much of the Town of Ross. 

4.1 DEPLOYMENT RECOMMENDATIONS 

Based on the technical analysis and findings contained in this Standards of Coverage assessment, 
Citygate offers the following deployment recommendations: 

Recommendation #1: Adopt Updated Deployment Policies: The Ross Valley 
Fire Department governing Board should adopt updated, 
complete performance measures to aid deployment 
planning and to monitor performance. The measures of 
time should be designed to deliver outcomes that will 
save patients medically salvageable upon arrival and to 
keep small but serious fires from becoming more serious. 
With this is mind, Citygate recommends the following 
measures:  

 

Item 8 
Attachment #2 

92

124



Ross Valley Fire Department—Standards of Coverage Assessment 
Volume 1—Technical Report 

Section 4—Overall Evaluation page 61 

 1.1 Distribution of Fire Stations: To treat pre-hospital 
medical emergencies and control small fires, the first-due 
unit should arrive within 8:30 minutes, 90 percent of the 
time from the receipt of the 9-1-1 call at dispatch; this 
equates to a 90-second dispatch time, a 2:00-minute 
company turnout time, and a 5:00-minute travel time.  

 1.2 Multiple-Unit Effective Response Force for Serious 
Emergencies: To confine building fires near the room of 
origin, keep vegetation fires under one acre in size, and 
treat multiple medical patients at a single incident, a 
multiple-unit ERF of at least 12 personnel, including at 
least one Duty Chief Officer, should arrive within 12:30 
minutes from the time of 9-1-1 call receipt in dispatch, 90 
percent of the time; this equates to a 90-second dispatch 
time, 2:00-minute company turnout time, and 9:00-
minute travel time.  

 1.3 Hazardous Materials Response: Provide hazardous 
materials response designed to protect the Department’s 
service areas from the hazards associated with 
uncontrolled release of hazardous and toxic materials. 
The fundamental mission of the Fire Department’s 
response is to isolate the hazard, deny entry into the 
hazard zone, and notify appropriate officials/resources to 
minimize impacts on the community. This can be 
achieved with a first-due total response time of 8:30 
minutes or less to provide initial hazard evaluation and/or 
mitigation actions. After the initial evaluation is 
completed, a determination can be made whether to 
request additional resources from the regional hazardous 
materials team. 

 

Item 8 
Attachment #2 

93

125



Ross Valley Fire Department—Standards of Coverage Assessment 
Volume 1—Technical Report 

Section 4—Overall Evaluation page 62 

 1.4 Technical Rescue: Respond to technical rescue 
emergencies as efficiently and effectively as possible 
with enough trained personnel to facilitate a successful 
rescue with a first-due total response time of 8:30 minutes 
or less to evaluate the situation and/or initiate rescue 
actions. Following the initial evaluation, assemble 
additional resources as needed within a total response 
time of 12:30 minutes to safely complete 
rescue/extrication and delivery of the victim to the 
appropriate emergency medical care facility. 

Recommendation #2: Consider maintaining the current location of all four 
engines and keeping Medic 18 in the Town of Ross to 
balance its coverage area to the west and east. 

Recommendation #3: Consider providing a third firefighter per day on the three 
engines other than Engine 18. Doing so would raise the 
daily weight of attack from 12 to 15 and, with Kentfield’s 
three personnel, to 18. This force would be sufficient to 
provide the weight of attack and simultaneous incident 
redundancy for suburban positive outcomes. Especially 
on serious building and wildland fire ignitions, there is no 
second chance to stop the fire. This is a local policy 
decision to be made by the affected communities to 
determine the level of fire service that they can afford. 

Item 8 
Attachment #2 

94

126



Ross Valley Fire Department—Standards of Coverage Assessment 
Volume 1—Technical Report 

 page 63 

APPENDIX A 

RISK ASSESSMENT 
 

Item 8 
Attachment #2 

95

127



This page was intentionally left blank 

Item 8 
Attachment #2 

96

128



Ross Valley Fire Department—Standards of Coverage Assessment 
Volume 1—Technical Report 

Appendix A—Risk Assessment page 65 

APPENDIX A—RISK ASSESSMENT 

A.1 COMMUNITY RISK ASSESSMENT 

The third element of the Standards of Coverage (SOC) 
process is a community risk assessment. Within the context 
of an SOC study, the objectives of a community risk 
assessment are to: 

 Identify the values at risk to be protected 
within the community or service area. 

 Identify the specific hazards with the potential to adversely impact the community 
or service area. 

 Quantify the overall risk associated with each hazard. 

 Establish a foundation for current/future deployment decisions and risk-
reduction/hazard-mitigation planning and evaluation. 

A hazard is broadly defined as a situation or condition that can cause or contribute to harm. 
Examples include fire, medical emergency, vehicle collision, earthquake, flood, etc. Risk is 
broadly defined as the probability of hazard occurrence in combination with the likely severity of 
resultant impacts to people, property, and the community as a whole. 

A.1.1 Risk Assessment Methodology 

The methodology employed by Citygate to assess community risks as an integral element of an 
SOC study incorporates the following elements: 

 Identification of geographic planning sub-zones (risk zones) appropriate to the 
community or jurisdiction. 

 Identification and quantification (to the extent data is available) of the specific 
values at risk to various hazards within the community or service area. 

 Identification of the fire and non-fire hazards to be evaluated. 

 Determination of the probability of occurrence for each hazard. 

 Identification and evaluation of multiple relevant impact severity factors for each 
hazard by planning zone using agency/jurisdiction-specific data and information.  

 Quantification of overall risk for each hazard based on probability of occurrence in 
combination with probable impact severity, as shown in Figure 15. 

SOC ELEMENT 3 OF 8 
COMMUNITY RISK 

ASSESSMENT 

Item 8 
Attachment #2 

97

129



Ross Valley Fire Department—Standards of Coverage Assessment 
Volume 1—Technical Report 

Appendix A—Risk Assessment page 66 

Figure 15—Overall Risk 

 

Citygate used the following data sources for this study to understand the hazards and values to be 
protected in the District: 

 U.S. Census Bureau population and demographic data 

 District Geographical Information Systems (GIS) data 

 Marin County General Plan and Zoning information 

 Marin County Multi-Jurisdictional Local Hazard Mitigation Plan 

 Fire Department data and information. 

A.1.2 Risk Assessment Summary 

Citygate’s evaluation of the values at risk and hazards likely to impact the Ross Valley Fire 
Department service area yields the following:  

1. The Department serves a diverse population, with densities ranging from less than 
500 people per square mile to approximately 5,000 per square mile over a varied 
land use pattern. 

2. The Department’s service area population is projected to grow by only 7.7 percent 
over the next 11 years to 2030, or an average annual growth of approximately 0.7 
percent.  

Pr
ob

ab
ili

ty
 

Impact Severity 

Overall Risk 

Item 8 
Attachment #2 

98

130



Ross Valley Fire Department—Standards of Coverage Assessment 
Volume 1—Technical Report 

Appendix A—Risk Assessment page 67 

3. The service area includes nearly 11,000 housing units as well as a large inventory 
of non-residential occupancies. 

4. Marin County has a mass emergency notification system to effectively 
communicate emergency information to the public in a timely manner. 

5. The Department’s overall risk for five hazards related to emergency services 
provided range from Low to High, as summarized in Table 24. 

Table 24—Overall Risk by Hazard 

Hazard 
Planning Zone 

Sta. 18 Sta. 19 Sta. 20 Sta. 21 

Building Fire Low Low Moderate Moderate 

Vegetation Fire Low Low Low Low 

Medical Emergency High High High High 

Hazardous Material Moderate Moderate Moderate Moderate 

Technical Rescue Low Low Low Low 

A.1.3 Planning Zones 

The Commission on Fire Accreditation International (CFAI) recommends that jurisdictions 
establish geographic planning zones to better understand risk at a sub-jurisdictional level. For 
example, portions of a jurisdiction may contain predominantly moderate risk building occupancies, 
such as detached single-family residences, while other areas contain high- or maximum-risk 
occupancies, such as commercial and industrial buildings with a high hazard fire load. If risk were 
to be evaluated on a jurisdiction-wide basis, the predominant moderate risk could outweigh the 
high or maximum risk and may not be a significant factor in an overall assessment of risk. If, 
however, those high- or maximum-risk occupancies are a larger percentage of the risk in a smaller 
planning zone, then it becomes a more significant risk factor. Another consideration in establishing 
planning zones is that the jurisdiction’s record management system must also track the specific 
zone for each incident to be able to appropriately evaluate service demand and response 
performance relative to each specific zone. For this assessment, Citygate utilized four planning 
zones, incorporating each fire station’s first-due response area, as shown in Figure 16. 

Item 8 
Attachment #2 

99

131



Ross Valley Fire Department—Standards of Coverage Assessment 
Volume 1—Technical Report 

Appendix A—Risk Assessment page 68 

Figure 16—Risk Planning Zones 

 

A.1.4 Values at Risk to Be Protected 

Values at risk, broadly defined, are tangibles of significant importance or value to the community 
or jurisdiction potentially at risk of harm or damage from a hazard occurrence. Values at risk 
typically include people, critical facilities/infrastructure, buildings, and key economic, cultural, 
historic, and/or natural resources.  

FS20

FS21

FS19

FS18

Map #2a: Risk Assessment Planning Zone by Station Number

Item 8 
Attachment #2 

100

132



Ross Valley Fire Department—Standards of Coverage Assessment 
Volume 1—Technical Report 

Appendix A—Risk Assessment page 69 

People 

Residents, employees, visitors, and travelers in a community or jurisdiction are vulnerable to harm 
from a hazard occurrence. Particularly vulnerable are specific at-risk populations, including those 
unable to care for themselves or self-evacuate in the event of an emergency. At-risk populations 
typically include children less than 10 years of age, the elderly, and people housed in institutional 
settings. Table 25 summarizes key demographic data for the Ross Valley Fire Department’s 
service area. 

Table 25—Key Demographic Data – Ross Valley Fire Department 

Demographic 2017 Percentage 

Population 24,785   
     Under 10 years 2,150 8.67% 
     10 – 19 years 3,483 14.05% 
     20 – 64 years 14,217 57.36% 
     65-74 years 3,111 12.55% 
     75 years and older 1,824 7.36% 
     Median age 48.4 N/A 
Housing Units 10,813   
     Owner-Occupied     7,683 71.05% 
     Renter-Occupied 2,534 23.43% 
     Average Household Size 2.53 N/A 
Ethnicity     
     Caucasian 22,492 90.75% 
     Asian 910 3.67% 
     Other 1,383 5.58% 
Education (population over 24 yrs. of age) 18,158 73.26% 
     High School Graduate 17,546 96.63% 
     Undergraduate Degree 11,134 61.32% 
     Graduate/Professional Degree 5,309 29.24% 
Employment (population over 15 yrs. of age) 20,261 81.75% 
     In Labor Force 13,816 68.19% 
     Unemployed 626 4.53% 
     Population Below Poverty Level 1,091 4.40% 
     Population without Health Insurance Coverage 487 1.96% 
Source: U.S. Census Bureau (2017) 

Of note from Table 25 is the following: 

 More than 28.5 percent of the population is under 10 years or over 65 years of age. 

Item 8 
Attachment #2 

101

133



Ross Valley Fire Department—Standards of Coverage Assessment 
Volume 1—Technical Report 

Appendix A—Risk Assessment page 70 

 The Department’s service area population is predominantly Caucasian (91 percent), 
followed by Asian (3 percent), and other ethnicities (6 percent). 

 Of the population over 24 years of age, more than 96 percent has completed high 
school or equivalency. 

 Of the population over 24 years of age, more than 61 percent have a college degree. 

 Slightly more than 68 percent of the population 15 years of age or older is in the 
workforce; of those, 4.5 percent are unemployed. 

 The population below the federal poverty level is 4.4 percent. 

 Only two percent of the population does not have health insurance coverage. 

The service area population is projected to increase by approximately 1,900 (7.7 percent) to nearly 
27,000 over the next 11 years to 2030,6 for an average annual growth of approximately 175 (0.7 
percent).  

Buildings 

The service area includes nearly 11,000 housing units, as well as a large inventory of non-
residential occupancies, including office, research, professional service, retail sales, 
restaurants/bar, motel, church, school, government facility, healthcare, and other non-residential 
uses.  

Building Occupancy Risk Categories 

The CFAI identifies the following four risk categories that relate to building occupancy:  

Low Risk – includes detached garages, storage sheds, outbuildings, and similar building 
occupancies that pose a relatively low risk of harm to humans or the community if damaged or 
destroyed by fire. 

Moderate Risk – includes detached single-family or two-family dwellings; mobile homes; 
commercial and industrial buildings less than 10,000 square feet without a high hazard fire load; 
aircraft; railroad facilities; and similar building occupancies where loss of life or property damage 
is limited to the single building. 

High Risk – includes apartment/condominium buildings; commercial and industrial buildings 
more than 10,000 square feet without a high hazard fire load; low-occupant load buildings with 
high fuel loading or hazardous materials; and similar occupancies with potential for substantial 
loss of life or unusual property damage or financial impact. 

 
6 Reference: Marin County Housing Element 2015-2023, Figure II-2 

Item 8 
Attachment #2 

102

134



Ross Valley Fire Department—Standards of Coverage Assessment 
Volume 1—Technical Report 

Appendix A—Risk Assessment page 71 

Maximum Risk – includes buildings or facilities with unusually high risk requiring an Effective 
Response Force (ERF) involving a significant augmentation of resources and personnel and where 
a fire would pose the potential for a catastrophic event involving large loss of life and/or significant 
economic impact to the community.  

Evaluation of the service area building inventory reveals 174 high risk building uses as they relate 
to the CFAI building fire risk categories as summarized in Table 26, Table 27, and Map #2B in 
Volume 2 (Map Atlas).  

Table 26—High Risk Building Occupancy Inventory by Risk Category 

Building Occupancy Classification2 Number Risk Category1 

A-1 Assembly  5 High 

H Hazardous  0 High 

I-4 Institutional  1 High 

R-1 Hotel/Motel 2 High 

R-2 Multi-Family Residential 148 High 

R-2.1 Assisted Living Facilities  4 High 

R-3.1 Residential Care Facilities 9 High 

R-4 Care Facilities – Greater than 6 Persons 5 High 

Total 174  
1 CFAI Standards of Cover (5th Edition) 
Source: Ross Valley Fire Department 

Table 27—High Risk Occupancy Inventory by Planning Zone 

Occupancy 
Classification 

Planning Zone 
Total 

Sta. 18 Sta. 19 Sta. 20 Sta. 21 

A-1 1 2 1 1 5 

I-4  1   1 

R-1  1 1  2 

R-2 1 110 37  148 

R-2.1 2 1 1  4 

R-3.1 1 5 2 1 9 

R-4  4 1  5 

Total 5 124 43 2 174 
Source: Ross Valley Fire Department 

Item 8 
Attachment #2 

103

135



Ross Valley Fire Department—Standards of Coverage Assessment 
Volume 1—Technical Report 

Appendix A—Risk Assessment page 72 

Critical Infrastructure / Key Resources 

The U.S. Department of Homeland Security defines Critical Infrastructure / Key Resources 
(CIKR) as those physical assets essential to the public health and safety, economic vitality, and 
resilience of a community, such as lifeline utilities infrastructure, telecommunications 
infrastructure, essential government services facilities, public safety facilities, schools, hospitals, 
airports, etc. A hazard occurrence with significant impact severity affecting one or more of these 
facilities would likely adversely impact critical public or community services. No critical facilities 
or key resources were identified by the Department for this assessment.  

Economic Resources 

No economic resources were identified for this assessment.  

Natural Resources 

No natural resources were identified for this assessment.  

A.1.5 Hazard Identification 

Citygate utilizes prior risk studies where available, fire and non-fire hazards as identified by the 
CFAI, and agency/jurisdiction-specific data and information to identify the hazards to be evaluated 
for this study.  

The 2018 Marin County Multi-Jurisdictional Local Hazard Mitigation Plan (LHMP) identifies the 
following 13 hazards for the County. 

Item 8 
Attachment #2 

104

136



Ross Valley Fire Department—Standards of Coverage Assessment 
Volume 1—Technical Report 

Appendix A—Risk Assessment page 73 

Table 28—Marin County Hazards 

Hazard 

1 Coastal erosion 

2 Dam failure 

3 Drought 

4 Earthquake 

5 Flood 

6 Heat 

7 Landslide/mudslide/debris flow 

8 Levee failure 

9 Liquefaction 

10 Severe wind/tornado 

11 Severe storm 

12 Tsunami/seiche 

13 Wildfire 
Reference: 2018 Marin County LHMP, Table 3-1 

Although the Fire Department has no legal authority or responsibility to mitigate any of these 
hazards other than wildfire, it does provide services related to all these hazards, including fire 
suppression, emergency medical services, technical rescue, and hazardous materials response.  

The CFAI groups hazards into fire and non-fire categories, as shown in Figure 17. Identification, 
qualification, and quantification of the various fire and non-fire hazards are important factors in 
evaluating how resources are or can be deployed to mitigate those risks.  

Item 8 
Attachment #2 

105

137



Ross Valley Fire Department—Standards of Coverage Assessment 
Volume 1—Technical Report 

Appendix A—Risk Assessment page 74 

Figure 17—Commission on Fire Accreditation International Hazard Categories 

 
Source: CFAI Standards of Cover (5th Edition). 

Subsequent to review and evaluation of the hazards identified in the 2018 Marin County Multi-
Jurisdictional LHMP and the fire and non-fire hazards as identified by the CFAI as they relate to 
services provided by the Department, Citygate evaluated the following five hazards for this risk 
assessment: 

 Building Fire  

 Vegetation Fire  

 Medical Emergency  

 Hazardous Material Release/Spill  

 Technical Rescue  

A.1.6 Service Capacity 

Service capacity refers to the Department’s available response force; the size, types, and condition 
of its response fleet and any specialized equipment; core and specialized performance capabilities 

Item 8 
Attachment #2 

106

138



Ross Valley Fire Department—Standards of Coverage Assessment 
Volume 1—Technical Report 

Appendix A—Risk Assessment page 75 

and competencies; resource distribution and concentration; availability of automatic and/or mutual 
aid; and any other agency-specific factors influencing its ability to meet current and prospective 
future service demand relative to the risks to be protected.  

The Department’s service capacity for building and vegetation fire, medical emergency, hazardous 
materials, and technical rescue risk consists of eight firefighters on four engines, plus a two-
firefighter/paramedic ambulance from the Ross Valley Paramedic Authority (RVPA) and a Duty 
Chief Officer.  

All response personnel are trained to either the Emergency Medical Technician (EMT) level, 
capable of providing Basic Life Support (BLS) pre-hospital emergency medical care, or EMT-
Paramedic (Paramedic) level, capable of providing Advanced Life Support (ALS) pre-hospital 
emergency medical care. Ground paramedic ambulance service is provided by the Ross Valley 
Paramedic Authority (RVPA). Air ambulance services, when needed, are provided by Reach Air 
Medical Services (Concord, Santa Rosa, or Napa), LifeFlight (Palo Alto), the California Highway 
Patrol, or Sonoma County Sheriff. Three regional hospitals provide emergency medical services, 
including Marin General Hospital, Kaiser Permanente Medical Center San Rafael, and Novato 
Community Hospital. Marin General Hospital is also a Level-III trauma center.  

Response personnel are also trained to the U.S. Department of Transportation Hazardous Material 
First Responder Operational (FRO) level to provide initial hazardous material incident assessment, 
hazard isolation, and support for a hazardous material response team. Additional hazardous 
materials response capacity is available from the Marin County Hazardous Materials Response 
Team. The Hazardous Materials Response Unit is housed at the Ross Valley Fire Department and 
is cross-staffed by Ross Valley personnel as needed for regional response. 

Technical rescue services are provided by the Marin County Urban Search and Rescue (US&R) 
Regional Task Force, a multi-agency/discipline team with the tools, equipment, and training to 
conduct confined space, low/high-angle rope rescue, breaching, shoring, excavation, trench, and 
water rescue operations.  

A.1.7 Probability of Occurrence 

Probability of occurrence refers to the probability of a future hazard occurrence during a specific 
period. Because the CFAI agency accreditation process requires annual review of an agency’s risk 
assessment and baseline performance measures, Citygate recommends using the 12 months 
following completion of an SOC study as an appropriate period for the probability of occurrence 
evaluation. Table 29 describes the five probability of occurrence categories and related scoring 
criteria used for this analysis.  

Item 8 
Attachment #2 

107

139



Ross Valley Fire Department—Standards of Coverage Assessment 
Volume 1—Technical Report 

Appendix A—Risk Assessment page 76 

Table 29—Probability of Occurrence Scoring Criteria 

Score 
Probable 

Occurrence Description General Criteria 

0–1.0 Very Low Improbable Hazard occurrence is unlikely  

1.25–2.0 Low Rare Hazard could occur  

2.25–3.0 Moderate Infrequent Hazard should occur infrequently  

3.25–4.0 High Likely Hazard likely to occur regularly  

4.25–5.0 Very High Frequent Hazard is expected to occur frequently  

Citygate’s SOC assessments use recent multiple-year hazard response data to determine the 
probability of hazard occurrence for the ensuing 12-month period. 

A.1.8 Impact Severity 

Impact severity refers to the extent a hazard occurrence impacts people, buildings, lifeline services, 
the environment, and the community as a whole. Table 30 describes the five impact severity 
categories and related scoring criteria used for this analysis.  

Item 8 
Attachment #2 

108

140



Ross Valley Fire Department—Standards of Coverage Assessment 
Volume 1—Technical Report 

Appendix A—Risk Assessment page 77 

Table 30—Impact Severity Scoring Criteria 

Score Impact 
Severity General Criteria 

0 – 1.0 Insignificant 

• No serious injuries or fatalities 
• Few persons displaced for only a short duration  
• None or inconsequential damage 
• None or very minimal disruption to community  
• No measurable environmental impacts 
• Little or no financial loss  

1.25 – 2.0 Minor 

• Some minor injuries; no fatalities expected 
• Some persons displaced for less than 24 hours 
• Some minor damage 
• Minor community disruption; no loss of lifeline services  
• Minimal environmental impacts with no lasting effects  
• Minor financial loss  

2.25 – 3.0 Moderate 

• Some hospitalizations; some fatalities expected  
• Localized displacement of persons for up to 24 hours  
• Localized damage  
• Normal community functioning with some inconvenience 
• Minor loss of critical lifeline services  
• Some environmental impacts with no lasting effects, or small environmental impact 

with long-term effect  
• Moderate financial loss  

3.25 – 4.0 Major 

• Extensive serious injuries; significant number of persons hospitalized  
• Many fatalities expected 
• Significant displacement of many people for more than 24 hours 
• Significant damage requiring external resources  
• Community services disrupted; some lifeline services potentially unavailable  
• Some environmental impacts with long-term effects 
• Major financial loss  

4.25 – 5.0 Catastrophic 

• Large number of severe injuries and fatalities  
• Local/regional hospitals impacted  
• Large number of persons displaced for an extended duration  
• Extensive damage 
• Widespread loss of critical lifeline services  
• Community unable to function without significant support 
• Significant environmental impacts and/or permanent environmental damage  
• Catastrophic financial loss 

A.1.9 Overall Risk 

Overall hazard risk is determined by multiplying the probability of occurrence score by the impact 
severity score. The resultant total determines the overall risk rating as shown in Table 31. 

Item 8 
Attachment #2 

109

141



Ross Valley Fire Department—Standards of Coverage Assessment 
Volume 1—Technical Report 

Appendix A—Risk Assessment page 78 

Table 31—Overall Risk Score and Rating 

Overall Risk 
Score 

Overall Risk 
Rating 

0–5.99 LOW 

6.0–11.99 MODERATE 

12.0–19.99 HIGH 

20.0–25.0 MAXIMUM 

A.1.10 Building Fire Risk 

One of the primary hazards in any community is building fire. Building fire risk factors include 
building size, age, construction type, density, occupancy, number of stories above ground level, 
required fire flow, proximity to other buildings, built-in fire protection/alarm systems, available 
fire suppression water supply, building fire service capacity, fire suppression resource deployment 
(distribution/concentration), staffing, and response time. Citygate used available data from the 
Department and the U.S. Census Bureau to assist in determining the Department’s building fire 
risk.  

Figure 18 illustrates the building fire progression timeline and shows that flashover, which is the 
point at which the entire room erupts into fire after all the combustible objects in that room reach 
their ignition temperature, can occur as early as 3:00 to 5:00 minutes from the initial ignition. 
Human survival in a room after flashover is extremely improbable. 

Item 8 
Attachment #2 

110

142



Ross Valley Fire Department—Standards of Coverage Assessment 
Volume 1—Technical Report 

Appendix A—Risk Assessment page 79 

Figure 18—Building Fire Progression Timeline 

 
Source: http://www.firesprinklerassoc.org  

Population Density  

Population density within the service area ranges from less than 500 to approximately 5,000 people 
per square mile. Although risk analysis across a wide spectrum of other Citygate clients shows no 
direct correlation between population density and building fire occurrence, it is reasonable to 
conclude that building fire risk relative to potential impact on human life is greater as population 
density increases, particularly in areas with high density, multiple-story buildings.  

Water Supply 

A reliable public water system providing adequate volume, pressure, and flow duration in close 
proximity to all buildings is a critical factor in mitigating the potential impact severity of a 
community’s building fire risk. Potable water is provided by the Marin Municipal Water District, 

Item 8 
Attachment #2 

111

143



Ross Valley Fire Department—Standards of Coverage Assessment 
Volume 1—Technical Report 

Appendix A—Risk Assessment page 80 

and according to Fire Department staff, available fire flow is insufficient in several sections of the 
service area as shown in Map #2E in Volume 2 (Map Atlas).  

Building Fire Service Demand 

For calendar years 2017 and 2018, the Department experienced 44 building fire incidents 
comprising 1 percent of total service demand over the same period, as summarized in Table 32. 

Table 32—Building Fire Service Demand 

Risk Year 
Planning Zone 

Total 
Percent Total 

Service 
Demand Sta. 18 Sta. 19 Sta. 20 Sta. 21 

Building Fire 
2017 3 3 7 11 24 0.83% 

2018 0 5 7 8 20 0.75% 

Total 3 8 14 19 44 0.79% 

Percent of Total Service Demand .79% 0.42% 1.46% 0.97% 0.79%   
Source: Ross Valley Fire Department incident data 

As Table 32 illustrates, building fire service demand was consistent across the two-year study 
period, with the highest volume of incidents occurring at Station 21 and the lowest at Station 19. 
Overall, the Department’s building fire service demand is very low, comprising less than one 
percent of all calls for service, which is consistent with other California jurisdictions of similar 
size and demographics. 

Probability of Building Fire Occurrence 

Table 33 summarizes Citygate’s scoring of building fire probability by planning zone based on 
building fire service demand from Table 32. 

Table 33—Building Fire Probability Scoring 

Building Fire 
Planning Zone 

Sta. 18 Sta. 19 Sta. 20 Sta. 21 

Probability Score 1.25 1.50 2.0 2.25 

Item 8 
Attachment #2 

112

144



Ross Valley Fire Department—Standards of Coverage Assessment 
Volume 1—Technical Report 

Appendix A—Risk Assessment page 81 

Building Fire Impact Severity 

Table 34 summarizes Citygate’s scoring of the Department’s probable building fire impact severity 
by planning zone. 

Table 34—Building Fire Impact Severity Scoring 

Building Fire 
Planning Zone 

Sta. 18 Sta. 19 Sta. 20 Sta. 21 

Impact Severity Score 3.0 3.0 3.0 3.0 

Overall Building Fire Risk 

Table 35 summarizes the Department’s overall building fire risk scores and ratings by planning 
zone.  

Table 35—Overall Building Fire Risk 

Building Fire 
Planning Zone 

Sta. 18 Sta. 19 Sta. 20 Sta. 21 

Total Risk Score 3.75 4.50 6.00 6.75 

Risk Rating Low Low Moderate Moderate 

A.1.11 Vegetation Fire Risk 

Most of the service area is susceptible to a vegetation fire, particularly along the northern and 
western edges abutting the Mount Tamalpais watershed.   

Wildland Fire Hazard Severity Zones 

The California Department of Forestry and Fire Protection (CAL FIRE) designates wildland Fire 
Hazard Severity Zones (FHSZ) throughout the State based on analysis of multiple wildland fire 
hazard factors and modeling of potential wildland fire behavior. For State Responsibility Areas 
(SRAs) where CAL FIRE has fiscal responsibility for wildland fire protection, CAL FIRE 
designates Moderate, High, and Very High FHSZs by county, as shown in Figure 19 for Marin 
County. Note the Moderate, High, and Very High FHSZs immediately to the north, northeast, and 
west of the service area.  

Item 8 
Attachment #2 

113

145



Ross Valley Fire Department—Standards of Coverage Assessment 
Volume 1—Technical Report 

Appendix A—Risk Assessment page 82 

Figure 19—SRA Wildland Fire Hazard Severity Zones – Marin County 

 

CAL FIRE also identifies recommended FHSZs for Local Responsibility Areas (LRAs), where a 
local jurisdiction bears the fiscal responsibility for wildland fire protection, including incorporated 
cities, as shown in Figure 20 for Marin County. 

Item 8 
Attachment #2 

114

146



Ross Valley Fire Department—Standards of Coverage Assessment 
Volume 1—Technical Report 

Appendix A—Risk Assessment page 83 

Figure 20—Wildland Fire Hazard Map 

 

Note that there are no recommended FHSZs within the Department’s service area. The 2016 Marin 
County Fire Department Community Wildfire Protection Plan (CWPP), however, identifies 
significant sections of the service area as Moderate, High and Very High Areas of Concern based 
on composite geospatial modeling of population density, potential flame length, and potential rate 
of spread as shown in Figure 21. 

Item 8 
Attachment #2 

115

147



Ross Valley Fire Department—Standards of Coverage Assessment 
Volume 1—Technical Report 

Appendix A—Risk Assessment page 84 

Figure 21—Areas of Wildfire Concern – Marin County CWPP 

 
Reference: 2016 Marin County CWPP, Figure 15 

Vegetative Fuels 

Vegetative fuel factors influencing fire intensity and spread include fuel type (species), height, 
arrangement, density, and moisture. Vegetative fuels within the service area, in addition to 
decorative landscape species, include both native and non-native annual and perennial plant 
species, including grasses, weeds, shrubs, and chamise, and mostly hardwood trees including bay, 
eucalyptus, madrone, and oak. The majority of the service area has moderate to high vegetative 
fuel density. Once ignited, vegetation fires can burn intensely and contribute to rapid fire spread 
under the right fuel, weather, and topographic conditions.  

Weather 

Weather elements such as temperature, relative humidity, wind, and lightning also affect 
vegetation fire potential and behavior. High temperatures and low relative humidity dry out 
vegetative fuels, creating a situation where fuels will more readily ignite and burn more intensely. 

Item 8 
Attachment #2 

116

148



Ross Valley Fire Department—Standards of Coverage Assessment 
Volume 1—Technical Report 

Appendix A—Risk Assessment page 85 

Wind is the most significant weather factor influencing vegetation fire behavior; higher wind 
speeds increase fire spread and intensity. Wildland fire season, when vegetation fires are most 
likely to occur due to fuel and weather conditions, occurs from approximately June through 
October in Marin County. Summer weather within the service area typically includes cool 
mornings, warm afternoons and evenings, and west/northwest breezes that can reach 15-25 miles 
per hour. Occasional summer gradients can produce temperatures in the high 90s to low 100s, low 
relative humidity, and offshore winds as high as 40 miles per hour. These weather conditions create 
the potential for a large, damaging wildfire.  

Topography 

Vegetation fires tend to burn more intensely and spread faster when burning uphill and up-canyon, 
except for a wind-driven downhill or down-canyon fire. The service area’s terrain varies from flat 
to steep slopes, which can contribute significantly to wildfire behavior and spread.  

Wildfire History 

Since the early 1900s, there have been several large wildland fires in Marin County, including the 
1972 Kent Woodlands Fire, 1976 Scorich Park Fire, and 1995 Vision Fire (12,354 acres) as shown 
in Figure 22.  

Item 8 
Attachment #2 

117

149



Ross Valley Fire Department—Standards of Coverage Assessment 
Volume 1—Technical Report 

Appendix A—Risk Assessment page 86 

Figure 22—Marin County Wildfire History 

 
Source: Marin County CWPP, Figure 6 

Water Supply 

Another significant vegetation fire impact severity factor is water supply immediately available 
for fire suppression. According to Department staff, available fire flow is insufficient in several 
sections of the service area as shown in Map #2E in Volume 2 (Map Atlas).  

Wildland Fire Hazard Mitigation 

Hazard mitigation refers to specific actions or measures taken to prevent a hazard from occurring 
and/or to minimize the severity of impacts resulting from a hazard occurrence. While none of the 
hazards subject to this study can be entirely prevented, measures can be taken to minimize the 
consequences or impacts when those hazards do occur.  

The Towns of Ross, San Anselmo, and Fairfax, and the Sleepy Hollow Fire Protection District, 
have adopted the 2016 California Fire Code and the 2015 International Wildland Urban Interface 
Code with amendments. 

Item 8 
Attachment #2 

118

150



Ross Valley Fire Department—Standards of Coverage Assessment 
Volume 1—Technical Report 

Appendix A—Risk Assessment page 87 

The 2016 Marin County CWPP identifies the following wildfire hazard mitigation strategies, in 
addition to building codes, ordinances, and standards, and defensible space enforcement and public 
education strategies: 

 Residential chipper programs 

 Increasing dedicated staffing for vegetation management programs 

 Annual weed abatement program 

 Implementing an enhanced County Vegetation Management Program (conditional 
on voter approval of a Municipal Service Tax) 

 Fuel breaks 

 Eucalyptus and pine tree removal 

 Roadside fuel reduction 

 Evacuation route fuel reduction 

 Creation of shaded fuel breaks in WUI transition zones 

Vegetation Fire Service Demand 

The Department experienced only 19 vegetation fires over the two-year study period, comprising 
0.34 percent of total service demand over the same period, as summarized in Table 36.  

Table 36—Vegetation Fire Service Demand  

Risk Year 
Planning Zone 

Total 
Percent Total 

Service 
Demand Sta. 18 Sta. 19 Sta. 20 Sta. 21 

Vegetation Fire 
2017 2 3 1 5 11 0.38% 

2018 1 3 2 2 8 0.30% 

Total 3 6 3 7 19 0.34% 

Percent of Total Service Demand 0.41% 0.32% 0.31% 0.36% 0.34%   

Source: Ross Valley Fire Department incident data 

As Table 36 shows, overall vegetation fire service demand is extremely low. 

Probability of Vegetation Fire Occurrence 

Table 37 summarizes Citygate’s scoring of vegetation fire probability by planning zone based on 
vegetation fire service demand from Table 36. 

Item 8 
Attachment #2 

119

151



Ross Valley Fire Department—Standards of Coverage Assessment 
Volume 1—Technical Report 

Appendix A—Risk Assessment page 88 

Table 37—Vegetation Fire Probability Scoring 

Vegetation Fire 
Planning Zone 

Sta. 18 Sta. 19 Sta. 20 Sta. 21 

Probability Score 1.25 1.50 1.25 1.50 

Vegetation Fire Impact Severity 

Table 38 summarizes Citygate’s scoring of probable vegetation fire impact severity by planning 
zone. 

Table 38—Vegetation Fire Impact Severity Scoring 

Vegetation Fire 
Planning Zone 

Sta. 18 Sta. 19 Sta. 20 Sta. 21 

Impact Severity Score 3.0 3.0 3.0 3.0 

Overall Vegetation Fire Risk 

Table 39 summarizes the Department’s overall vegetation fire risk scores and ratings by planning 
zone. 

Table 39—Overall Vegetation Fire Risk 

Vegetation Fire 
Planning Zone 

Sta. 18 Sta. 19 Sta. 20 Sta. 21 

Total Risk Score 3.75 4.50 3.75 4.50 

Risk Rating Low Low Low Low 

A.1.12 Medical Emergency Risk  

Medical emergency risk in most communities is predominantly a function of population density, 
demographics, violence, health insurance coverage, and vehicle traffic.  

Medical emergency risk can also be categorized as either a medical emergency resulting from a 
traumatic injury or a health-related condition or event. Cardiac arrest is one serious medical 
emergency among many where there is an interruption or blockage of oxygen to the brain.  

Figure 23 illustrates the reduced survivability of a cardiac arrest victim as time to defibrillation 
increases. While early defibrillation is one factor in cardiac arrest survivability, other factors can 

Item 8 
Attachment #2 

120

152



Ross Valley Fire Department—Standards of Coverage Assessment 
Volume 1—Technical Report 

Appendix A—Risk Assessment page 89 

influence survivability as well, such as early CPR and pre-hospital advanced life support 
interventions.  

Figure 23—Survival Rate versus Time to Defibrillation 

Source: www.suddencardiacarrest.org  

Population Density 

The Department’s service area population density ranges from less than 500 people per square 
mile to approximately 5,000 per square mile. Risk analysis across a wide spectrum of other 
Citygate clients shows a direct correlation between population density and the occurrence of 
medical emergencies, particularly in high urban population density zones. 

Demographics 

Medical emergency risk tends to be higher among older, poorer, less-educated, and uninsured 
populations. According to the U.S. Census Bureau, nearly 20 percent of the service area population 
is 65 and older; 4.4 percent of the population is at or below poverty level; only 3.4 percent of the 
population over 24 years of age has less than a high school education or equivalent; and only two 

Item 8 
Attachment #2 

121

153



Ross Valley Fire Department—Standards of Coverage Assessment 
Volume 1—Technical Report 

Appendix A—Risk Assessment page 90 

percent of the population does not have health insurance coverage.7 Overall, this indicates a well-
educated and employed population with good health insurance coverage, all factors that can 
contribute to reducing medical emergency service demand.  

Vehicle Traffic 

Medical emergency risk tends to be higher in those areas of a community with high daily vehicle 
traffic volume, particularly those areas with high traffic volume traveling at high speeds. The 
service area transportation network includes Sir Francis Drake Boulevard, the primary two-lane 
regional thoroughfare with a very high daily traffic volume, particularly during weekday commute 
hours and on weekends.  

Medical Emergency Service Demand 

Medical emergency service demand over the two-year study period includes more than 2,800 calls 
for service comprising slightly more than 51 percent of total service demand over the same period, 
as summarized in Table 40. 

Table 40—Medical Emergency Service Demand 

Risk Year 
Planning Zone 

Total 
Percent Total 

Service 
Demand Sta. 18 Sta. 19 Sta. 20 Sta. 21 

Medical Emergency 
2017 118 488 243 584 1,433 49.81% 

2018 146 499 240 539 1,424 53.10% 

Total 264 987 483 1,123 2,857 51.39% 

Percent of Total Service Demand 36.16% 51.98% 50.21% 57.06% 51.39%   
Source: Ross Valley Fire Department incident data 

As Table 40 shows, medical emergency service demand varies by planning zone and is trending 
consistently over the past two years. Overall, the Department’s medical emergency service demand 
is similar to other California jurisdictions of similar size and demographics. 

Probability of Medical Emergency Occurrence 

Table 41 summarizes Citygate’s scoring of medical emergency probability by planning zone based 
on medical emergency service demand from Table 40. 

 

7 Source: U.S. Census Bureau (2017) 

Item 8 
Attachment #2 

122

154



Ross Valley Fire Department—Standards of Coverage Assessment 
Volume 1—Technical Report 

Appendix A—Risk Assessment page 91 

Table 41—Medical Emergency Probability Scoring 

Medical Emergency 
Planning Zone 

Sta. 18 Sta. 19 Sta. 20 Sta. 21 

Probability Score 4.0 4.5 4.25 4.75 

Medical Emergency Impact Severity 

Table 42 summarizes Citygate’s scoring of probable medical emergency impact severity by 
planning zone. 

Table 42—Medical Emergency Impact Severity Scoring 

Medical Emergency 
Planning Zone 

Sta. 18 Sta. 19 Sta. 20 Sta. 21 

Impact Severity Score 3.0 3.0 3.0 3.0 

Overall Medical Emergency Risk 

Table 43 summarizes the Department’s overall medical emergency risk scores and ratings by 
planning zone.  

Table 43—Overall Medical Emergency Risk 

Medical Emergency 
Planning Zone 

Sta. 18 Sta. 19 Sta. 20 Sta. 21 

Total Risk Score 12.0 13.5 12.75 14.25 

Risk Rating High High High High 

A.1.13 Hazardous Material Risk 

Hazardous material risk factors include fixed facilities that store, use, or produce hazardous 
chemicals or waste; underground pipelines conveying hazardous materials; aviation, railroad, 
maritime, and vehicle transportation of hazardous materials into or through a jurisdiction; 
vulnerable populations; emergency evacuation planning and related training; and specialized 
hazardous material service capacity.  

Item 8 
Attachment #2 

123

155



Ross Valley Fire Department—Standards of Coverage Assessment 
Volume 1—Technical Report 

Appendix A—Risk Assessment page 92

Fixed Hazardous Materials Facilities 

The Marin County Department of Public Works, serving as the State-designated Certified Unified 
Program Agency for the County, identified 38 facilities within the Department’s service area 
requiring a State or County hazardous material operating permit as shown on Map #2C in Volume 
2 (Map Atlas). 

Transportation-Related Hazardous Materials 

The Department also has transportation-related hazardous material risk due to hazardous materials 
transported into or through its service area, primarily on Sir Francis Drake Boulevard. 

Population Density 

Because hazardous material emergencies have the potential to adversely impact human health, it 
is logical that the higher the population density, the greater the potential population exposed to a 
hazardous material release or spill. The service area population density ranges from less than 500 
people per square mile to approximately 5,000 per square mile. 

Vulnerable Populations 

Persons vulnerable to a hazardous material release/spill include those individuals or groups unable 
to self-evacuate, generally including children under the age of 10, the elderly, and persons confined 
to an institution or other setting where they are unable to leave voluntarily. Almost 29 percent of 
the service area population is under age 10 years or is 65 years of age and older.  

Emergency Evacuation Planning, Training, Implementation, and Effectiveness 

Another significant hazardous material impact severity factor is a jurisdiction’s shelter-in-place / 
emergency evacuation planning and training. In the event of a hazardous material release or spill, 
time can be a critical factor in notifying potentially affected persons, particularly at-risk 
populations, to either shelter-in-place or evacuate to a safe location. Essential to this process is an 
effective emergency plan that incorporates one or more mass emergency notification capabilities, 
as well as pre-established evacuation procedures. It is also essential to conduct regular, periodic 
exercises involving these two emergency plan elements to evaluate readiness and to identify and 
remediate any planning and/or training gaps to ensure ongoing emergency incident readiness and 
effectiveness.  

The Office of Emergency Services (OES), within the Marin County Sheriff’s Office, is responsible 
for disaster/emergency preparedness and management in the unincorporated areas of the County, 
including hazard information, coordination with other local/regional emergency management 
organizations, emergency preparedness, and disaster response, communications, and recovery. 
OES also manages AlertMarin, a free, subscription-based, mass emergency notification system 
that can provide emergency alerts, notifications, and other emergency information to email 

Item 8 
Attachment #2 

124

156



Ross Valley Fire Department—Standards of Coverage Assessment 
Volume 1—Technical Report 

Appendix A—Risk Assessment page 93 

accounts, cell phones, smartphones, tablets, and landline telephones. AlertMarin notifications can 
be initiated by designated fire or law enforcement agency personnel.  

The Sheriff’s Office is also responsible for initiating emergency evacuations in the unincorporated 
areas of the County. No information was identified for this assessment relative to pre-planned 
evacuation routes, evacuation procedures, or evacuation exercises.  

Hazardous Material Service Demand 

The Department responded to 91 hazardous material incidents over the two-year study period, 
comprising 1.64 percent of total service demand over the same period, as summarized in Table 44.  

Table 44—Hazardous Material Service Demand  

Risk Year 
Planning Zone 

Total 
Percent Total 

Service 
Demand Sta. 18 Sta. 19 Sta. 20 Sta. 21 

Hazardous Material 
2017 12 18 7 12 49 53.8% 

2018 9 14 10 9 42 46.2% 

Total 21 32 17 21 91 100% 

Percent of Total Service Demand 2.88% 1.69% 1.77% 1.07% 1.64%   
Source: Ross Valley Fire Department incident data 

As Table 44 indicates, hazardous material service demand is relatively consistent across all 
planning zones and years. While this service demand seems high for this size agency and 
jurisdiction, it is most likely due to Department personnel cross-staffing the Hazardous Materials 
Response unit for responses to other regional jurisdictions, rather than hazardous materials 
incidents within the service area. Overall, the Department’s hazardous material service demand is 
low. 

Probability of Hazardous Material Occurrence 

Table 45 summarizes Citygate’s scoring of hazardous materials probability by planning zone based 
on hazardous material service demand from Table 44. 

Table 45—Hazardous Material Probability Scoring 

Hazardous Material 
Planning Zone 

Sta. 18 Sta. 19 Sta. 20 Sta. 21 

Probability Score 2.50 2.75 2.25 2.50 

Item 8 
Attachment #2 

125

157



Ross Valley Fire Department—Standards of Coverage Assessment 
Volume 1—Technical Report 

Appendix A—Risk Assessment page 94 

Hazardous Material Impact Severity 

Table 46 summarizes Citygate’s scoring of probable hazardous material impact severity by 
planning zone.  

Table 46—Hazardous Material Impact Severity Scoring 

Hazardous Materials 
Planning Zone 

Sta. 18 Sta. 19 Sta. 20 Sta. 21 

Impact Severity Score 3.0 3.0 3.0 3.0 

Overall Hazardous Material Risk 

Table 47 summarizes the Department’s overall hazardous material risk scores and ratings by 
planning zone.  

Table 47—Overall Hazardous Material Risk 

Hazardous Materials 
Planning Zone 

Sta. 18 Sta. 19 Sta. 20 Sta. 21 

Total Risk Score 7.50 8.25 6.75 7.50 

Risk Rating Moderate Moderate Moderate Moderate 

A.1.14 Technical Rescue Risk 

Technical rescue risk factors include active construction projects; structural collapse potential; 
confined spaces, such as tanks and underground vaults; bodies of water, including rivers and 
streams; industrial machinery use; transportation volume; and earthquake, flood, and landslide 
potential. 

Construction Activity 

There is ongoing residential, commercial, and/or infrastructure construction activity occurring 
within the Department’s service area.  

Confined Spaces 

There are multiple tanks, vaults, and temporary open trenches within the Department’s service 
area.  

Item 8 
Attachment #2 

126

158



Ross Valley Fire Department—Standards of Coverage Assessment 
Volume 1—Technical Report 

Appendix A—Risk Assessment page 95 

Bodies of Water 

Bodies of water within the Department’s service area include Corte Madera, Fairfax, Ross, San 
Anselmo, and Sleepy Hollow creeks.  

Transportation Volume 

Another factor is transportation-related incidents requiring technical rescue. This risk factor is 
primarily a function of vehicle, railway, maritime, and aviation traffic. Vehicle traffic volume is 
the greatest of these factors within the service area, with Sir Francis Drake Boulevard carrying a 
high daily traffic volume.  

Earthquake Risk8 

The potential for earthquake damage exists throughout Marin County due to the combination of 
the number of active faults within and near the County and the presence of soils vulnerable to 
liquefaction. Active faults include the Hayward, Rodgers Creek, and San Andreas as shown in 
Figure 24. According to the Working Group on California Earthquake Probabilities, there is a 72 
percent probability of at least one earthquake of magnitude 6.7 or greater within the Bay Area 
before 2043. The Association of Bay Area Governments (ABAG) Resilience Program projects a 
52 percent chance of a magnitude 6.7 or greater earthquake on one of the faults affecting Marin 
County by 2036.  

 

8 Reference: 2018 Marin County Multi-Jurisdictional Local Hazard Mitigation Plan, Section 3 

Item 8 
Attachment #2 

127

159



Ross Valley Fire Department—Standards of Coverage Assessment 
Volume 1—Technical Report 

Appendix A—Risk Assessment page 96 

Figure 24—Earthquake Faults 

 

Flood Risk9 

All of Marin’s watersheds are small and largely prone to flash flooding. Several Marin 
communities, including Ross Valley, are protected by levees. Flooding has historically resulted in 
extensive damage in many County communities, including most of the Department’s service area, 
from significant flood events in 1955, 1958, 1964, 1969, 1970, 1982, 1983, 1986, 1995, 1997, 

 

9 Reference: 2018 Marin County Multi-Jurisdictional Local Hazard Mitigation Plan, Section 3 

Item 8 
Attachment #2 

128

160



Ross Valley Fire Department—Standards of Coverage Assessment 
Volume 1—Technical Report 

Appendix A—Risk Assessment page 97

1998, 2005, 2006, and 2017. Figure 25 shows the flood hazard zones within the Department’s 
service area as identified by the Federal Emergency Management Agency (FEMA). 

Figure 25—Flood Hazard Areas 

Item 8 
Attachment #2 

129

161



Ross Valley Fire Department—Standards of Coverage Assessment 
Volume 1—Technical Report 

Appendix A—Risk Assessment page 98 

Technical Rescue Service Demand 

Over the two-year study period, there were a total of six technical rescue incidents comprising 0.11 
percent of total service demand for the same period, as summarized in Table 48. 

Table 48—Technical Rescue Service Demand 

Risk Year 
Planning Zone 

Total 
Percent Total 

Service 
Demand Sta. 18 Sta. 19 Sta. 20 Sta. 21 

Technical Rescue 
2017 0 0 0 3 3 0.10% 

2018 1 1 0 1 3 0.11% 

Total 1 1 0 4 6 0.11% 

Percent of Total Service Demand 0.14% 0.05% 0.00% 0.20% 0.11%   
Source: Ross Valley Fire Department incident data 

As Table 48 shows, technical rescue service demand is extremely low. 

Probability of Technical Rescue Occurrence 

Table 49 summarizes Citygate’s technical rescue probability scoring by planning zone based on 
service demand from Table 48. These probability scores are based predominantly on known 
historical flood data rather than recent service demand history. 

Table 49—Technical Rescue Probability Scoring 

Technical Rescue 
Planning Zone 

Sta. 18 Sta. 19 Sta. 20 Sta. 21 

Probability Score 1.25 1.25 1.25 1.25 

Technical Rescue Impact Severity 

Table 50 summarizes Citygate’s scoring of probable technical rescue impact severity by planning 
zone.  

Table 50—Technical Rescue Impact Severity Scoring 

Technical Rescue 
Planning Zone 

Sta. 18 Sta. 19 Sta. 20 Sta. 21 

Impact Severity Score 3.0 3.0 3.0 3.0 

Item 8 
Attachment #2 

130

162



Ross Valley Fire Department—Standards of Coverage Assessment 
Volume 1—Technical Report 

Appendix A—Risk Assessment page 99

Overall Technical Rescue Risk 

Table 51 summarizes the Department’s overall technical rescue risk scores and ratings by planning 
zone.  

Table 51—Overall Technical Rescue Risk 

Technical Rescue 
Planning Zone 

Sta. 18 Sta. 19 Sta. 20 Sta. 21 

Total Risk Score 3.75 3.75 3.75 3.75 

Risk Rating Low Low Low Low 

Item 8 
Attachment #2 

131

163



Item 8 
Attachment #3 

132

164



Item 8 
Attachment #3 

133

165



Item 8 
Attachment #3 

134

166



Item 8 
Attachment #3 

135

167



Item 8 
Attachment #3 

136

168



Item 8 
Attachment #3 

137

169



Date Issued: April 14, 2022

REQUEST FOR PROPOSALS:
Ross Valley Fire Department Future Governance Leadership

Study

Submit Responses to:

Mariana Gonzalez
mgonzalez@rossvalleyfire.org

415-258-4686

Proposals Must Be Received by: May 6, 2022 – 1700hrs

PROPOSAL WILL NOT BE ACCEPTED AFTER THIS DATE AND TIME

Item 8 
Attachment #4 

138

170



Note Regarding the Public Records Act:

Government Code Sections 6550 et seq., the California Public Record Act, defines a public record as any
writing containing information relating to the conduct of the public business. The Public Record Act
provides that public records shall be disclosed upon written request and that any citizen has a right to
inspect any public record unless the document is exempted from disclosure.

Be advised that any contract that eventually arises from this Request for Proposals is a public record in
its entirety. Also, all information submitted in response to this Request for Proposals is itself a public
record without exception. Submission of any materials in response to this Request for Proposals (RFP)
constitutes a waiver by the submitting party of any claim that the information is protected from
disclosure. By submitting materials, (1) you are consenting to release of such materials by the Ross Valley
Fire Department (“RVFD”) if requested under the Public Records Act without further notice to you and
(2) you agree to indemnify and hold harmless the RVFD for release of such information.

If the RVFD receives a request for any portion of a document submitted in response to this RFP, the RVFD
will not assert any privileges that may exist on behalf of the person or entity submitting the proposal,
and the RVFD reserves the right to disclose the requested materials without notice to the party who
originally submitted the requested material. To the extent consistent with the Public Records Act and
applicable case law interpreting those provisions, the RVFD and/or its officers, agents, and employees
retain discretion to release or withhold any information submitted in response to this RFP.

Submission of a proposal constitutes a complete waiver of any claims whatsoever against the RVFD
and/or its officers, agents, or employees that the RVFD has violated a Proposer's right to privacy,
disclosed trade secrets, or caused any damage by allowing the proposal to be inspected.

Item 8 
Attachment #4 

139

171



TABLE OF CONTENTS

1. General Information
2. RFP Procedure
3. General Terms and Conditions
4. Scope of Work
5. Proposal Submission Requirements
6. Exhibits and Attachments

Item 8 
Attachment #4 

140

172



1. GENERAL INFORMATION

1.1 Statement of Intent
The Ross Valley Fire Department, through this Request for Proposals (“RFP”) seeks a qualified

contractor(s) to provide professional services for the “Ross Valley Fire Department Future Governance
Leadership Study.” Please see Section 4, below, for a full description of the services required. It is a

Proposer’s responsibility to review the entire RFP in order to submit a complete and responsive
proposal. The highest ranked Proposer, based on the written response to the RFP, as well as any

interviews, if scheduled, will be invited to negotiate a contract with the RVFD. The target start date for
the proposed services is [May 15, 2022], subject to negotiation of a final agreement. The contract is

structured as a one-year contract (through June 2023).

Item 8 
Attachment #4 

141

173



2. RFP PROCEDURE

This section describes the general RFP procedure used by the Ross Valley Fire Department. This RFP
seeks the submission of proposals from interested and qualified Proposers. The RVFD seeks to obtain the
listed services in a manner that maximizes the quality of services while also maximizing value to the
RVFD and, by extension, its residents. Proposers must be able to show that they are capable of
performing the services requested. Such evidence includes, but is not limited to, the respondent's
demonstrated competency and experience in delivering services of a similar scope and type and local
availability of the Proposer's personnel and equipment resources.

2.1    Tentative Schedule

The following schedule is tentative, and the Department may amend the tentative schedule as necessary
by addendum.

Table 1: Tentative Schedule of Events

Event Target Date
1. RFP Release Date [April 14, 2022]
2. Optional Pre-Proposal Conference [April 21, 2022]
4. Deadline to Submit Written Questions [April 28, 2022]
5. Responses to Written Questions [May 2, 2022]
6. Proposal Deadline – Proposals Must Be RECEIVED by 5:00 p.m. on this Date [May 6, 2022]

2.2 Pre-Proposal Conference

There will be a pre-proposal conference as outlined above via zoom
https://us06web.zoom.us/j/84991209119 on April 21, 2022 at 1500hrs. The purpose of this meeting
will be to review the project requirements, RFP response requirements, evaluation criteria, project
overview, and answer any questions from prospective Proposers. Attendance by at least one key
representative from each Proposer’s company is voluntary but encouraged.

2.3 Submission of Proposals

2.3.1 Method of Submission

Proposals must be submitted by the submittal deadline, as follows:

An electronic copy of proposal by email received at mgonzalez@rossvalleyfire.org. Alternatively, one
printed copy of the proposal may be delivered by mail or hand to the following address: 777 San
Anselmo Ave. San Anselmo, CA 94960

Item 8 
Attachment #4 

142

174

https://us06web.zoom.us/j/84991209119


The subject header and/or back of the submitted envelope(s) shall be labeled “Proposal - Ross Valley Fire
Department Future Governance Leadership Study” Proposals shall be in the format required in Section 5
below. There will not be a public opening of proposals. All proposals shall be firm offers, and will so be
considered by the RVFD, although the RVFD reserves the right to negotiate terms upon evaluation of the
proposals. Proposals will be considered valid offers for a period of ninety (90) days following the close of
the RFP.

2.3.2 No Collusion

By submitting a proposal, each Proposer certifies that its submission is not the result of collusion or any
other activity that would tend to directly or indirectly influence the selection process. The proposal will
be used to determine the Proposer's capability of rendering the services to be provided. The failure of a
Proposer to comply fully with the instructions in this RFP may eliminate its proposal from further
evaluation as determined in the sole discretion of the RVFD. The RVFD reserves the sole right to evaluate
the contents of proposals submitted in response to this RFP and to select a contractor, if any.

2.3.3 Late Proposals

Proposals received late will not be opened or given any consideration for the proposed services unless
doing so is deemed to be in the best interest of the RVFD, as determined in the sole discretion of the
RVFD. All proposals will be date/time stamped upon receipt. All proposals received prior to the deadline
for proposals will be kept in a secure place.

2.4 Proposal Evaluation

All proposals received will be evaluated by the RVFD Management Committee. During the evaluation
process, the RVFD may require a Proposer's representative to answer specific questions orally and/or in
writing. The RVFD may require interviews. The RVFD may also require a visit to the Proposer's offices,
other field visits or observations by RVFD representatives, or demonstrations as part of the overall RFP
evaluation. Once a finalist or group of finalists is selected, additional interactions or information may be
required. Responses to this RFP must adhere to the format for proposals detailed in Section 5. The
criteria used as guidelines in the evaluation will include, but not be limited to, the following:

A. Proposer qualifications and experience.
B. Proposed approach, including clarity of understanding of the scope of services to be provided

and appropriateness of the proposed solution/services.
C. History of successfully managing other contracts with public or private agencies
D. Ability to meet any required timelines or other requirements
E. Claims and violations against responding organization or its agents
F. Cost for the primary services described by this RFP
G. References & Experience: Experience with similar studies and or in the course of prior work

experience/employment. Please include three (2) project descriptions. Please also state the
years of experience in the field of which this project is centered.

H. Compliance with the RVFD’s RFP and contractual requirements

The RVFD may consider any other criteria it deems relevant, and the Evaluation Committee is free to
make any recommendations it deems to be in the best interest of the RVFD. Inaccuracy of any

Item 8 
Attachment #4 

143

175



information supplied within a proposal or other errors constitute grounds for rejection of the proposal.
However, the RVFD may, in its sole discretion, correct errors or contact a Proposer for clarification.

The RVFD reserves the right to evaluate proposals solely based on each proposer's written submission. In
relation to written materials, evaluation will be performed only on the material included directly in the
proposal itself unless otherwise indicated or requested by the RVFD. The RVFD will not access company
websites or read sales brochures, marketing materials, or white papers in evaluating proposer’s
experience or proposed methodology unless doing so is in the RVFD’s best interest. Proposer may submit
additional materials or reference on-line information as part of its proposal, but these will not
necessarily be considered during the proposal evaluation process.

2.5 Proposal Recommendation

The Evaluation Committee will recommend a provider or providers to the RVFD Fire Board or may
recommend that all proposals be rejected. The most qualified proposer(s) will be recommended to the
Fire Board based on the overall strength of each proposal, and the evaluation is not restricted to
considerations of any single factor such as cost. The Fire Board will then make their own decision as to
whether to accept or reject the Evaluation Committee's recommendations. Ultimate acceptance or
rejection of the recommended proposal(s) and execution of a contractual agreement(s) is the
independent prerogative of the RVFD, notwithstanding any recommendations made by the Evaluation
Committee.

2.6 Notice to Proposers

The RVFD is not required to give notice to Proposers in any specific format or on any timeline. At some
point prior to execution of a final agreement for the requested services, the RVFD will notify those who
submitted proposals of their non-selection. Proposers may be notified at different times depending on
the needs of the RVFD.

2.7 Protest Process

If a Proposer desires to protest the selection decision, the Proposer must submit a written protest within
five (5) business days after the delivery of the notice about the decision. The written protest must be
submitted to The Ross Valley Fire Department – Executive Officer, as outlined below. Protests received
after the deadline will not be accepted. Protests must be in writing, must include the name and address
of the Proposer and the RFP title, and must state all the specific ground(s) for the protest. A protest that
merely addresses a single aspect of the selected proposal (for example, comparing the cost of the
selected proposal in relation to the non-selected proposal) is not sufficient to support a protest. A
successful protest will include sufficient evidence and analysis to support a conclusion that the selected
proposal, taken as a whole, is an inferior proposal.

The Executive Officer will respond to a protest within ten (10) business days of receiving it, and the RVFD
may, at its election, set up a meeting with the Proposer to discuss the concerns raised by the protest.
The decision of the Executive Officer will be final. The protest letter must be sent or hand-delivered to:
RVFD Executive Officer, 777 San Anselmo Ave. San Anselmo, CA 94960

Item 8 
Attachment #4 

144

176



3. GENERAL TERMS AND CONDITIONS

3.1 Read All Instructions

Please read the entire RFP and all exhibits before preparing your proposal.

3.2 Proposal Includes the RFP

This RFP constitutes part of each proposal and includes the explanation of the RVFD’s needs, which must
be met.

3.3 Proposal Costs

Costs for developing proposals are entirely the responsibility of the Proposer and may not be charged to
the RVFD.

3.4 Proposal Becomes RVFD Property

The RFP and all materials submitted in response to this RFP will become the property of the RVFD.

3.5 Questions and Response Process

Submit all questions relating to this RFP to the following email address:

E-mail to: mgonzalez@rossvalleyfire.org
Subject Line: Question – RFP Ross Valley Fire Department Future Governance Leadership Study

All questions must be received no later than April 28, 2022 @ 1700hrs

This RFP, all questions, answers or modifications will be posted on the RVFD’s website at
www.rossvalleyfire.org and emailed to the list of pre-proposal meeting attendees who provide their
email to the RVFD. If changes to the RFP are warranted, they will be made in writing, clearly marked as
addenda to the RFP, per Section 3.6 below.

3.6 Alteration of Terms and Clarifications

No alteration or variation of the terms of this RFP is valid unless made or confirmed in writing by the
RVFD. Likewise, oral understandings or agreements not incorporated into the final contract are not
binding on the RVFD.

If a Proposer discovers any ambiguity, conflict, discrepancy, omission, or other error in the RFP, the
Proposer must immediately notify the RVFD of such error in writing and request modification or

Item 8 
Attachment #4 

145

177



clarification of the document. If a Proposer fails to notify the RVFD of an error in the RFP prior to the
date fixed for submission, the Proposer shall submit a response at his/her own risk, and if the Proposer
enters into a contract, the Proposer shall not be entitled to additional compensation or time by reason of
the error or its later correction.

Modifications or clarifications to the RFP will be posted on the RVFD’s website as outlined in Section 3.5,
above, without divulging the source of the request for the same. The RVFD may, at its discretion, also
give electronic notice by email to all parties on the proposers list, pre-proposal meeting list and/or who
have notified the RVFD of their electronic contact information in response to this RFP, but no party that
fails to receive email notice has any basis for protest given that all clarifications will be available online. It
is the obligation of all proposing parties to check the RVFD website for updates regarding the RFP if they
wish to be kept advised of clarifications prior to submitting a proposal. Failure to do so will not provide a
ground for protest.

3.7 Selection of Provider(s)

The selection of a provider will be memorialized in the form of a “Ross Valley Fire Department’s Standard
Professional Services Agreement” (see the sample template in Exhibit D), authorized by the Fire Chief
and signed by both parties. Submission of a proposal constitutes the Proposer’s approval and agreement
to execute an Agreement in the form of Exhibit D.

The RVFD reserves the right to reject any or all proposals without penalty. The RVFD’s waiver of an
immaterial deviation in the proposal shall in no way modify the RFP documents or excuse the Proposer
from full compliance with the specifications if the Proposer enters into a contract.

Selection of a proposal and eventual submission to the RVFD’s authorized representative by way of an
Agreement does not constitute an offer, and Proposers acknowledge by submission of a proposal that no
agreement is final unless and until an agreement with the RVFD is fully executed.

3.8 Amendments to the RFP

The RVFD may modify this RFP by written Addendum emailed to all Proposers that are on the official
proposers list and/or have attended and signed in at the pre-proposal meeting. Any Addenda will be also
posted on the RVFD’s website www.rossvalleyfire.org . It is the responsibility of all interested Proposers
to check the RVFD’s website for Addenda. The RVFD will not be responsible for failed receipt of Addenda
by any interested Proposer in any case. All Addenda will be furnished no less than 7 days prior to the
opening of proposals and must be referred to by number and date on the proposal.

3.9 Examination RFP Documents

Attention is directed to the proposer’s obligation to examine the RFP documents to determine any
variation that may affect the proposal and investigate the conditions of limitations. The Proposer's failure
to do any and all of the above shall not become a basis for claim of additional monies or extension of
time.

Item 8 
Attachment #4 

146

178

http://www.rossvalleyfire.org


3.10 Insurance

The RVFD has certain insurance requirements that must be met. Insurance requirements are described in
“The professional services agreement – Appendix E.”

3.11 Incomplete Proposals May be Rejected

Failure to satisfy any of the requirements identified in this RFP may result in the rejection of the
proposal.

3.12 Contact with Department Employees

As of the issuance date of this RFP and continuing until the final date for submission of proposals, all
Proposers are specifically directed not to hold meetings, conferences, or technical discussions with any
RVFD employee for purposes of responding to this RFP except as otherwise permitted by this RFP. Any
Proposer found to be acting in any way contrary to this directive may be disqualified from entering into
any contract that may result from this RFP. Proposers shall submit questions or concerns about the
process as outlined in Section 3.4, above. The Proposer shall not otherwise ask any RVFD employees
about questions regarding the RFP or related issues, either orally or by written communication, unless
invited to do so.

3.13 Miscellaneous

The RVFD reserves the right to reject any and all proposals and/or terminate the RFP process if deemed
in the best interest of the RVFD. Further, while every effort has been made to ensure the information
presented in this RFP is accurate and thorough, the RVFD assumes no liability for any unintentional
errors or omissions in this document. The RVFD reserves the right to waive or modify any requirements
of this RFP when it determines that doing so is in the best interest of the Department.

Item 8 
Attachment #4 

147

179



4. SCOPE OF WORK

4.1   Background

The Ross Valley Fire Department is a consolidated department protecting lives, property, and the
environments of Ross, San Anselmo, Sleepy Hollow, and Fairfax. Ross Valley fire departments trace their
history to the early 1900s, with the formation of small volunteer fire departments in the newly formed
towns of Ross, San Anselmo, and Fairfax. Built near the wildfire prone slopes of Mount Tamalpais, these
communities were and continue to be acutely aware of the risk of fire. In 1982, the Fairfax Fire
Department and the San Anselmo Fire Department joined forces and became known as the Ross Valley
Fire Services. At the time Sleepy Hollow was receiving fire protection from the Town of San Anselmo
through a contract for service and Sleepy Hollow chose not to become a member of the joint powers
authority (JPA) while maintaining a non-voting seat on the Board. In 2010, the JPA was expanded to make
Sleepy Hollow a full member of the JPA, ending its contract for service with the Town of San Anselmo.
With the expansion of the JPA, the name was changed to the Ross Valley Fire Department. In 2012, Ross
Valley Fire Department’s Board of Directors voted to consolidate fire services with the Town of Ross,
incorporating the Town of Ross Fire Station 18 into the Ross Valley Fire Department. Around 2015 RVFD
outsourced financial services to the Town of San Anselmo providing AR, AP, Payroll and other general
finance services. In August 2018 the RVFD entered into an MOU with Marin County Fire Department to
provide administrative and executive services. The current aggregate population of the Department’s
service area is estimated to be 24,785, served from 4 fire stations with 9 suppression personnel on duty
daily.  

The MOU for administrative and executive services with the Marin County Fire Department terminates
August 1, 2023. The RVFD is seeking options for succession of the MOU which could include multiple
scenarios that require research and ultimately policy options, to be presented to the RVFD Fire Board.
The RVFD is proposing a phased approach to gather information, compile options, narrow options and
present RVFD Board several policy considerations.  

4.2    Relevant Background Documents

The following past studies, may guide work on this project. These documents are available on the RVFD’s
web site at www.rossvalleyfire.org:

MOU Between the Ross Valley Fire Department and Marin County Fire Department for shared services

Ross Valley Fire Department Standards of Coverage study

Ross Valley Fire Department Joint Powers Authority “JPA”

Item 8 
Attachment #4 

148

180

https://rossvalleyfire.org/
https://rossvalleyfire.org/attachments/article/50460/Item%208%20-%20Attachement%201.pdf
https://rossvalleyfire.org/attachments/article/50460/Item%208%20-%20Attachment%202.pdf
https://rossvalleyfire.org/attachments/article/50460/Item%208%20-%20Attachment%203.pdf


4.3    Relevant Environmental Laws and Regulations

The following environmental laws and regulations guide the RVFD’s and any selected Contractor’s work:

A. CEQA. Requires the Department to consider the effects of its actions on the environment, and to
reveal effects to the public through the planning process. The action of this RFP and subsequent
study would not be considered a project subject to the review under the California
Environmental Policy Act.

4.4    Project Location

The project is located within the boundaries of the Ross Valley Fire Department. It may extend beyond
the immediate boundaries of the Department, as neighboring jurisdictions are considered in the study.

4.5 Project Description

The Ross Valley Fire Department has used the services provided by the Marin County Fire Department as
outlined in the MOU (see attached exhibit) for “Fire Chief” and other command/leadership since August
of 2018. The MOU will not be renewed, and the Department is using the opportunity to recommend a
path forward for governance and leadership. The Department will use this opportunity to establish and
refine the options and ultimately select a path forward ensuring long term sustainability of Fire and
Emergency Services.

4.6 Description of Work to Be Performed

Phase 1 – May 15, 2022- June 15, 2022
● Meeting with Management Team – Discuss scope of work and ensure clarity
of work  
● Inventory possible options for Governance / Leadership including but not
limited to: 

o Independent Fire District  
o Dependent Fire District  
o Valley Wide Fire Agency  

▪ JPA 
▪ Shared Services  

o Contract for Services  
o Standalone Fire Chief  

Phase 2 – June 16, 2022 – July 15, 2022
● Meetings with stakeholders 

o Management Team 
o Labor Group (Ross Valley Firefighters L1775) 
o Battalion Chiefs 
o Fire Prevention and Admin. staff 
o LAFCO  

Item 8 
Attachment #4 

149

181



o Allied Agencies  
▪ Central Marin Fire Dept.  
▪ Kentfield Fire Dept.  
▪ Marin County Fire Dept. 
▪ San Rafael Fire Dept.  

Phase 3 – July 16, 2022 – August 15, 2022
● Prepare Options for considerations 

o Description of proposed services  
o Pros and cons of each option  
o High level cost analysis
o Identify any potential service improvements   
o Identify any service gaps with options 
o Identify any potential fiscal impacts to member agencies  
o Identify operational impacts  

● Present options to the Management Committee for consideration and
preparation of any options to be prepared for the Fire Board
● Present options to the RVFD Board of Directors for Policy Direction 

Phase 4 – September 14, 2022
● Presentation to the RVFD Board of Directors

Phase 5 – September 15, 2022 – October 11, 2022 
● Meet with Management Team review Board input  
● Narrow option(s) and provide any response to questions from Fire Board 
● Expand detail of final option(s)  
● Finalize option(s)
● Outline tasks to complete execution of preferred option 

Phase 6 – October 12, 2022
● Return to the RVFD Board of Directors with final option(s)

 
Desired outcome: 
A transparent, inclusive process that develops a clear path forward for the long-term success of
the Ross Valley Fire Department providing excellent emergency services to the community in a
fiscally responsible manner.  

4.7 Communication with Public

Contractor shall engage with the public in a courteous manner. Contractor shall refer all questions by the
public to the RVFD's designated representative. The RVFD shall supply the Contractor's key personnel
with the PM's business card for dissemination to the public upon request.

Item 8 
Attachment #4 

150

182



4.8 Project Kick-off Meeting and Ongoing Project Meetings

RVFD will require Contractor’s key personnel to attend a Project Kick-off Meeting before project
commencement. The purpose of the meeting will be to review the Terms and Conditions of the Contract,
Project Scope of Work and associated Attachments and Exhibits, Contractor’s Work Plan. The RVFD
anticipates the Project Kick-off meeting will take approximately four (3) hours, but the duration of the
meeting will be as necessary to cover all information necessary to ensure successful execution of the
contract. Contractor shall have in attendance its Project Manager/Key Personnel. Attendance by
Contractor to the meeting will be at no additional cost to the RVFD.

The RVFD will also require On-going Project Meetings during active work periods. Project Meetings will
be held approximately bi-weekly between the RVFD’s Project Manager and the Contractor’s Project
Manager/Key Personnel. The purpose of the meetings will be to discuss work project progress updates,
challenges, scope and schedule changes, staffing changes and/or adjustments and other considerations
and report(s) review. Attendance by Contractor to Project Meetings will be at no additional cost to the
RVFD.

4.9 RVFD Designated Project Manager

The RVFD will designate a Project Manager who will be responsible for requesting services, approving
invoices and monitoring Consultant’s performance under the Contract.

4.10 Technical Direction

The Project Manager (PM)) will provide technical direction on Contract performance. Technical Direction
includes direction that assists the Contractor in accomplishing the required services, and review and
approval of reports or other deliverables. Technical direction must be within the Contract’s scope unless
authorized in writing by the PM. The PM has the authority to issue Technical Direction which (1)
institutes additional work outside the scope; (2) constitutes a change in the scope; (3) causes an increase
or decrease in the Contract Price; (4) alters the Performance Period; or (5) changes any of the other
express terms or conditions of the Contract. The PM shall issue Technical Direction in writing or shall
confirm any oral Technical Direction in writing within two (2) calendar days after issuance. It is
incumbent on Contractor to request from the RVFD Technical Direction in writing if it is not provided
within the timeframe described above.

4.11 Contractor’s Assigned Personnel

The Contractor shall assign only competent and qualified personnel to provide services as set forth in
this RFP and shall at all times be solely responsible for their work quality. The RVFD may request the
removal of individual employees for cause at any time, and the Contractor agrees to comply and to
promptly provide acceptable replacement personnel. Rejection by the RVFD and removal of assigned
personnel shall not relieve Contractor of its full responsibilities under the Contract and shall not provide
the basis for any claim or cause of action.

Item 8 
Attachment #4 

151

183



4.12 Contractor’s Key Personnel

The RVFD reserves the right to approve the Key Personnel assigned by the Contractor to perform services
under the Contract. Prior to removing, replacing or diverting any Key Personnel, the Contractor shall
notify the PM in advance and shall provide replacement personnel acceptable to the Department a plan
for an effective and smooth transition. The Contractor shall make no replacement, substitution or
diversion of Key Personnel without the joint written consent of the RVFD.

4.13 Contractor Minimum Qualifications

Proposers shall be qualified and able to conduct work as described in Section 4.6 above.

4.14 Length of Agreement

The anticipated duration of the agreement will be for six (6) from date of execution, with the option for a
six (6) month extension.

4.15 Prevailing Wages

This project is subject to California Labor Code Section 1720 and the selected Contractor will be required
to comply.

5. Exhibits and Attachments

APPENDIX E

STANDARD INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS

Prior to rendering services provided by the terms and conditions of this Agreement, MCFD "Contractor
or its subcontractor" for purposes of these insurance requirements, shall acquire and maintain during
the term of this Agreement, insurance coverage, through and with an insurer acceptable to RVFD,
naming the RVFD and its officials, employees, and volunteers as additional insured, (hereinafter referred
to as "the insurance"). The limits of insurance herein shall not limit the liability of the Contractor
hereunder.

1. Except for professional liability coverage said policies shall be in effect until final acceptance of
contractor's work by RVFD and shall provide that they may not be canceled without first
providing RVFD with thirty (30) days written notice of such intended cancellation. If Contractor

Item 8 
Attachment #4 

152

184



fails to maintain the insurance provided herein, RVFD may, but is not required to, secure such
insurance and deduct the cost thereof from any funds owing to Contractor.

2. Minimum Scope of Insurance. Contractor shall procure insurance covering general liability,
automobile liability, and worker's compensation. Coverage shall be at least as broad as:

a. Insurance Services Office (ISO) Commercial General Liability Occurrence form number
CG 0001 or equivalent ISO form. A non ISO form must be reviewed by the RVFD prior to
acceptance of the Agreement.

b. Except as otherwise provided in (e)(ii)(bb) Insurance Services Office form number CA
0001 (Ed. 1/87) covering Automobile Liability, Code 1 "any auto" and Endorsement CA
0029.

c. Workers' Compensation insurance as required by the Labor Code of the State of
California and Employers Liability insurance.

d. Professional Errors and Omissions Liability Insurance, coverage form subject to RVFD
Approval.

3. Other Insurance Provisions. The policies are to contain, or be endorsed to contain, the following
provisions:

a. General Liability and Automobile Liability Coverages. RVFD and its officials, employees
and volunteers are to be covered as insureds as respects: liability arising out of activities
performed by or on behalf of the Contractor; products and completed operations of the
Contractor; premises owned, leased or used by the Contractor; or automobiles owned,
leased, hired or borrowed by the Contractor. The coverage shall contain no special
limitations on the scope of protection afforded to the RVFD, its officials, employees or
volunteers.

i. The Contractor's insurance coverage shall be primary insurance as respects the
RVFD, its officials, employees and volunteers and any other insureds under this
contract. Any insurance or self-insurance maintained by the RVFD, its officials,
employees and volunteer or other insureds shall be excess of the Contractor's
insurance and shall not contribute with it.

ii. Any failure to comply with reporting provisions of the policies shall not affect
coverage provided to the RVFD, its officials, employees and volunteers or other
insureds under this contract.

iii. Coverage shall state that the Contractor's insurance shall apply separately to
each insured against whom claim is made or suit is brought, except with respect
to the limits of the insurer's liability.

b. Worker's Compensation and Employers Liability Coverage.
c. Professional Errors and Omissions insurance.

i. Each insurance policy required by this clause shall be endorsed to state that
coverage shall not be suspended, voided, canceled by either party, reduced in
coverage or in limits except after thirty (30) days prior written notice by certified
mail, return receipt requested, has been given to the RVFD.

4. Acceptability of Insurers. Insurance is to be placed with insurers with a current A.M. Best's rating
of no less than A-VII if admitted. A non-admitted insurer shall have a Best's rating of no iess than
A-X.

5. Minimum Limits of Insurance. Contractors shall maintain limits no less than:
a. Commercial General Liability: One Million Dollars ($1,000,000) combined single limit per

occurrence for bodily injury, personal injury and property damage with a general
aggregate limit of$2,000,000.

Item 8 
Attachment #4 

153

185



b. Automobile Liability: Subject to the option of the RVFD either: (aa)$1,000,000 combined
single limit per accident for bodily injury or property damage or; (bb) Personal
Automobile liability coverage of $500,000 bodily injury and property damage.

c. Workers' Compensation and Employers Liability: Workers' compensation limits as
required by the Labor Code of the State of California and Employers Liability limits of
One Million Dollars ($1,000,000) per accident.

d. Professional Errors and Omissions Liability: Policy limits of not less than One Million
Dollars ($1,000,000) per incident and One Million Dollars ($1,000,000) annual aggregate,
with deductible or self insured portion not to exceed Two Thousand Five Hundred Dollars
($2,500). Coverage may be made on a claims-made basis with a "Retro Date" either prior
to the date of the Contract or the Beginning of the Contract work. If claims-made,
coverage must extend to a minimum of twelve (12) months beyond completion of
project. If coverage is canceled or non-renewed, and not replaced with another claims
made policy form with a "Retro Date" prior to the contract effective date, the Contractor
must purchase "extended reporting" coverage for a minimum of twelve (12) months
after completion of contract work.

6. [Reserved.]
7. Deductibles and Self-Insured retentions. Except as otherwise provided in this Agreement, any

deductibles or self-insured retentions must be declared to and approved by the RVFD. At the
option of the RVFD either: the insurer shall reduce or eliminate such deductibles or self-insured
retentions as respects the RVFD, its officials and employees; or the Contractor shall procure a
bond guaranteeing payment of losses and related investigations, claim administration and
defense expenses.

8. Verification of Coverage. Contractor shall furnish the RVFD with Certificate(s) of Insurance and
with original endorsement(s) affecting coverage required by this clause. The certificate(s) and
endorsement(s) for each insurance policy are to be signed by a person authorized by that insurer
to bind coverage on its behalf. The certificate(s) and endorsement(s) are to be on forms provided
by the RVFD or on forms received and approved by the RVFD before work commences. The RVFD
reserves the right to require complete, certified copies of all required insurance policies, at any
time.

9. Contractor shall not render services under the terms and conditions of this Agreement unless
each type of insurance coverage and endorsement is in effect and Contractor has delivered the
certificate(s) of insurance and endorsement(s) to RVFD as previously described. If Contractor
shall fail to procure and maintain said insurance, RVFD may, but shall not be required to, procure
and maintain the same, and the premiums of such insurance shall be paid by Contractor to RVFD
upon demand. The policies of insurance provided herein which are to be provided by Contractor
shall be for a period of not less than one year, it being understood and agreed that thirty (30)
days prior to the expiration of any policy of insurance, Contractor will deliver to RVFD a renewal
or new policy to take the place of the policy expiring.

10. RVFD shall have the right to request such further coverages and/or endorsements on the
insurance as RVFD deems necessary, at Contractor's expense. The amounts, insurance policy
forms, endorsement(s) and insurer(s) issuing the insurance shall be satisfactory to RVFD in its
sole and absolute discretion.

Item 8 
Attachment #4 

154

186



Item 9 
Page 1 of 3 

 

ROSS VALLEY FIRE DEPARTMENT 
STAFF REPORT 

 
      For the meeting on April 13, 2022 
 
To:  Board of Directors 
 
From:  Jason Weber, Fire Chief 
 
Subject: Determine Whether to Continue with Teleconferencing Meetings for Public 

Meetings in Compliance with AB 361 
   
 
 
RECOMMENDATION: 
 
Staff recommends that the Board determines whether to continue with Teleconferencing 
Meetings for Public Meetings in Compliance with AB 361 during the continuing state of 
emergency proclaimed by Governor Newsom on March 4, 2020. 
 
The Board to discuss the meeting format for upcoming Fire Board and Sub-committee 
meetings and provide direction to staff. Precisely, the Board should determine which of the 
following formats to use for at least the month of May: 
 

1. Continue with fully virtual zoom meetings. 
2. Utilize a hybrid meeting format with parameters allowing for participation by 

Council, staff, and the public (see table below). 
3. Return to in-person only without a virtual/hybrid component to the meeting. 

 
BACKGROUND: 
 
On March 17, 2020, the County of Marin issued a Shelter in Place Order due to COVID-
19. Recognizing the need to promote social distancing while allowing local legislative 
bodies to continue operating during the emergency, Governor Newsom signed Executive 
Orders N-25-20 and N-29-20, which suspended provisions of the Brown Act and similar 
rules regarding teleconferencing and electronic meetings. Under these orders, all members 
of a legislative body were permitted to participate in a meeting electronically or by phone 
from any location without posting agendas or opening those locations to the public. 
 
On May 13, 2020, RVFD started holding virtual public meetings using the Zoom meeting 
format to allow for transparency and public participation during the COVID-19 pandemic. 
On September 16, 2021, Governor Newsom signed AB361, extending the authority of 
public agencies to conduct meetings by teleconference, including video conference, during 
the COVID-19 pandemic. AB 361 is effective through January 1, 2024. 
 
On October 13, 2021, November 10, 2021, December 8, 2021, January 12, 2022, February 
9, 2022, and March 9, 2022, the Board voted to continue holding a Virtual Format for Fire 

187

https://www.gov.ca.gov/wp-content/uploads/2020/03/3.12.20-EO-N-25-20-COVID-19.pdf
https://www.gov.ca.gov/wp-content/uploads/2020/03/3.17.20-N-29-20-EO.pdf
https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/billNavClient.xhtml?bill_id=202120220AB361


Item 9 
Page 2 of 3 

 

Board and Sub-committee meetings and to return at a later date to discuss implementing a 
Hybrid Meeting option. 
 
The Ross Valley Fire Department is committed to preserving and nurturing public access 
and participation in the RVFD Board of Directors meetings while ensuring a safe and 
healthy environment. 
 
DISCUSSION: 
 
 
Staff is looking for input regarding the meeting format for May and beyond. Specifically, 
the Board may decide to continue the current virtual-only format or return to meeting in 
person or utilize a hybrid format. If a hybrid format is preferred, staff would like to know 
if it is preferred that the public return to the in-person meetings as well. Finally, staff is 
seeking Board’s direction on determining the format for Fire Board and Sub-committee 
meetings. 
 

A. Meeting Options 
 

The options available to the Board are as follows: 
 

Option # Board Public 
1 Virtual Virtual 

2 In-person Virtual 

3 In-person & Virtual Virtual 

4 In-person & Virtual In-person & Virtual 

5 In-person In-person & Virtual 

6 In-person In-person 

 
Suppose the Board chooses any of the first four options. In that case, it must determine by 
a majority vote that, as a result of the COVID-19 emergency, meeting in person would 
present imminent risks to the health or safety of attendees. 
 
In the case of Option 3, the Board would need to determine that there would be an imminent 
risk for some Board members to attend in person and not for others for AB 361 to apply. 
 
Normal Brown Act teleconferencing rules would apply if the Board wants to utilize Option 
4 but not cite imminent risk. This means that a Board Member would need to post the 
agenda outside of the location where they would be attending the meeting and allow the 
public to join them during the meeting time. This location includes but is not limited to a 
residence, a hospital room, a hotel room, or a family home, even if the location is outside 
of RVFD limits. This location would have to be printed on the agenda that is posted 72 
hours before the meeting begins. Also, a majority of the Board will need to be present in 
the San Anselmo Town Hall Chambers to conduct the meeting. 

188



Item 9 
Page 3 of 3 

 

AB 361 applies to all local legislative bodies, which include Fire Board and Sub-
committee. The Board may allow each legislative body to determine under the bill 
regarding virtual meetings, or the Board may determine those bodies.  
 

B. Neighboring Jurisdictions 
 

Staff requested information from the surrounding jurisdictions, and as of the date this report 
was written: 
 
Mill Valley returned to in-person-only meetings in July 2021. Sausalito and Tiburon have 
not set dates for returning in person. Corte Madera, Fairfax, Larkspur, Novato, and San 
Rafael plan to return to their Council Chambers in April. 
 
Corte Madera, Larkspur, Novato, and San Rafael will allow the public into their Council 
Chambers and utilize whatever state guidelines are in place regarding indoor settings 
during that time. Fairfax will be returning to their Council Chambers but will continue with 
the public virtually. 
 
 
FISCAL IMPACT: 
 
There is no fiscal impact associated with this item.  
 

 
  
 

189



190


	AGENDAS & STAFF REPORTS ONLINE: https://rossvalleyfire.org/about/board/board-meetings
	Email: mgonzalez@rossvalleyfire.org
	ROSS VALLEY FIRE DEPARTMENT
	BOARD OF DIRECTORS AGENDA
	https://us06web.zoom.us/j/87099798156
	Or Telephone: +1 669 900 6833 | Webinar ID: 870 9979 8156
	For callers *9 to raise your hand *6 to mute/unmute
	Agenda 04.13.22 RVFD - amended.pdf
	AGENDAS & STAFF REPORTS ONLINE: https://rossvalleyfire.org/about/board/board-meetings
	Email: mgonzalez@rossvalleyfire.org
	ROSS VALLEY FIRE DEPARTMENT
	BOARD OF DIRECTORS AGENDA
	https://us06web.zoom.us/j/87099798156
	Or Telephone: +1 669 900 6833 | Webinar ID: 870 9979 8156
	For callers *9 to raise your hand *6 to mute/unmute




